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In the Name of Allah, The Most 
Gracious, The Most Merciful

Allah the Almighty said in the 
Holy Qur’an, quote:

“To Him belong the keys of 
the heavens and the earth. He 
enlarges provision for whom He 
wills, and straitens (it for whom 
He wills). Verily He is the All-
Knower of everything”.

(Surat Ash–Shuraa, Verse 12).

Chairman´s
Message
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Praise be to Allah, and may peace and blessings be upon our Prophet, his family and 
companions.

Dear Shareholders, 

Peace, mercy and blessings of Allah be upon you, 
On behalf of myself, my fellow members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Management 
of the Bank, it is my pleasure to present to you, the Annual Report of Kuwait International Bank 
(KIB) and the consolidated financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 
2017. I would like also to demonstrate a year of success and innovation of all the businesses 
and operations of your bank, following an ongoing and effective implementation of its promising 
and comprehensive strategic plan.

Dear Shareholders,
In 2017, the economic outlook has relatively improved both domestically and globally. Markets 
have partially restored confidence and momentum. However, economic developments remained 
volatile. The low prices of crude oil, the geopolitical challenges in a number of countries in the 
region and worldwide, and the escalating and rapid growth of banking business activities, 
all contribute to intensify the operational environment challenges and deepen the level of 
competition.

Based on thorough understanding of such challenges, the Board of Directors took leadership 
role in developing the Bank’s business and enhancing shareholders returns, equipped by the 
Bank’s extensive experience extending for more than four decades, its Executive Management’s 
distinguished experience, staff endeavors and ambitions to develop and innovate, as well as 
its well-tailored comprehensive strategic plan. The Bank, by grace of Allah, managed to make 
a qualitative shift in the banking business, promote its banking products and services, and 
enhance the Bank’s systems and operations in response to customers’ aspirations and to 
strengthen the Bank’s competitive advantage.

Dear Shareholders, 
The following is a summary of the Bank’s most prominent accomplishments in 2017 based on 
the financial statements. Hereunder, you may find the most significant updates of the Bank’s 
strategic transformation plan and the most noticeable positive adjustments made to the Bank’s 
systems and operations.
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First: Improvement of Financial Indicators 
It is my pleasure to inform you of your Bank’s success in achieving a net profit of KD 17.7 
million. Improved performance reflected positively on reported core operating income of KD 
64.3 million compared to KD 63.2 million in 2016. Total financing income increased by 5%, or 
by KD 3.6 million, reaching KD 74.6 million compared to KD 71 million during 2016. Revenue 
from fees and commissions increased by 6%, to reach KD 9.3 million, as compared to KD 
8.8 million in 2016. Investment income significantly increased by 68% to reach KD 4.5 million 
compared to KD 2.7 million in 2016.

The results have also shown an increase in the Bank’s assets by 4% to reach a total of KD 1.9 
billion, compared to KD 1.8 billion at the end of last year. This increase comes as a result of a 
growth in financing portfolio by KD 36  million, amounting to KD 1.3 billion and comparable to 
KD 1.27 billion last year achieving 3% growth. In addition, Investment portfolio increased by 
14% reaching KD 145.7 million compared to KD 127.8 million at last year. Depositors’ accounts 
rose to KD 1.2 billion compared to KD 1.1 billion by the end of the previous year, an increase 
of KD 78 million representing a growth of 7%. 

Additionally, the Bank continued to maintain an excellent performance as the ratio for total 
provision and collateral coverage was at 193% for the year 2017, where Capital Adequacy 
Ratio (CAR) reached to 19.05% within the framework of CBK regulations on Basel III, while the 
financial leverage ratio was 10.92% for the year 2017. Distributions to depositors’ accounts 
registered a consistent growth during 2017 whereby the annualized return on Arzaaq deposit 
in Kuwaiti Dinars progressively increased to 2.65%, 2.68%, 2.7% and 2.72% during Q1, Q2, 
Q3 and Q4 2017 respectively. Average annualized rate for 2017 stood at 2.687%. Al Boushra 
Kuwaiti Dinar three-year deposits were offered annualized return 3.3% in Q4 2017 with an 
average rate for 2nd half 2017 stood at 3.275%. Further on the deposits lines, Al Ithmar call 
accounts which combines features of both current and savings account benefiting corporate 
customers grew by 20% in 2017, with an average annual net return of 1.344% at the end of 
2017. The investment savings account, which is designed for individuals only achieved a 
remarkable success in 2017, which represents the achievement and distribution of the highest 
returns in the market, at 1.632% per annum for the fourth quarter of 2017. Profits were credited 
into the depositors’ accounts upon declaring the financial results.

Second: Strategic Plan Implementation Progress 
The Bank started to reap the fruit of the five-year comprehensive strategic plan that was launched 
in 2015. After we had enhanced the Bank’s structure and run internal transformation process 
during the past two years, we focused our efforts this year in promoting competitive advantage 
and implementing customer value proposition in every aspect of the Bank’s business. This 
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has been implemented via an overall review adopting the most recent innovative and creative 
banking practices.

In this context, 2017 was the cornerstone for our retail banking development while rolling out 
transformation. Due consideration has been given to enhance our customers’ experience by 
developing a number of our banking products and services in order to fulfill their requirements 
and needs. Moreover, a range of state-of-the-art digital products and services were introduced 
including the first in Kuwait Contact Center’s Visual Telebanking Service (VIVR), upgrading and 
re-launching the Bank’s Online banking services, and rolling out an advanced mobile banking 
application. This has been realized by applying the market’s cutting-edge digital technology 
and the highest quality and security standards all around the world.

In addition, in enrichment of our wholesale banking, a new organization and coverage model 
was implemented, resulting in a standalone all-inclusive real estate department. The real 
estate department presently offers a bundle of integrated real estate products and services to 
its customers, including financing solutions, real estate appraisals and property management 
services, and is in the process of developing advisory real estate services to our esteemed 
customers.

In continuation of streamlining the banking transactions and strengthening the capabilities of 
the business support services, and owing to our thorough belief in the significance of offering 
the best banking services to our customers, Eshraaq Project has been launched this year. The 
project aims to achieve operational excellence by training a team of aspiring young Kuwaitis 
nominated from across different departments within the Bank in order to lead this change 
Initiative, streamline processes, upgrade the operational systems, and improve customer 
experience, all by means of reducing transaction cycle, launching new products, minimizing 
operational oversights, and mitigating operational risks.

Over and above, 2017 witnessed tangible developments as a result of the continuous 
application of the strategic plan. The Bank has become more capable to attract new customers 
with a diversified package of developed products and services and increased service quality 
standards. This will enable us to exert more efforts on launching more creative products and 
services next year, and to reach operational excellence, in a way to expand our customer 
base, and realize considerable returns for the Bank’s shareholders.

Third: Regional and International Attention
The Board of Directors, Executive Management and the Bank’s staff spared no efforts in 
placing Kuwait International Bank as a leading financial institution in Kuwait. In addition, the 
progress achieved in the Bank’s businesses and activities added further momentum to the 
Bank’s financial position. This has ultimately drawn the attention of several international and 
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regional specialized institutions. As a result, Kuwait International Bank has been listed in MSCI 
FM Kuwait Small Cap Index in addition to nominating the Bank for listing in (FTSE Russell) for 
emerging markets.

On the other hand, Fitch Ratings has, as per its report for 2017, affirmed Kuwait International 
Bank’s Long-Term Issuer Default Rating (IDR) at 'A+' with a Stable Outlook. Fitch has also 
affirmed the Bank’s Viability Rating (VR) at 'bb-'. Fitch also indicated an upside for Kuwait 
International Bank’s VR could come from further improvement in the Bank’s profile, franchise 
and risk appetite, in addition to stabilized asset quality metrics. Moreover, Fitch viewed the 
Bank’s new and experienced management team as necessary in order to execute the Bank’s 
new strategy set out in 2015.

In addition, the Bank has been awarded a number of regional & International awards. This 
includes “Best Change Management Kuwait 2017“ from Banker Middle East, “Best Strategic 
Vision in Banking 2017” from  World Union of Arab Bankers, “Best Islamic Bank in Kuwait”, 
“Best Islamic Bank in GCC” in 2017 both from World Finance and “Best Shari’a Compliant 
Bank 2017” in the Middle East and North Africa from Capital Finance International. This is in 
addition to two other awards in Information Security at the Middle East level and many other 
awards in several areas.

Dear Shareholders,
With the help of Allah, the Almighty, we were able to lead the Bank to a new era, full of 
innovation, driven by achievements, and guided by ambitious vision based on solid grounds 
and a well-calibrated strategic plan. Seeking the support of Allah, the Almighty, we will be 
able to overcome obstacles and beat challenges in quest for more positive results aiming to 
promote the Bank to the “Islamic Bank of Choice in Kuwait”. And with the help and blessing 
of Allah, the Almighty, we are looking forward to a bright future equipped by your constant 
support, and trust in our Executive Management’s capabilities and dedication of staff.

While we present this report to you, we promise to maintain our success and development 
stride with utmost integrity, dedication and efficiency, bearing in mind to fulfill our customers’ 
inspirations, to reinforce our shareholder’s rights and to maintain sustainable profitability along 
with enhancing and improving the quality of assets. We hope that Allah, the Almighty, will 
crown our efforts with more success and prosperity to the best interest of our shareholders, 
customers, staff, and to the benefit of our beloved country Kuwait.
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In view of the performance of our Bank during 2017, the Bank’s Board of Directors recommended 
to the shareholders general assembly to distribute 10% cash dividends of the nominal value of 
share (10 fils per share). This recommendation is subject to the approval of the Bank’s general 
assembly and competent authorities. The Board of Directors also recommended to remunerate 
the Chairman and Board Members with an amount of KD 325 thousand, and in addition, to the 
Chairman, an amount of KD 125 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2017. In addition, 
it was recommended to pay a monthly remuneration of KD 12 thousand for the Chairman as 
from the date of the current general assembly to the date of the next general assembly, for the 
duties to be carried out by him in 2018. These recommendations are subject to the approval of 
the Bank’s general assembly and the competent authorities.

Thanks and Appreciation,
In conclusion, I would like to extend our deepest thanks and appreciation for your constant 
support to your bank and to all who stood beside us. Sincere thanks and appreciation is also 
extended to the Central Bank of Kuwait for its distinct regulatory role and its continuous support 
to our bank. Our appreciation is also extended to the Bank’s Board of Directors, the respected 
members of the Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Bank, the Executive Management and all staff 
members. We also extend special thanks and appreciation to our valued customers for their 
trust, continuous support and considerable contribution for the Bank’s achievements.

May Allah the Almighty help us all to endeavor for the benefit of our Bank and the prosperity 
of our beloved country Kuwait, wishing you a prosperous future and further success and 
advancement for our bank under the patronage of H. H. the Amir of Kuwait, Sheikh Sabah 
Al-Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-Sabah, H.H. the Crown Prince, Sheikh Nawaf Al- Ahmad Al-Jaber Al-
Sabah, and H.H. the Prime Minister, Sheikh Jaber Al- Mubarak Al- Hamad Al-Sabah.

Peace and Mercy of Allah the Almighty be upon you.

Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah 
Chairman
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Mr. Raed Bukhamseen has extensive experience 
in the fields of investment, banking and  business 
management over the course of his distinguished 
career. He currently serves as the Vice Chairman 
of the Board of Directors at KIB since 2015, after 
having initially joined the Board of Directors in 2010.

He currently holds several leadership positions 
including the roles of Chairman and Board Member 
at pioneering companies and organizations, including 
Bukhamseen Group Holding Company, Arab Investment 
Company, Warba Insurance Company, The Shared 
Electronic Services Banking Company (KNET), 
Egyptian Gulf Bank of Egypt, Layan Real Estate 
Company in Dubai, Souk Al-Salmiah Real Estate 
Company, and Credit-One Kuwait Holding Company.

He earned a Bachelor of Business Administration 
from Boston University in the United States in 1999, 
and has obtained specialized degrees in portfolio 
management, credit and investment analysis.

With extensive experience in banking, insurance and 
real estate investment sectors, Sheikh Mohammed 
Jarrah Al-Sabah was elected Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of KIB in 2010, after he had initially joined 
the Board of Directors in 2007.

In addition to his role at KIB, Al-Jarrah is also Chairman 
of the Union of Arab Banks, a member of the Board 
of Directors of the World Union of Arab Bankers, a 
member of the Board of Directors of Kuwait Banking 
Association, a member of the Board of Trustees at the 
Arab Academy for Banking and Financial Sciences, 
and Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors of Warba 
Insurance Company.

Al-Jarrah has enjoyed a prolific professional career 
marked by numerous achievements, during which he 
has held several senior level positions at a number 
of key market players inside and outside Kuwait such 
as Chairman & Managing Director of Commercial 
Bank of Kuwait, and the General Manager of Arab 
International Insurance Co. in Bahrain.  Furthermore, 
Al-Jarrah has also held other senior posts in Kuwait 
Real Estate Investment Consortium, Kuwait Re-
Insurance Company, Salhiya Real Estate Company, 
and Arab Insurance Group (ARIG).

Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah
Chairman

Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen
Vice Chairman

Board of 
Directors
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Dr. Haider Al-Jumaa joined KIB’s Board of Directors 
in 1998, and is a seasoned professional with years 
of extensive cross-industry experience. Throughout 
his career, he has held numerous leadership positions 
in the banking, insurance and real estate investment 
sectors.

Al-Jumaa sat on the Board of Directors at Al-Ahli Bank 
Of Kuwait, Egyptian Gulf Bank and at Land Mark Real 
Estate Investment & Tourism Company, both in Egypt, 
and also held the position of Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Warba Insurance Company. Currently he 
is the Chairman of Ritaj Takaful Insurance Company.

Al-Jumaa has also worked as an Assistant Professor 
in the Accounting & Audit Department at Kuwait 
University. He is a published author of “Islamic Banks 
in the State of Kuwait”, and “Corporate Governance, 
and its Role in Raising Efficiency of Institutions in both 
Conventional and Islamic Banks”.

Al-Jumaa earned a Bachelor of Commerce in 
Accounting from Kuwait University in 1973. He also 
obtained a Master’s Degree in Accounting from the 
University of Arizona in 1976, and a PhD in Business 
Administration from the University of California, USA, 
in 1986.

Mr. Anwar Bukhamseen has garnered broad and 
extensive experience in banking, insurance and real 
estate investment sectors. He joined the Board of 
Directors at KIB in 2004, and served as Vice Chairman 
of the Board from 2010 until 2015.

Throughout his professional career, Mr. Anwar has 
held several leadership positions. He currently 
holds a number of prominent senior level positions, 
including: Chairman of Warba Insurance Company, 
Board Member at Qatar First Bank, Executive 
Director to the Board of Directors of Bukhamseen 
Group Holding Company, Board Member at Kuwait 
Catalyst Company, Member of the Kuwaiti Industries 
Association and Board Member at Kuwait Insurance 
Federation.

He earned a Bachelor of Commerce in Economics 
and Financial Management from the Faculty of 
Commerce, Economy and Political Sciences at Kuwait 
University in 1995. He also obtained a specialized 
degree from an Executive Program in Foreign Trade 
Policies from Harvard University in 2005, in addition 
to a specialized degree conferred by the Kuwait 
Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences in the 
framework of Corporate Governance and Financial 
Institutions Business.

Dr. Haider Hassan Al-Jumaa
Board Member

Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen
Board Member
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Mr. Ahmed Al Asfour joined the Board of Directors at 
KIB in 2010. He has also held the position of Chairman 
of Ritaj Takaful Insurance Company for the period from 
2009 to 2017, and he is currently a Board Member at 
Warba Insurance Company since 2005.

Al Asfour enjoys extensive experience in the banking, 
insurance and oil sectors. Over the course of his 
career, he has held a number of senior executive 
positions, including: Chief Executive Officer of Public 
Affairs at the Arabian Oil Company, Director of Energy 
Economics Control at the Ministry of Oil in the State of 
Kuwait, Member of the Board of Directors at Oula Fuel 
Company, and Member of the Board of Directors of 
Kuwait Insurance Company.

Al Asfour earned a Bachelor’s Degree in Chemical 
Engineering from University of Minnesota in the United 
States in 1976.

Board of Directors Continued

Mr. Jassem Zainal has over 31 years of experience 
across various sectors. In addition to being a Member 
of the Board of Directors of KIB since 2006, Zainal 
currently serves as Vice Chairman & Chief Executive 
Officer of Arzan Financial Group. He is also a Board 
Member at the Bank of Bahrain & Kuwait in Bahrain, 
and Miami International Holdings Inc. in New York.

Throughout his professional career, he has held 
several leadership positions including: Chairman and 
Managing Director in both Zumorroda Investment 
Company (Z-Invest) and Automated Systems 
Company (ASC). Additionally, he worked for a period 
of 25 years at Gulf Bank, during which he held a 
number of key positions.

Zainal also held board membership at Khaleej 
Islamic Investment Bank Bahrain, Al Madina 
Finance and Investments and Kuwait Airways in 
Kuwait. Zainal graduated with a Bachelor of Science 
in Civil Engineering and a Bachelor of General Studies 
in Mathematics from the University of Miami. He also 
holds a Master’s of Science in Civil Engineering from 
Kuwait University, and completed several executive 
programs at Harvard, Wharton and other prestigious 
institutions.

Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal
Board Member

Mr. Ahmed Ibrahim Al Asfour
Board Member
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Dr. Abdullah Marafie joined the Board of Directors of 
KIB in 2010. He is currently a member of and chairs 
a number of Boards at leading organizations, including 
Omniyat Holding Company, Kuwait Shipping Companies 
& Agents Association. Previously he had also served as 
Chairman and Board Member at major organizations 
including Al-Ahli Bank of Kuwait, Arab Real Estate 
Company, Burgan Group Holding Company, Al-Buraq 
Investment Holding Company and Kuwait Airways 
Company.

Dr. Marafie enjoys extensive experience in the field of 
research, and has had several scientific contributions 
across many areas - many of his efforts have been 
carried out in cooperation with the Kuwait Foundation 
for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS), as well 
as Kuwait University faculty members. He was also 
previously seconded to the Public Authority of Applied 
Education and Training (PAAET) as a faculty member 
at the School of Commercial Studies.

Dr. Marafie earned a Bachelor of Commerce in Statistics 
from the Faculty of Commerce, Economy and Political 
Sciences at Kuwait University in 1989. He also earned 
a Master’s Degree in General Management in 2003, 
and a PhD in Management & Finance from the 
American University in London in 2007.

Mrs. Najat Al-Suwaidi joined the Board of Directors 
of KIB in 2013, already having garnered a wealth of 
experience in the investment, banking and management 
fields. Al-Suwaidi has held several leadership positions 
at a number of investment companies. She has also 
represented the State of Kuwait, on behalf of Kuwait 
Investment Authority, in a number of intergovernmental 
forums, such as World Economic Forum – Davos 
and The Paris Club meetings on sovereign debts, 
throughout a period of 20 years.

Al-Suwaidi currently serves as Member of the 
Board of Directors at Warba Insurance Company, 
and a Member of the Board of Directors at Iskan 
International for Real Estate Development. Previously, 
Al-Suwaidi held several leadership positions at Kuwait 
Investment Authority. She has also been a Member of 
the Advisory Committee of the Handicraft and Small 
Enterprises Financing Portfolio at the Industrial Bank 
of Kuwait, as well as the position of Chairman and 
Managing Director of Arab Investment Company. In 
addition, Al-Suwaidi served as Chairman of Kuwait 
Small Projects Development Company.

Al-Suwaidi earned a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics 
from Kuwait University in 1974, and she holds a 
specialized degree in Capital Markets from Manchester 
Business School, UK.

Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafie
Board Member

Mrs. Najat Hamad Al-Suwaidi
Board Member
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Mr. Saleh Al-Trad joined the Board of Directors at 
KIB in 2016. Al-Trad has extensive experience in 
the financial sector, and currently holds the position 
of President and Managing Director at Beaumont 
Partners SA in the MENA region, in addition to being 
a Partner at Arabica Investments. He also holds the 
position of Vice Chairman of The Arab Investment 
Company and he is a Board Member of Ritaj Takaful 
Insurance Company.

Throughout his career, Al-Trad has held several 
leadership positions including: Managing Director 
and Head of the Qatar and Kuwait offices of Nomura 
International Plc., Senior Vice President in the Assets 
Management Department at Lehman Brothers Holding 
Inc. in New York, Executive Head of the Kuwait and 
Qatar offices of Lehman Brothers International Plc., 
and Investment Analyst at B.V. Capital in the United 
States.

Al-Trad earned a Bachelor of Science in Manufacturing 
Engineering from Boston University in the United 
States in 1998.

Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al-Trad
Board Member

Board of Directors Continued
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Mr. Jamal Al-Barrak brings with him more than 18 years 
professional banking experience to his executive role 
at KIB.

With his extensive background in the areas of 
investment banking, financial management, and 
corporate banking, Mr. Al-Barrak leads the Bank’s 
team of investment professionals in managing and 
expanding KIB’s investment portfolio. He is also 
actively involved in many of the Bank’s strategic and 
corporate planning initiatives, as well as representing 
the Bank in numerous external Boards.

Prior to joining KIB, Mr. Al-Barrak has amassed a wealth of 
experience at Gulf Bank, holding several positions including 
Head of Investments, Assistant General Manager of 
Investment Banking, and Assistant General Manager of 
Corporate Finance.

Mr. Al-Barrak holds a Master of Business Administration 
in Marketing and a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics 
and Government, both from Bentley University in 
Boston, United States. He has also completed leading 
business programs at INSEAD, Harvard Business 
School and Sciences Po.

Mr. El Saka is a holder of a Bachelor of Commerce 
in Accounting from Ain Shams University in Egypt in 
1990. He also earned a Certified Public Accountant 
Certificate (CPA) in 1995 and a Certified Internal 
Auditor Certificate (CIA) in 1998, both from the United 
States. He has over 27 years of experience in several 
financial fields, out of which 15 year in Islamic banking 
industry. He previously occupied the post of the 
Chairman of the Accounting and Auditing Standard 
Board of the Accounting and Auditing Organization of 
the Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI), in addition 
to being a member of this Council and some of its 
technical committees for more than one term. He 
was also a member of some of the technical work 
groups for other Islamic financial institutions, such 
as the Islamic Financial Services Board (IFSB). Mr. 
El Saka has also participated as a lecturer in several 
conferences and seminars.

Mr. El Saka joined Kuwait International Bank in 
August 2014 and held the post of General Manager 
of Financial Control & Planning Department until 
May 2016, when he was promoted to the position 
of Deputy Chief Executive Officer. As of September 
2015 he additionally held the post of the Acting 
Chief Executive Officer. He also chairs the Executive 
Committee supervising the strategy implementation, 
which is composed of executive managers in the 
Bank, as well as other Committees.

Mr. Mohamed Said El Saka 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer, 
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Jamal Al-Barrak
General Manager of Investment Department

Executive 
Management
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Mr. Ahmad AlKazemi is a highly qualified senior 
banker with extensive experience in the field of 
corporate banking.

Mr. AlKazemi joined KIB in 2016, as General Manager 
of Wholesale Banking Department, leading both the 
commercial and international banking functions.

Mr. AlKazemi spent his banking career at Gulf Bank, 
progressing though different positions and levels 
of management over the course of more than 30 
years with the bank. His last position there was as 
Deputy General Manager of Corporate Banking, in 
addition to serving as Acting General Manager of 
the department. Mr. AlKazemi holds a Bachelor’s 
Degree in Economics from the University of Kansas 
in the United States.

An experienced and seasoned retail banker, Mr. James 
Eugene Galligan has over 36 years of experience 
in the field, 15 years of which were spent at senior 
management and executive level roles.

Since joining KIB’s executive team in 2015, Mr. Galligan 
has combined his strong sales and operations acumen 
in order to drive the transformation of the Bank’s 
retail banking division, which lies at the heart of its 
overall transformation strategy. In his executive role, 
he leads the Bank’s retail banking team in delivering 
creative and innovative business solutions, designed 
to completely revolutionize KIB’s retail business and 
enhance its competitive position.

A career banker, Mr. Galligan has extensive specialized 
industry experience having held senior executive 
positions in the field of retail banking across Europe 
and the Middle East, with a key focus in the area 
of change management. He has also amassed a 
wealth of experience within the banking sector in 
Kuwait, having held key senior positions at several 
of the country’s premier banks. Mr. Galligan holds 
a Certificate in Financial Services and a Certificate 
in Investment Advice from the National University 
of Ireland and the Institute of Bankers. He is also a 
faculty member of the Retail Banking Academy.

Mr. Ahmad AlKazemi
General Manager of Wholesale Banking 
Department

Mr. James Eugene Galligan
General Manager of Retail Banking Department
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Mr. Jassim Al-Abdulhadi has been with KIB since 
1997. In his current role, Mr. Al-Abdulhadi oversees 
the strategic and operational functions of the Real 
Estate Department, guiding his team in developing 
innovative banking solutions that are tailored to meet 
customer’s needs. He is also a member of the KIB 
executive team, actively contributing to the Bank’s 
strategic plans.

A seasoned banker, Mr. Al-Abdulhadi has spent his 
entire banking career with KIB and has extensive 
experience in the area of Corporate Finance particularly 
for Real Estate Sector.

Mr. Al-Abdulhadi holds a Bachelor’s Degree in 
Accounting and Auditing from the College of 
Economics and Commerce at Kuwait University. He 
also completed several leading business programs 
throughout his career; at Harvard Business School, 
the Kuwait Institute of Banking Studies and Euro 
Money Training.

Mr. Karim Namek joined KIB in 2016, bringing 25 years 
of senior-level banking experience.

Within his executive role at KIB, Mr. Namek heads the 
Bank’s Treasury Department, having amassed vast 
experience in this area during his career.

Prior to joining KIB, Mr. Namek served as the General 
Manager of the Treasury Department at the National 
Bank of Kuwait (NBK), where he was also a member 
of the Executive Committee as well as ALCO. He 
also garnered a wealth of experience working in 
the banking sector in Egypt, where he served as 
General Manager of the Financial and Capital Markets 
Department in Alex Bank, and as Head of the Treasury 
Investment Portfolio at Commercial International Bank 
(CIB). Prior to that, he was head of Trading at Credit 
Suisse.

Mr. Namek holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce 
from Cairo University, Egypt.

Mr. Karim Namek
General Manager of Treasury Department

Mr.  Jassim Al-Abdulhadi
Assistant General Manager,
Acting General Manager of Real Estate Department

Executive Management 
Continued
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Mr. Hesham Elsayed Ezzeldine joined KIB’s executive 
management team in 2016, bringing with him over 30 
years of experience across different functions and 
areas, with a key focus on operations management.

In his executive role at KIB, Mr. Ezzeldine leads the 
strategic planning and execution of operational 
solutions and environments, in order to achieve the 
Bank’s business goals and strategic objectives.

Throughout his career, Mr. Ezzeldine served in the 
role of Chief Operating Officer at several international 
banks in the Middle East and GCC regions, including 
Bank Al-Jazira (KSA), Bank Credit Agricole (Egypt), 
National Bank of Oman, and National Bank of Egypt. 
Most recently he joined KIB in 2016 from Al Khaliji 
Bank in Qatar.

Mr. Ezzeldine holds a Bachelor of Commerce from 
Cairo University, Egypt.

With almost two decades of professional experience 
in financial audits and functional responsibilities in 
various financial industries, Ajai Thomas has been a 
member of KIB’s management team since 2014.

In his position with the Bank, Mr. Thomas leads the 
financial control and planning activities, reporting to 
the Acting CEO on all matters related to budgets and 
financial performance. He also serves as a prominent 
member of the Bank’s various executive committees 
and leads task forces including one for IFRS 9 
implementation.

Prior to joining KIB, Mr. Thomas spent over ten years 
working with PricewaterhouseCoopers and Deloitte 
& Touche in Kuwait, where he led multicultural teams 
specialized in financial services and audits, in addition 
to his various functional roles in Bahrain and India.

Mr. Thomas is a Chartered Accountant (ICAI, India) 
and a Certified Information Systems Auditor (ISACA, 
US). He also holds a Master’s Degree in Financial 
Management from Pondicherry University and a 
Bachelor’s Degree in Physics from Mahatma Gandhi 
University, both in India.

Mr. Hesham Elsayed Ezzeldine 
General Manager of Business Support 
Department

Mr. Ajai Thomas
General Manager of Financial Control & Planning 
Department
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With extensive experience spanning more than 35 
years in human resources, Mr. Anthony John Erasmus 
has held many high-level positions at large financial 
institutions in both the GCC and Africa.

Before joining KIB’s Executive Management Team, 
Mr. Erasmus served in similar roles as Global Head 
of Talent Management, Acquisition Development, HR 
Business Partners and International Business Banking 
Group – Human Resources Department - at Abu 
Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB), and earlier as Assistant 
General Manager of Human Resources at the National 
Bank of Kuwait (NBK).  He has also held a number 
of key positions at Barclays Africa, as well as several 
managerial and consultancy positions in the area of 
technological and operational development. 

Mr. Erasmus holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business 
Administration Industrial Psychology (Hons) from the 
University of Pretoria, South Africa, and has earned 
a number of diplomas and certifications from various 
internationally accredited academic institutes.

Mr. Essam Abouelfadl is a legal expert with almost 
four decades of professional experience in corporate 
and labor laws, including more than 13 years of 
experience in the banking sector.

Heading the legal department at KIB, Mr. Abouelfadl 
oversees the Bank’s legal and regulatory functions. He 
serves as the legal counsel to the Bank’s leadership and 
management, offering legal advice on all operational, 
administrative and financial activities.

After initially starting his career practicing law at legal 
firms in Egypt and Kuwait, Mr. Abouelfadl made the 
transition into the banking sector. Before moving to 
his current post at KIB, he held the position of Legal 
Counsel at the Commercial Bank of Kuwait.

Mr. Abouelfadl holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Law 
from Cairo University earned in 1980, as well as a 
Graduate Diploma in Law, earned in 2008.

Mr. Anthony John Erasmus 
General Manager of Human Resources 
Department

Mr. Essam  Abouelfadl
General Manager of Legal Affairs Department

Executive Management 
Continued
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Mr. Mohamed Samir Abdel Ghany is a dynamic 
banker with almost 20 years of experience in internal 
audit within the Financial and Banking sector.

With a strong background in the areas of internal 
audit, internal control, compliance, risk management, 
and corporate governance, Mr. Abdel Ghany provides 
the strategic direction for the Internal Audit Department 
at KIB in line with the regulatory requirements & 
International Audit Standards.

Before joining KIB, Mr. Abdel Ghany held numerous 
executive management positions at leading banks 
in the region, including: Head of Internal Audit at 
Ahli United Bank in Egypt, Head of Internal Audit at 
Mashreq Bank in Qatar, and Executive Manager of 
Internal Audit Group at Commercial International Bank 
in Egypt.

Mr. Abdel Ghany holds a Bachelor’s Degree and 
a Post Graduate Degree in Accounting & Auditing 
from Egypt in addition to many other professional 
international certificates from prestigious institutions 
in his field such as CRMA&CIPA, and is a founding 
member of the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) in 
Egypt.

Mr. Manoj Mishra has over 30 years of extensive 
experience across banking functions.

Originally coming on board as Senior Manager of 
Credit Risk in 2012, Mr. Mishra joined the Bank’s senior 
management team in 2016 as Acting General Manager 
of Risk Management Department, Mr. Mishra oversees 
the entire gamut of the risk function including credit, 
market and operational  playing a key role in creating 
a sustainable business model for the Bank.

Throughout his career, Mr. Mishra garnered vast 
experience in the banking sectors in both Kuwait 
and India, having worked at a number of prominent 
financial institutions including the Commercial Bank 
of Kuwait, Kuwait & Middle East Financial and 
Investment Company, UTI Bank and State Bank of 
India Group.

Mr. Mishra holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Physics from 
Calcutta University, India.

Mr. Mohamed Samir Abdel Ghany
General Internal Auditor

Mr. Manoj Mishra
Senior Manager, Credit Risks,Acting General 
Manager of Risk Management Department
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Mr. Mourad Mekhail has over 26 years of extensive 
experience working at international banks.

Mr. Mekhail joined Kuwait International Bank in 2011. 
He currently serves as Board Advisor, a position he 
has held since 2013.

Throughout his career, Mr. Mekhail has held numerous 
positions at a number of global banks, including 
Financial Advisor at Merrill Lynch Bank in Geneva, 
and Representative of UBS Bank in Cairo for wealth 
and assets management.

Mr. Mekhail holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting 
from Cairo University, Egypt, and a Master’s degree in 
Business Administration from the University of Trier 
in Germany. He is also accredited by the Financial 
Services Authority in London.

Mr. Ismail Ibrahim Al-Shaikh
General Manager of Board of Directors Affairs 
Management Department & Board Secretary

Mr. Mourad Mekhail
Board Advisor

Executive Management 
Continued

Mr. Ismail Al-Shaikh has held a number of top-level 
senior positions, including serving as General 
Manager of Administrative Affairs at a number of 
financial brokerage companies. 

In 2008, Mr. Al-Shaikh jo ined Kuwait  International 
Bank as a Unit Head at the Administrative Affairs 
Division, and then was promoted to Assistant 
Secretary of the Board in 2012, just before he 
occupied his current position as General Manager of 
Board of Directors Affairs Management Department 
& Board Secretary. In his present capacity, he 
professionally and efficiently manages all the board 
affairs and Board Committees’ meetings, including 
shareholder meetings (annual general assembly 
meetings), as well as strategic and corporate 
governance policies, and Board of Directors and 
Board Committees meetings.

Mr. Al-Shaikh holds a Diploma in Business Administration, 
as well as other international certifications from 
the USA, such as Certified Risk and Compliance 
Management Professional (CRCMP) and Certified Anti 
Money Laundering Specialist (CAMS) certifications. 
In addition, he has participated in a number of 
conferences for board secretaries, seminars, and 
specialized workshops for the business mechanisms 
of board and board committees, both inside and 
outside the State of Kuwait. He has also attended a 
number of leadership and strategic planning programs. 
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Praise be to Almighty Allah, and Peace and Blessings be upon Prophet Mohammad, His 
Blessed Family, Companions and Followers until the Day of Judgment.

The creativity and successfulness established in Islamic financial services continue to provide 
for a distinguished model reflecting the present massive economic advancement in technology 
and database aspects. This has been thoroughly adopted by Kuwait International Bank in 
order to cope with the steady Islamic banking developments in light of the global acceptance 
and satisfaction with the Islamic financing products. Such lofty principles have been deeply 
rooted by a sound and unique implementation of transparency and honesty while discarding 
any anonymousness or Riba which is deemed prohibited from Shari’a perspective. This 
has enabled the Bank to inter into real investment deals based on fulfilling the fundamental 
functionality of Islam, which instigates human to develop and build on earth, as guided by the 
saying of Almighty Allah in the Holy Qur’an, Quote:

This urges us to cope with the challenge that is to develop financial tools and verify financing 
and investment methods. 

We would like also to reiterate that the integral implementation of Islamic financial principles 
is the first motive to persuade people to adopt Islamic banking, and thus we invite the 
managements of Islamic banks to have such a commitment on top of their priorities in order 
for the concept to conform with implementation. 

In Kuwait International Bank, we pray to Almighty Allah to help us for the success of the Bank 
in its banking course of action to the optimum standards for the welfare and prosperity of the 
Kuwaiti society and the whole Islamic world, guided by the saying of Almighty Allah in the Holy 
Qur’an, Quote “Whoever works righteousness, man or woman, and has Faith, verily, to him 
will We give a new Life, a life that is good and pure and We will bestow on such their reward 
according to the best of their actions”.

Suret-el-Nahl (verse: 97).

Dr. Abdulaziz Khalifa Al-Qassar
Executive Member, Shari’a Supervisory Board

Address of Shari’a 
Supervisory Board

(To the Thamud people, We sent their brother Saleh. He said: «O my people! 
Worship Allah, you have no god but Him. It is He Who created you from the Earth 
and made it a dwelling place for you. So seek forgiveness from Him and turn to 
Him in repentance. Surely my Rabb is very close, ready to answer».)

(Surat Hud- Verse 61)
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Praise Be to Allah, and Peace and blessings be upon his Messenger, Mohammad, family and   
followers.

To: KIB Shareholders  

Dear Sirs, 

In line with the General Assembly’s resolution concerning the appointment of Shari’a Supervisory 
Board, and as we were entrusted to act as such, please find below our report:

We at the Shari’a Supervisory Board - KIB, have supervised and reviewed the principles used 
and the contracts related to the transactions concluded by the Bank during the period from 
1/1/2017 to 31/12/2017. We have carried out the necessary supervision to give our opinion 
whether the Bank complied with the Islamic Shari’a laws and principles and with the Fatawa, 
decisions, resolutions and guidelines made by us. 

It is for the Bank’s Management to implement these Fatawa and principles, while we as the 
Shari’a Supervisory Board, are solely responsible for expressing an independent opinion based 
on the subject matter presented to us. Our supervision included examining the contracts and 
procedures used by the Bank on the basis of examining each type of operations. We have also 
collected all necessary information and clarifications to give our opinion whether the Bank’s 
business is in full conformity with Islamic Shari’a provisions. 

In our opinion, the contracts, operations and transactions concluded or used by the Bank 
during the period from 1/1/2017 to 31/12/2017 and which have been reviewed by us, were in 
compliance with the Islamic Shari’a laws. 

We wish the Bank all success and prosperity in serving our religion and our country. 

May Allah’s peace, mercy and blessings be upon you.  

Sheikh Dr. Khalid Mathkour Al-Mathkour
Chairman of Shari’a Board

Sheikh. Ali Mohammed Hejji Al-Jady                                                         
Member

Dr. Abdulaziz Khalifa Al-Qassar
Executive Member

Sheikh. Mustafa Sayed Hasan Al-Zalzalah
Deputy Chairman of Shari’a Board

Report of  the Shari’a
Supervisory Board 
For the period from 1/1/2017 to 31/12/2017
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Global Economic
Developments
Global economy continued to recover as of mid-2016, then boosted in the first half of 2017, 
driven by a better than expected performance of China, Japan, European Countries and USA 
economies, and by more positive growth expectations for emerging and developing economies 
during 2017 and 2018. In addition, the financial markets have been stabilizing throughout the 
year, while oil prices started to pick up. Thus, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) raised 
forecasts for the coming two years, projecting 3.6% global economic growth during 2017 
compared to 3.2% in 2016, with a 3.7% prospect for 2018.

Economic growth for advanced economies is anticipated to pick up to 2.2% during 2017 
compared to 1.7% in 2016, supported by the robust economic performance of Japan, Canada 
and Eurozone, besides the good performance by USA. However, a slight decrease to 2% 
is expected in 2018 based on an anticipated feebler performance of UK economy and the 
uncertainty roaming over the future of US economic policies during the year. Furthermore, 
the emerging and developing economies are expected to record better growth rates at 4.6% 
and 4.9% for the years 2017 and 2018 respectively, supported by a beyond-expectations 
performance of China and Turkey and a good performance of Brazil, Russia, and Emerging 
Europe.

As for Middle East and North Africa (MENA), the economic prospects relatively varied, as 
geopolitical turmoil continues to affect many countries in the region, while the economies of 
oil exporting countries are also suffering from the repercussions of the drop in oil prices, and 
as being committed to OPEC Production Cut Agreement. In addition, the tightening of fiscal 
policies in these countries still casts its shadows over the economic growth. GCC economy is 
expected to reach its lowest growth level since years at 0.5% during 2017 and to improve to 
2.2% during 2018 as a result of an expected slowdown of the fiscal tightening. On the other 
hand, a better domestic demand and increasing exports are expected to enhance economic 
outputs for oil importing countries in the region to reach 4.3% in 2017 and 4.4% in 2018. In 
spite of such positive prospects, MENA oil importing countries are still in need to implement 
structural economic reforms, improve infrastructure, adopt effective polices that can stimulate 
the private sector, ameliorate doing business environment and to undertake the required 
reforms in education and labor markets.

Global economic horizons appear to be positive on the short run, cemented by a strong 
performance of numerous global economies, a positive global performance of the financial 
markets, improved trust levels, and an anticipated return of normal fiscal monetary policy. 
However, full recovery is not yet completed, as inflation rates remained below the targeted 
levels. In addition, accelerating the fiscal tightening, adopting protectionism policies, and 
slowing down the financial reform in the aftermath of the most recent global financial crisis 
may impose more pressures on the global economy.

Moreover, certain regions are still suffering from geopolitical risks, which adversely affect global 
economy. Yet, irrespective of all these economic challenges, the global economy is restoring 
momentum lost during the aforesaid global financial crisis. Thus, policymakers are now 
required to build upon and maintain the achievements so far realized and to continue applying 
structural reforms, with a focus on increasing productivity and adopting a comprehensive 
economic reform approach.
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Real non-oil GDP resumed recovery following two years of drawback. The growth of non-oil 
sectors is anticipated to reach 2.5% during 2017 compared to 2% last year. It is also expected 
to accelerate up to 4% during 2018 backed by a better level of confidence and improvement 
of capital expenditures on development plan projects. On the other hand, the overall growth 
rate of real GDP for 2017 is expected to decline to 2.5% impacted by the drawback in oil GDP, 
as Kuwait oil production decreased 6% being committed to OPEC Production Cut Agreement. 
However, assuming a relative improvement of crude oil prices, oil GDP is expected to grow 
3% during 2018.

Though energy and water prices increased, inflation rates remained low reaching 1.8% during 
2017 as a result of the drop in rents and food prices. Yet, inflation is expected to rise up to 
an average of 2.5% in 2018, due to an increase of governmental services fees and potential 
charges on tobacco and beverages. In addition, added-value tax enforcement is expected to 
accelerate inflation up to 3.75% during 2019.

Oil and nonoil real GDP growth rates in the State of Kuwait and OPEC Crude Oil Basket Average Price for the period 2007-2017
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Inspite of the low crude oil prices that imposed pressures on the government’s budget during 
2017 as the average price of Brent crude oil amounted to $55 in 2017, the fiscal position 
has relatively improved following implementation of certain items of the approved 2016 Fiscal 
Reform Plan. Energy subsidies reforms and efforts to control current spending managed to 
save around KD 3.25 billion during the last two years. The government’s general budget has 
recorded a nominal deficit in the fiscal year 2016/2017 at 17.5% of GDP (Excluding sovereign 
investment returns and after deducting 10% of government revenue for Future Generations 
Fund (FGF)). Fiscal deficit is expected to descend to 15% of GDP during the fiscal year 
2017/2018. Having continued to implement current expenditures reforms and to diversify 

Local Economic
Developments
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government revenue, the government fiscal position is expected to improve and to remain 
under control.  

Furthermore, credit maintained good growth during the year. The most recent data issued by 
Central Bank of Kuwait indicate credit growth of 4.6% y/y as personal credit facilities grew 
5.6% exceeding 2016 ratio of 5.5%. Such growth was supported by increased installment 
loans of 9% y/y. Meanwhile, deposits growth slowed down compared to last year recording 
2%, as both private and governmental deposits declined compared to a higher growth rate 
last year. The money supply has subdued but remained in acceptable levels at 1.9%. Money 
supply was impacted by a slower growth of currency in circulation and time deposits, while 
saving and sight deposits have increased.

Development in Private Sector Deposits, Government Deposits and Total Deposits with Local Banks in the State of Kuwait (2007 -2017)
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In the same context, the banking sector maintained its robustness as Capital Adequacy Ratio 
(CAR) stood at high levels exceeding 18%. The provisions coverage ratio for non-performing 
loans (NPLs) exceeded 200%, while NPLs retreated to 2.4% by midyear. Local banks were 
able to retain high liquidity as banks’ liquid reserves reached 6.5% (cash deposits with Central 
Bank of Kuwait and Central Bank of Kuwait’s bonds) of local banks’ gross assets by end of 
October this year. In addition, banks’ consolidated profits rose by 7% for the first nine months 
of 2017. The IMF 2017 Article IV concluding statement has admired the prudently regulated 
Kuwaiti banking system, describing Central Bank of Kuwait as proactive in strengthening 
supervision on banking system.

In 2017, improvement of confidence has helped in improving Boursa Kuwait performance, as oil 
prices have relatively improved. In addition, promoting Boursa Kuwait among emerging markets 
by FTSE Russell stimulated further momentum. Boursa Kuwait Price index rose 11% during the 
year compared to 3.5% last year, trading volume and number of transactions rose 72% y/y, 
and market liquidity doubled compared to the value recorded for 2016. Likewise, the consolidated 
profits of listed companies rose 18% y/y during the first nine months of 2017 amounting to KD 1.34 
billion while the consolidated loss of listed companies drew back 50% y/y.
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As for real estate market, it has shown gradual improvement following the decline recorded for 
last two years. By end of November 2017, real estate sales increased 4% y/y, while the same 
period for 2016 dropped 25% y/y. The number of real estate transactions has also increased 
17% y/y. The residential sector has prominently lead the market as its sales increased 20% 
compared to last year. Crafts sector also witnessed record sales during the year while 
investment and commercial sectors showed a feeble performance compared to last year. The 
drop in real estate prices has also slowed down, the matter, which conformed with the better 
performance of sales and transaction number. 

Moving Average of Monthly Total Real Estate Sales for the Period (2007-2017)
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In conclusion, economic horizons look more positive than last year. Economic activity is 
projected to improve on the medium term, and the non-oil sectors are predicted to gain larger 
momentum in the coming years. Financial reforms are expected to contribute in furthering 
fiscal consolidation, while Kuwait’s large financial reserves helped in stabilizing the economic 
performance and strengthening confidence. Yet, maintaining economic stability requires 
continued implementation of the proposed financial and structural reforms, as well as 
sustaining the momentum of growth enabling capital spending and increasing efficiency of 
current spending. This will ultimately boost the non-oil sectors activities, reinforce confidence 
in the market, and help economic diversification as well. All the above aim at sustaining the 
State’s financial position, while reaching an economic  performance capable to push forward 
the wheel of development and create a stable economic environment on the medium and long 
runs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

This part of the report presents the Executive Management discussions concerning Kuwait 
International Bank’s performance indicators and future plans. All are in line with the results of 
its performance and comprehensive strategic plan. The discussions noted in the report have 
all been approved by the Bank’s Board of Directors and are based on the audited financial 
statements for the financial year ending 31.12.2017.

Strategic Plan Developments
KIB has moved forward with the implementation of the comprehensive strategic plan through 
a bank-wide transformation that was launched in 2015. The five year strategy aims to fulfill 
the vision to become the ‘Islamic Bank of choice in Kuwait’ with five key aspirations: Be the 
fastest growing Islamic bank in Kuwait; improve asset quality with NPLs below market average; 
enhance shareholders’ returns; be recognized as the most innovative Bank in Kuwait; and  
become an employer of choice for the Kuwaiti youth.

In 2017, the focus was on ‘developing competitive advantage’, including launching new digital 
products and services, advancing the new retail value proposition, implementing corporate 
and real estate value propositions, streamlining operations to improve customer service and 
upgrading critical support capabilities.

As part of the retail agenda, KIB has become increasingly digital and differentiated. The Bank 
launched the market’s first visual telebanking service (VIVR) that enables retail customers to 
view their accounts and transactions directly on their smartphones while engaging with call 
center advisors providing live support. A new state of the art mobile application was rolled out 
for smartphones delivering a significant upgrade in terms of customer experience. 

In Wholesale Banking, a new organization and coverage model was implemented, resulting in 
a standalone real estate business. The Real Estate Department now offers integrated products 
and services to its clients, including financing solutions, appraisals and property management, 
and is in the process of developing advisory services.

KIB also continued to strengthen its core capabilities, particularly in operations with the 
launch of the Eshraaq Project which aims to achieve operational excellence and has trained 

From 2016 to 2017, Al Boushra and Arzaq deposits (combined) 
increased by 80%. Furthermore, the range of products was 
extended to include a flexible-term deposit to diversify the 
offerings to customers. In this respect, the bank is keen to 
deposit profits to customers’ accounts on the same day of 
profits declaration.

42



a team of aspiring young Kuwaitis nominated from across different departments within the 
Bank. Initiatives including refining and simplifying of the customer account opening process 
have been completed which has improved customer experience and supported business 
objectives.

In June 2017, Kuwait International Bank was included in the MSCI FM Kuwait Small Cap Index. 
FTSE Russell also shortlisted KIB to be included in its emerging markets list of securities. 
These bear testaments to the overall improvements at KIB during the last couple of years.

In 2018, the Bank’s focus will be on taking all the innovation to the market and fully deploying 
the new value propositions of the Bank to better serve its customers and drive value for its 
shareholders.

Banking Activities
In 2017, the Bank realized a number of achievements and developments at every different 
business function. For instance, the Wholesale Banking Department (WBD) continued to 
play a vivid role in providing corporate related banking products and services. This area 
has experienced a steady growth in the last few years, and this has continued during 2017. 
The Department focuses on providing financing and related services through dedicated 
divisions catering to all levels of corporate customers ranging from government and public 
sector entities, financial institutions, top tier private sector companies and multinationals, to 
small and medium size enterprises. To sharpen client delivery at all levels, wholesale banking 
activities have been organized along geographic and industry lines. All divisions work in close 
conjunction to present the Bank as a “one stop shop” for our clients.

Despite intense competition during 2017, the Bank, through its Domestic Commercial Banking, 
succeeded in achieving considerable expansion across the various sectors of the domestic 
market. This growth was attained while maintaining the highest quality of credit portfolio. 
Additionally, Domestic Commercial Banking successfully introduced and rolled out tailor-
made products to better suit customers’ business requirements such as Supplier Bill Payment 
product which caters to Trading companies and SME sector. 

Customer service has been and continues to be one of the focus areas of Domestic Commercial 
Banking. The commitment to invest in human capital through structured hiring and training 
programs, has translated into officers and relationship managers that are well equipped to 
provide customized solutions as required by our clients, ranging from simple trade transactions 
to complex financings. 

On the international front, WBD witnessed significant growth and achievements through its 
International Banking business, which continued to play a key role in expanding the Bank’s 
activities globally and promoting its international finance and correspondent banking services.

During 2017, International Banking continued its strategic focus on diversifying its portfolio 
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exposure across products and geographies and supporting multinational EPC contractors on 
their projects in Kuwait. Despite challenging market conditions regionally, International Banking 
exhibited unprecedented growth and played a lead role in arranging the financing of various 
projects and transactions. In fact, the Bank acted as a Mandated Lead Arranger in a US$ 
300M syndicated Murabaha facility for ALAFCO (Kuwait) and Lead Arranger for a US$ 330M 
Syndicated Murabaha facility favoring a pioneering medical entity in the UAE. Additionally, the 
Bank played major roles in arranging both funded and contingent financing in favor of financial 
institutions, private companies and public sector entities across the region.

The Bank’s team has a unique combination of coverage, structuring, advisory and execution 
skills with a proven ability to originate, manage and provide comprehensive Shari’a compliant 
financing solutions locally, regionally and globally. In 2018, we will continue to focus on our 
core banking products and services in line with the Bank’s strategy.

The year 2017 has moved Retail Banking to the next level on its transformation journey. It has 
been a year of significant change and the delivery of major customer centric service solutions. 

This was achieved by ideally utilizing the efforts of our very capable team in the Retail Banking 
Department (RBD), as they continue to work on innovative solutions to add value to the 
customer experience.

Launching a contact center, new online & mobile banking platform, and more efficient 
processes and systems, backed by a yearlong of customer centric promotions, all have been 
fundamental in driving growth on both brand positioning and performance. In this context, 
RBD has focused on four strategic priorities during 2017, as follows: 

1. Elevating Customers’ Banking Experience
One of the transformation plan’s major milestones in 2017 is the complete 
revamp of the contact center, as well as the introduction of Visual Interactive 
Voice Recording (VIVR) – the first of its kind amongst other banks. A unique 
service that put the customer in control of his contact center experience. This 
service also boasts features such as customer recognition through mobile 
number and a dynamic IVR menu that significantly reduces the caller’s wait 
time, a call back option that eliminates waiting, and many more innovative 
features. 

This was followed up by launching phase one of the all-new Internet and 
mobile banking platforms. Kuwait International Bank has been distinguished 
by using FinTech with boundless potential to adapt to the ever-changing 
banking industry digital services. The service includes significant 
personalization features in an easy to use application which also extended to 
tablets, cementing it as a true cross platform experience. 

The journey to further expand our customer experience continues as the 
virtual distribution channels will undergo additional phases of development 
to strengthen the online banking platforms and contact center capabilities. 
This comes in line with the retail value proposition, which states “Simple 
Banking, Anywhere, Anytime”. These initiatives will be complemented with 
new procedures so that all services offered to the Bank’s customers are of 
the highest in Kuwait in terms of quality and security.
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2. Reaching a Wider Consumer Base
The Bank’s relentless efforts did not stop there. In April 2017, 
RBD launched various programs and promotions across our 
wide range of products and services to increase our customer 
portfolio. This comes as part of our strategic retail value 
proposition that caters to customers’ life stages and various 
segments of society.

Furthermore, a coherent optimization plan on both branch 
network and sales distribution channels was deployed by 
introducing a dedicated Auto Sales Team, accessible to our 
customers across major car brands to serve the automotive 
sector

3. Beyond the Branch Experience
In an effort to further enhance our customers’ journey, we have digitalized 
the banking experience through our social media platforms. With a particular 
emphasis, not only on promotional campaigns to attract more customers, 
but also to activating around-the-clock customer service on social media 
platforms to stay up-to-date with the Bank’s latest news, promotions, products, 
and services

4. Diversifying Retail Investment Products. 
In 2017, all of our investment and saving products offer some 
of the best returns available in the market, with a well-versed 
investment & saving portfolio, providing customers with 
solutions depending on their investment requirements

The Bank also launched the Flexible Deposit, an innovative solution that offers customers more 
choice in managing their deposit and investment portfolio.

2018 will witness even more changes and further exciting new products and services.

Back to the presentation of our banking activities, and as Kuwait International Bank has a vast 
experience in real estate market, having been approved by the Central Bank of Kuwait to offer 
real estate appraisal services, a new organization and coverage model has been implemented 
to provide all inclusive real estate services under one umbrella. To reiterate, the Bank provides 
a bundle of real estate products and services to its customers, including financing solutions, 
real estate appraisals, and property management services as well as the progressive advisory 
real estate services. In 2018, we will witness launching a series of innovative products and 
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services that will certainly boost our abilities to attract new segments of individual and corporate 
customers, and improve operational efficiency, which is our most-sought-after objective so as 
to ensure our customer satisfaction. Such creative products and services will positively affect 
the Bank’s diversified sources of income and enhance its image and reputation as a pioneer 
in Kuwait real estate sector.

Moreover, a developed Fund Transfer Pricing (FTP) model was successfully implemented 
in 2017 as planned to reflect funding costs of the Bank through a transparent and robust 
methodology applying matched maturity approach that enabled management and business 
departments to make the right pricing decisions and increase profitability for shareholders 
and depositors. It also supported overall Bank’s balance sheet and liquidity management and 
helped business units to price products based on market conditions and business objectives.

Treasury Department achieved its objectives by controlling the cost of funds in 2017, despite 
raising profit rate environment. Maintained healthy level of liquidity ratios above regulatory 
requirement to support expansion of businesses and reduced dependence on Interbank 
funding by stable deposits from customers while maintaining close control on the Bank’s large 
deposits concentration.

An ALM desk has been set up to monitor the Asset & Liability Profile of the Bank and to forecast 
& maintain all regulatory and internal ratios as per policy and procedures of the Bank.

Treasury Department set to meet the Basel III regulations and regulatory requirement of the 
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) which requires banks to maintain a stable funding profile in 
relation to the composition of assets and off balance sheet activities, which will be in effect 
from 1st January 2018 by increasing the customer deposits and stable long term funding/
extending deposits duration.

On another page, Investment Department has continued to implement its comprehensive 
strategy aiming at deploying the Bank’s excess liquidity as part of its proprietary investment 
portfolio.  The Department has been proactive in line with its overall investment strategy to 
reallocate the portfolio toward more liquid assets that exhibit attractive risk adjusted returns. 
There has been an emphasis on increasing the Sukuk allocation in the investment portfolio 
thus increasing the risk-adjusted returns which serves as a catalyst for reducing volatility in the 
portfolio as well as support the Bank in satisfying various regulatory requirements.

The global financial markets encountered several uncertainties in 2017 including risks 
attributed to the winding down of support from major central banks by ending Quantitative 
Easing (QE) programs and the normalization of interest rates by the Federal Reserve from the 
near zero interest rate policy of the last few years.  Moreover, geopolitical risk in the region 
further contributed to volatility across asset classes. In view of these factors, the focus of 
the Investment Department has been to diversify the portfolio by targeting liquid investments 
across both asset classes and geographies that exhibit attractive risk-adjusted returns thus 
reducing the overall risk of the investment portfolio.
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Business Support Activities
In 2017 and within the framework of implementing the Bank’s strategic plan, aiming at furthering 
the Bank’s products and services, and in response to the ever-changing nature of the banking 
environment and increasing customer demands, the Bank’s internal support operations have 
been developed. Also, the Bank launched the Eshraaq Project that focuses on developing and 
improving customer service, staff efficiency and effectiveness as well as increasing sales.

Eshraaq Project comes as part of the Bank’s strong belief in the importance of optimizing 
the customer journey by enhancing the quality of customer service with a prompt response 
to their needs, as well as improving staff efficiency. Through this project, the Bank aims at 
boosting customer confidence, driving the Bank closer towards achieving its strategic vision 
of becoming the ‘Islamic Bank of Choice in Kuwait’.

The Project has recently introduced a series of comprehensive training courses for the Bank’s 
staff, which aim at enhancing customer service levels and equipping staff with the skills needed 
to adapt to developments within the banking sector. The Project will also create a shared 
Operational Center for Excellence, which enables the organization to rapidly launch new 
products and services, empower employees to proactively enhance the customer experience, 
improve processes, reduce errors as well as utilize and leverage automation processes. The 
Eshraaq Project team has been identifying the required changes needed to develop the Bank’s 
services in order to be the best in market.

Moreover, the Bank’s Management has developed and approved Information Technology 
Strategy 2016-2020, targeting the following objectives;  innovation in the digital era, agile 
technology environment supporting required time to market, enhance performance and 
efficiency, optimize service standards, and develop employee skills. 

In line with the strategy set forth by the Bank, and in response 
to the competitive environment of the banking sector, as well 
as in an effort to take the Bank’s customer experience to the 
next level, the Bank has launched many strategic projects 
during 2017 among many initiatives designed to support the 
Bank’s transformation strategy, including delivering excellent 
customer experience by providing mobile banking solution 
that is rich with functionalities and delivers unprecedented 
customer experience; advanced and modern online banking 
solution;  and state of the art call center solution. In addition, the 
Bank has adopted a bundle of technologies which enhanced 
the Bank’s position and its competitive advantage in the local 
market.  
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In 2017, the Bank has introduced an entirely new set of technologies and investigative capabilities 
to thwart and deter cybersecurity attacks, where the cybersecurity threat is incredibly severe 
and exponentially growing. Cyber intrusions are becoming more sophisticated and persistent. 
Adversaries target monetary institutions for sensitive information such as customer information 
and trade secrets. New forms of attack vectors are on the rise such as Ransomware, Advanced 
Persistent Threat, and Denial-of-Service. The collective impact is staggering. Information 
Security Unit has also focused on preventative controls, both in terms of awareness training for 
employees and stringent technical prevention controls that would be effective during incident 
response. The Unit went the extra mile by embracing an innovative approach to security 
awareness by simulating cybersecurity attacks on Bank’s employees to improve the Bank’s 
readiness against real cyber-attacks. 

Moreover, Information Security has completed its three-year ISO 27001:2013 Information 
Security Management System (ISMS), the most widely recognized, certification cycle without a 
major or minor nonconformity, representing its full commitment in upholding strong information 
security practices, benchmarking the Bank’s technology framework and processes with 
international standards.

Additionally, Information Security conducts cutting-edge research and development to ensure 
that cyber capabilities span the full spectrum of defense. New plans and initiatives are set forth 
for the year 2018 to continually delivering information assets protection in line with the Bank’s 
ambition to become the leading digital bank. From Technical and Administrative perspective, 
the Bank managed to upgrade the security system for its Head Office and branches adopting 
the latest and up-to-date technology, all in line with the Bank’s strategic plan.

On the other hand, the Financial Control & Planning Department (FCP) ensures accurate 
accounting of the Bank’s transactions and provides innovative analysis and reports to various 
stakeholders. Dashboards and reports have been constantly enhanced and new reports are 
being added. This has served as an important tool for measuring and achieving the strategic 
objectives set by the Board of Directors.

The Bank was proactive in finalizing and delivering the approved periodical financial statements. 
In addition, the Bank ensures that the internal financial policies, which are in accordance 
with the principles of Islamic Shari’a as approved by the Bank’s Shari’a Supervisory Board, 
are followed strictly. In parallel, FCP follows a zero tolerance approach to ensure compliance 
with all instructions and guidelines issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait and other regulatory 
bodies.

Furthermore, FCP will focus on further process improvements, and enhanced system integration. 
FCP will vividly participate in implementing regulations and updates at all levels.  

In 2017, the Human Resources Department (HRD) has helped to cement the new organizational 
structure by leading the recruitment of key transformation talent to fulfil business objectives. This 
has been enveloped with an increased focus on business partnership with key departments in 
order to create a custom made internal service.

Aside from this, HRD has continued to further its commitment to being a best in practice 

48



organization by closer aligning its remuneration structure, to not just pace, but lead the market 
in certain areas. This has also gone hand-in-hand with strengthening employee engagement.

With an ongoing focus on putting in place the workforce of tomorrow, the Bank continues to 
be at the forefront of nationalization initiatives, developing a pipeline of talented employees 
through internationally recognized accreditation and leadership programs.  

The Legal Department, through its professional qualified staff, has delivered the required 
legal support to all Bank’s departments by providing them with Shari’a-compliant legal advice, 
solutions and clarifications comprehensively and easily. This is in addition to drafting and 
reviewing all contracts pertinent to the Bank’s businesses with a view to protect and maintain 
the Bank’s rights. 

Furthermore, in partnership with Information Technology Department, the Legal Department 
resumed upgrading its legal system linked to the Bank’s systems so that the concerned 
departments will be able to follow-up on the progress of lawsuits and on the status of all 
contracts submitted to the Legal Department for their review.

Additionally, a creative program has been initiated to respond to the requests raised by Bank’s 
departments via the Bank’s internal network “Tawasul”.

As such, the Legal Department will continue offering innovate solutions in order to meet the 
requirements of the Bank’s businesses, help with decision-making process, and minimize 
the legal risks attached to the Bank’s activities. Moreover, within the framework of the Bank’s 
transformation strategy, Legal Department is ultimately keen on recruiting, training and 
qualifying legal national manpower.

In order for the Bank to better serve its customers, and in compliance with Central Bank of 
Kuwait regulations and decisions, Customer Complaint Unit has been developed for the 
purpose of receiving all customer complaints and resolving them in coordination with the 
concerned department. These measures have been carried out independently by investigating 
and studying the reasons of the complaint, as well as carrying out the corrective and remedial 
measures when required to avoid the recurrence of such complaints in the future to satisfy the 
Bank’s customers and fulfill their needs.

Strategy Implementation Unit (SIU), in coordination with concerned departments, played a 
vivid role in interpreting the strategic initiatives into implementable and achievable plans and 
projects. In this context, SIU applied the best practices for project management to ensure 
optimal utilization of the Bank’s financial and human resources in a timely manner. Furthermore, 
SIU prepared follow-up reports on the progress of strategic projects, along with their timelines, 
and presented them to the Bank’s Management, to keep abreast of the status of strategic 
projects. It also monitored projects performance to help expedite the decision-making process.

As a part of its continuous follow-up to the global ever-changing developments that may 
affect the business environment, the Bank, via the Economic Research Unit (ER), continued 
to monitor economic developments in the local and international markets. In this context, the 
unit prepared ad-hoc economic reports and studies in line with the Bank’s strategic objectives 
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aiming at supporting the decision-making process and providing the necessary technical 
support to Bank departments and Executive Management.

The Unit also continued to prepare specialized periodic reports, such as Kuwait Real Estate 
Market Report. It also contributed and coordinated the efforts of Bank departments to prepare 
the annual report of the Bank.

Throughout the year, the Corporate Communications Unit (CCU) has focused on maintaining 
and enhancing the Bank’s reputation amongst its customers and shareholders by strengthening 
its position as a leading national institution, as well as its key role in the local community. The 
CCU has succeeded in demonstrating the Bank’s impressive national and social efforts, which 
coincide with its robust financial performance. The Unit has launched a number of community-
based initiatives and programs, reflecting the Bank’s ongoing efforts to support and develop 
the local community through various means, focusing on those that cater to the needs of the 
community. As part of its social responsibility program, KIB has launched a unique flagship 
program to enhance financial education amongst younger generations. The program aims 
at promoting financial awareness and economic education across all segments of society, 
particularly youth and children – as they are the future of the nation.

Through its leading social responsibility program, KIB has managed to attract the attention 
of international organizations. Its social responsibility program comprises initiatives across a 
multitude of areas, including: religion, humanitarian causes, sports, environment, healthcare, 
nationalistic initiatives, culture, education, and many more. In recognition of its corporate 
citizenship, KIB was awarded the “Distinction in Social Responsibility in Islamic Banking 2017” 
from the Regional CSR Network. The Bank was also recognized for its commitment to serving 
the interests of the entire local community through organizing and supporting community-
based activities and programs that focus on developing the local community and its dedication 
to enhancing financial inclusion across diverse segments of the community. All its efforts come 
as part of its clear and comprehensive social responsibility policy set forth by the Bank’s 
Executive Management.

The CCU has also shed the light on the numerous developments that have taken place across 
the Bank’s operations since the launch of its comprehensive strategy. Amongst the most notable 
achievements and awards the Bank has received across various fields throughout 2017 are:
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KIB was also recognized as amongst the top 50 listed companies in Kuwait by Forbes Middle 
East.

• “Best Islamic Bank - Kuwait 2017” and “Best Islamic Bank - 
GCC 2017” awards by World Finance.

• “Best Change Management – Kuwait 2017” award by Banker 
Middle East.

• “Best Sharia Compliant Bank” and “Fastest Growing Islamic 
Bank” MENA 2017 awards by Capital Finance International.

• “Best Customer Acquisition - GCC 2017” award by World 
Finance.

• “Best CSR 2017” award by Banker Middle East.

• «Best Strategic Vision in Banking 2017” award by the World 
Union of Arab Bankers (WUAB).

• “Excellence in Development of Islamic Banking Services” 
award by the Union of Arab Banks (UAB).

• “Islamic Banking Chairman of the Year” award by World 
Finance.

• “Information Security Executive of the Year in the Banking 
& Finance Service Sector” at Middle East Security Awards 
(MESA) 2017.

• “Most Recognized 100 Chief Information Security Officer 
Award (CISO 100)” at Middle East Security Awards (MESA) 
2017.
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Compliance, Disclosure and Transparency 
Activities

Compliance and Regulatory Liaison Division (CRLD) rendered a liaison role linking regulatory 
entities with the Bank’s divisions and departments with a view to ensure the Bank businesses 
compliance with regulatory controls and approved sound professional practices. CRLD 
has also performed reviews of certain departments and divisions’ activities to ascertain full 
compliance with Central Bank of Kuwait’s regulations. The purpose of this is to secure the 
Bank’s reputation and credibility before regulatory entities, customers and shareholders, to set 
good governance methodologies in line with regulatory instructions, to ensure conformity with 
corporate governance regulations, and to avoid risks of noncompliance.

To this end, and in fulfillment of its assigned roles and responsibilities, CRLD has relentlessly 
extended expert opinion and advice to the Bank’s divisions and departments concerning 
compliance rules and regulations. Additionally, CRLD has actively participated in raising 
staff’s regulatory awareness, encompassing the fundamental rules for regulatory compliance 
and disclosure and elucidating certain regulations of Central Bank of Kuwait, Capital Market 
Authority, and Boursa Kuwait. CRLD has also ensured adequate preparation, completeness, 
and on-time delivery of regulatory reports.  In addition, it has published awareness materials 
for the staff in order to ensure adequate implementation of regulations and coordination among 
the Banks divisions and departments to align the applicable policies and procedures manuals 
with the regulatory requirements. CRLD has presented periodic reports to the Bank’s top 
management reflecting degree of compliance with regulatory controls and instructions, and 
emphasizing staff compliance awareness.

Owing to the Bank’s keenness to comply with all disclosure requirements issued by the Central 
Bank of Kuwait, Capital Market Authority and Boursa Kuwait, and with a view to ensure full 
application of such regulations in accordance with the governing rules and regulations,  
The Bank, through the Disclosure and Transparency Unit, publishes all material information 
pertinent to the Bank. 

The Unit also ensures that all matters disclosed to Capital Markets Authority and Boursa Kuwait 
are published as per their required forms accurately, clearly and  in a timely manner so as to 
help shareholders and investors take sound decisions and invest their funds appropriately.

In 2017, the Unit has applied the electronic disclosure system of Kuwait Boursa’s listed 
companies, the matter which has greatly contributed to speeding up the Bank’s disclosure 
process on Kuwait Boursa website.

In the same context, the Bank is fully compliant with the regulatory laws and instructions 
concerning Anti Money Laundering & Financing Terrorism. The Bank has always been keen 
on providing its staff with the necessary anti money laundering training courses. Independent 
audits and tests have been carried out to ensure that the Bank’s compliance officer and 
staff have been carrying their duties and responsibilities in line with the Bank’s policies and 
procedures concerning anti money laundering and financing terrorism. The Bank is also keen 
on implementing FATCA and CRS regulations.

In 2018, KIB will pursue enhancing supervision over the Bank’s divisions and departments in 
order to ensure their full compliance and comprehension of regulatory entities’ instructions.
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Risk Management Activities
Bank’s Risk Strategy
The Bank risk strategy is to establish a balance between the expected growth in the markets 
where the Bank operates in and manage risks associated with the business environments in 
these markets through controlling risk tolerance levels, RAROC, collateral coverage assisted 
by an appropriate mechanism of due diligence that takes into consideration the updated 
market intelligence.

Developments of Risk Management Activities
Risk Management Department (RMD) continues to strive for improvement and enhancement 
of the Risk Management practice and functions in the Bank through use of modern techniques 
and market intelligence to evaluate, regulate and control risks involved in the day-to-day 
Banking process. The entire effort has been to move away from risk prone business and cover 
the Bank for any unforeseen eventuality to the best extent possible. 

The use of the RAROC based approach for optimizing the use of capital without affecting the 
bottom line and moving away from Non- Investment Grade exposures is one of the major steps 
adopted for meeting the stated objectives. The LCR, NSFR models are being used extensively 
for monitoring and decision making on all market and profit rate risks related matters. 

The Bank’s plan to constantly apply IFRS9 methodology in the coming year is also running 
as per schedule. The Bank plans to implement a highly sophisticated and reputed third party 
software to assist this exercise. Similar efforts are being made for acquisition of world-class 
software for monitoring, measuring and controlling the related projects risks. The annual review 
of the risk appetite and tolerance measures, stress test conditions, credit rating validations, 
capital planning, etc., have all been conducted on schedule and are in line with regulatory 
environment and the Bank’s risk strategy. 

The Bank’s Risk Management Department is primarily responsible for management of all risks 
in the Bank. The Risk Management Department manages all risks arising from the use of 
financial instruments, e.g. credit, liquidity, market encompassing foreign exchange, profit rate, 
equity risks, and operational risks. In accordance with the Central Bank of Kuwait guidelines on 
corporate governance, the Risk Management Department is an independent department and 
is headed by an Acting General Manager and is supported by an experienced and qualified 
team of risk managers, risk officers and analysts. 

The Bank’s Risk Organizational Structure and reporting line reflect the independence of Risk 
Management, whereby the Risk Management Department directly reports to Board Risk 
Management Committee, and administratively reporting to the CEO.

Credit Risk Review
Credit Risk Division analyzes every credit proposal submitted by business units and provides a 
well-structured opinion necessary to manage and control credit risk within overall quantitative 
prudential norms and guidelines set up by the Bank Board. The Division is entrusted to review 
credit proposals in line with the applicable policies and standards in the Bank, together with 
fine tuning various rating models based on feedbacks or change in market scenario, approval 
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of any other action necessary to comply with requirements set forth in Credit Risk Management 
Policy/Central Bank of Kuwait guidelines or other requirements for managing credit risk. 
Collateral evaluation is done by independent evaluation agencies or as defined in the policies. 
Risk Management prepares a periodic portfolio and industry study on a comprehensive level. 

Credit Risk Control (Pre-Fact) is entrusted with the responsibility of executing the credit 
administration process, ensuring compliance with appropriate legal, regulatory and Bank 
policies and procedures before submitting them to the approval authorities. The Credit Risk 
division also monitors the calculations and requirement of provisions for delinquencies, if any. 

Market Risk
RMD monitors liquidity risks, market risks and profit rate risk on a regular basis. Internal 
precautionary measures of risk are in place for managing the liquidity, market and profit rate 
risks of the Bank. Assets Liability Management Committee (ALCO) periodically reviews the 
stress testing in terms of the profit margin and liquidity risk. The Department monitors the 
above risks on a daily and monthly basis based on the various quantitative limits and trend 
analysis.

Operational Risk
This function considers Bank’s policies and procedures to identify, assess, control and monitor 
operational risk as part of overall risk management. Assessments of Operational Risk and 
Controls are conducted across the Bank through self-assessments by various departments. 
Proactive control mechanisms have been conducted through well-established process for 
procedure and policy reviews. Losses and other related events are monitored and appropriate 
mitigation recommendations are provided. The Bank’s business and support departments 
have a primary responsibility for identifying, assessing and managing their operational risks. 
They employ internal control techniques to reduce their likelihood or impact to tolerable levels 
within the Bank’s risk appetite. Where appropriate, risk is mitigated by way of insurance.

Business Continuity Management (BCM)
BCM strategy in KIB addresses the risks inherent with unexpected business interruptions and 
the business continuity management system designed, implemented and maintained provides 
a rigorous mechanism to ensure that its systems and procedures are capable to manage 
business disruptions as defined by its steering committee. Technical, Functional and Simulation 
exercises are undertaken continuously to test the preparedness. The Bank has been awarded 
the International Organization for Standardization, ISO 22301:2012 Certificate for “Business 
Continuity Management System”. KIB success in obtaining the ISO 22301:2012 Certificate is 
an evidence that the Bank operates an active and advanced banking system in all its activities 
along with the advanced systems applied by the Bank. KIB is the first bank in Kuwait to obtain 
an ISO 22301 certificate by BSI (British Standards Institute) in addition to being the first Bank to 
undergo a successful independent assessment while demonstrating compliance with global 
standards within clear demonstration of leadership.

Risk Policies and Procedures 
Risk Policies and Procedures Unit is an integral part of the risk management function in the 
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Bank and annually reviews the Bank’s risk policies and Procedures in co-ordination with the 
respective Bank departments.

Enterprise Risk Management
The Enterprise Risk Management Unit has an overview of the risks the Bank is exposed to 
and has the responsibility of setting up the Risk Strategy, Appetite and Tolerance levels. 
The Unit assesses the requirements of the Risk Management regarding additional tools and 
methodologies required for monitoring and reporting and leads the process of acquiring 
the same. The ICAAP and Stress testing methodology, results and reports are the direct 
responsibility of the unit.
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Briefing on the Activities of Shari’a Supervisory 
Board in 2017
Praise Be to Allah, and Peace be upon his Messenger, Mohammad, family and followers.

The Shari’a Supervisory Board in Kuwait International Bank presents hereunder this briefing 
on its activities in 2017:

• Eight meetings of the Shari’a Supervisory Board were convened and (51) resolutions were 
passed. The regulations embodied in these resolutions varied according to the various 
departments of the Bank.

• Shari’a governance project has been completed at Kuwait International Bank in line with the 
Central Bank of Kuwait’s regulations for Shari’a governance imposed on local banks and 
financial institutions.

• Seventy contracts and agreements were presented to Shari’a Supervisory Board until 
20/11/2017, from all departments and divisions. They varied in nature, as some were 
Murabaha contracts, Islamic Investment Sukuk, Ijarah contracts, Islamic deposits, computer 
services contracts and agency agreements, etc.

• In the area of awareness of Islamic banking, the Economic Fatawa Book produced by the 
Shari’a Supervisory Board of the Bank, was printed in English and distributed to the Bank’s 
Departments, divisions, branches and customers.

• As for Shari’a education, training courses have been held on the following programs, 
“Fundamentals of the Islamic Banking Business & its Products”, “Developed Products in 
Islamic Banks”, “the Professional Banker for Islamic Banks”, “Money Markets, Financial Tools,  
Manipulation Techniques at Stock Exchange and Shari’a  Resolutions”, “New Financing and 
Investment Contracts for Islamic Banks”, and “Islamic Investment Funds”.

• Training also covered Shari’a qualification courses to the new employees. Fourteen training 
courses were held, in which, one hundred seventy seven (177) staff participated.

• Kuwait International Bank has also organized Holy Quran Memorization Contest for the 
children of the Bank’s staff and customers under the auspices of Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah 
Al-Sabah, Chairman.

• Concerning Shari’a Audit, it has been confirmed that the Bank’s activities have been 
performed in accordance with Shari’a regulations laid down by the Shari’a Supervisory 
Board in the Bank. In addition, the Shari’a Supervision annual plan approved for 2017, has 
been implemented for the first half and the second half of 2017.

• The Internal Shari’a Audit Department replied to all inquiries received from the Bank’s staff, 
customers or visiting post-graduate students of the university, and provided them with 
information relevant to conversion into Islamic banking and the Shari’a considerations in 
Islamic Banking, finance, and investment transactions.

• All these tasks have been completed, with the grace of Allah, with positive cooperation of all 
managers and staff members in the Bank.
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Corporate Governance Framework     

Over the past four years, Kuwait International Bank has made great strides in implementing 
Corporate Governances regulations issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait. This has been 
evidenced by developing and applying comprehensive Corporate Governance frameworks 
and by implementing Corporate Governance instructions aligned with the Board vision and 
strategy and consistent with sound and well-constructed policies. The Bank’s organizational 
structure has been made with clarity and transparency in order to apply a balanced authority 
ladder among the board and Executive Management, which shall conform with Corporate 
Governance principles, and shall clearly identify the responsibilities of each of the board, the 
Executive Management, and the regulatory officers. Additionally, Kuwait International Bank is 
in full compliance with the best applicable Islamic Banking standards.

In conformity with CBK regulations issued on 20.12.2016 concerning Shari’a Corporate 
Governance, Kuwait International Bank has accomplished all the requirements as per 
regulations. However, full implementation of such regulations shall be made by 1/1/2018, as 
stated in the aforesaid regulations.

The stakeholders of the Bank thoroughly believe that issuance of such regulations comes 
in light of the overwhelming development of Islamic banking industry and the progressive 
evolvement of its operations, both size and quality wise, since the enactment of Law No. 30 of 
2003 for Islamic banks and the Central Bank of Kuwait’s regulations in this respect.

One of the most prominent accomplishments of the Bank in 2017 in this respect was developing 
and amending policies to cover the principles of Shari’a supervisory governance including, for 
example but not limited to, oversight and accountability. These policies have also identified the 
roles and responsibilities of the board, the Executive Management, and the Shari’a Supervisory 
Board within the context of Shari’a Supervisory governance. They have also reflected the 
independence of Internal Shari’a Audit Department.  

In addition, efficiency and adequacy standards concerning the educational qualifications 
and experiences of the Shari’a Supervisory Board members have been set. Furthermore, it 
is for Shari’a Supervisory Board members to comply with confidentiality requirements and to 
coordinate among themselves so as to provide unanimous opinions and Fatawa to the Bank. 

The Internal Shari’a Audit policy, scope of work, terms and conditions and qualifications of 
Shari’a auditors have been also put in place. 

Finally, Kuwait International Bank represented by its Board of Directors, Executive Management, 
and all staff  have always been in compliance with all rules and regulations issued by regulators 
and by Corporate Governance Manual as approved by the Board of Directors with a view to 
apply the best sound corporate governance regulations.  

Governance Manual Applications for KIB 
Corporate governance manual covers nine sections in line with the Central Bank of Kuwait 
regulations. These sections incorporate the Board of Directors, Executive Management, the 
Bank’s behavioral values (ethics), the rules governing related parties transactions, and internal 
controls. It also tackles full recognition of the operational structure of the Bank’s businesses, 
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resultant risks as well as the prominent role of Risk Management Department in this respect. 
In addition, the sections confirm sound application of disclosure and transparency principles, 
remunerations policies and systems, and protection of stakeholders and shareholders rights. 
Therefore, the Board of Directors emphasizes full compliance and application of the aforesaid 
sections as indicated in the content of the Bank’s annual report in addition to the following:

The Board’s Overall Responsibility
The Board has set the strategic objectives of the Bank, risk strategy and governance 
guidelines, whereby it oversees the performance of the Executive Management. The Board 
also approves the internal controls and ensures the effectiveness thereof, and oversees the 
Bank’s departments compliance with the strategic plan and the approved policies, as required 
by laws and regulations and by virtue of the Central Bank of Kuwait’s instructions.  In addition, 
the board reviews and ensure integrity of related parties transactions and ensures that all the 
Bank’s risks are soundly managed.

Code of Conduct (Behavioral Values) 
The Board through the Code of Conduct and Ethics defines appropriate governance practices 
for its own work and has in place the means to ensure that such practices are followed and 
periodically reviewed for ongoing improvement. The Board takes the lead in establishing the 
“tone at the top” and in setting professional standards and corporate values that promote 
integrity for the Bank, senior management and staff members.

Sound governance practices have been set in line with the standards governing the professional 
behavior of the Bank’s stakeholders, whereby a code of conducts and ethics was laid down 
including a clear definition of conflict of interest. The code of conducts and ethics has been 
circulated to all Bank staff and board members for signature acknowledging the content 
thereof.

In this context, the Bank constantly provides the required support to all regulatory-related 
posts with a view to secure efficiency and sufficiency of all operations and internal controls 
pertinent to related parties transactions and to ensure that all operations are in line with relevant 
approved polices. Furthermore, the Bank has policies and procedures governing the credit 
facilities extended to Board members and related parties, all in line with the regulatory rules 
and instructions, in order to ensure no preferential treatment for Board members, such as 
disallowing them from attending any meetings that, directly or indirectly, discuss or vote for any 
facilities extended to them personally.

In addition, the stakeholders of the Bank have been always keen on applying the professional 
code of conduct concerning utilizing internal information about the Bank’s position for personal 
interests and this applies over all board members and staff. 

The Executive Management of the Bank has been always keen on protecting customers’ interests 
by laying down adequate mechanisms to deal with customers’ complaints, in compliance with 
CBK instructions related to customer protection and meeting the requirements of all customer 
segments, particularly customers with special needs.
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Conflict of Interest
The Bank has a formal written comprehensive Conflict of Interests Policy related to the matters 
and possibilities. 

Banking Confidentiality
The Bank gives the highest priority to banking confidentiality as a corner stone of its business 
and in its dealings with its customers. The Bank’s policies on keeping the confidentiality of 
banking business, stipulate the following:

• The necessity that Board members and the Bank’s staff keep the banking confidentiality of 
information and data of the Bank and its clients, and the information and data of the clients 
of other banks, to which they have access while performing their duties.

• Non-disclosure of the Bank’s or its clients’ information and data unless by the authorized 
persons, and to the extent allowed by the Bank’s internal rules, regulations and policies.

• Maintaining the security of information of the Bank and its clients and setting the regulatory 
controls to prevent access to the same by anyone save for the authorized persons. Thus, 
the Bank’s Board of Directors shall be responsible, via Disclosure Policy Manual, for laying 
down the control systems to restrict access to information and data only by the authorized 
persons, and shall ensure that the control systems would prevent leakage of any banking 
information in breach of banking confidentiality.

• The Board and Senior Management shall recognize their responsibility for developing security 
awareness in the Bank in a way that enhances and maintains banking confidentiality.

• The significance of not exploiting any information about the Bank’s status which might be 
made available to a Board member or any of the Bank’s staff for serving personal or other 
related parties interests ought to be secured and complied with.

• The Bank’s internal audit department function shall monitor implementation of such policies. 

Related Parties
The Bank has a written policy for Related Party Transactions which includes the rules and 
procedures regulating operations with related parties. The Bank keeps records of all related 
party transactions which are subject to an appropriate audit. The Bank keeps updated records 
of these parties in order to control any transaction with them. All related party transactions are 
disclosed in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) applicable to 
this effect.

Disclosure and Transparency 
The Bank understands that the disclosure system is an effective tool for influencing the Bank’s 
behavior and protecting investors, and enhancing their confidence in the Bank. Therefore, 
the Bank constantly seeks to ensure accuracy of the disclosed information as one of the 
Bank’s vital objectives. The Bank shall provide its shareholders and investors with accurate, 
comprehensive, detailed, sufficient, and timely essential information to be able to evaluate the 
Bank’s performance, and make informed decisions. The information and data in the annual 
and quarterly reports are also published on the Bank’s website in Arabic and English. The 
Bank is committed to disclose, in timely manner, all material information by the Disclosure 
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Unit, while maintaining adequate controls in place to disclose any essential information 
pertinent to the Bank on time. Disclosure of information is carried out in line with IFRS and CBK 
instructions; including but not limited to; Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR), and the applicable 
rules and regulations. Additionally, our Bank effectively communicates with its customers via 
social communication channels with a view to increase customer-awareness of our banking 
products and to ensure protection and integrity of our customers’ banking information.

Operation Organizational Structure:   
The Bank adopts sound and effective methods to ensure that the Board of Directors is informed 
with the material risks and issues that influence the Bank and its subsidiary, and also that 
sound effective measures and systems are in place for obtaining the required information from 
the Bank and its subsidiary. An operation organizational structure has been established in 
order to mitigate the potential risks affecting this structure so that unnecessary sophisticated 
structures can be avoided. 

Protection of Shareholders Rights
The Bank has been always keen on protecting the shareholders rights and treating them equally. 
The shareholders should have the right to review and participate in the decisions related to 
amending the Bank’s Articles of Association, as well as the decisions which might affect the 
Bank’s future or activity. Our Bank provides all the information required for shareholders on 
time and by appropriate means to help them perfectly practice their rights.

Protection of Stakeholders’ Rights
Stakeholders have a vivid and vital role in the success of the Bank. In accordance with Law 
No. 32 of 1968 concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait, and the regulation of banking 
business, the Bank has been always keen on protecting the rights of stakeholders. The board 
understands that the success of the Bank is finally achieved by collaborated efforts of different 
parties involved including depositors, debtors, and staff. The Bank’s policies and practices 
confirm the importance of respecting the rights of stakeholders in line with the relevant bylaws, 
rules and regulations.

Organizational Structure 
The Board has approved a new organizational structure in 2017 in light of the constant progress 
of our Bank towards achieving the strategic ambitions of the Bank. The following is Kuwait 
International Bank’s organizational structure: 
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Board of Directors
The Bank’s Board is fully responsible for the Bank and for overseeing the performance of 
the Executive Management, including the granting of approvals, supervision, monitoring 
the implementation of the strategic objectives of the Bank, risk strategy, and ensuring the 
implementation of sound governance standards. 

The Board of Directors consists of nine non-executive elected members. Election and 
membership renewal takes place every three years during the General Assembly meeting 
in accordance with applicable rules and regulations issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait. 
The Board of Directors shall perform its duties through its offshoot committees, and shall 
be responsible for setting all policies and taking decisions and shall ensure appropriate 
strategy implementation. The Board of Directors incorporates appropriate number of members 
sufficient for establishing the required offshoot committees in application of sound governance 
regulations. 

The Board is also responsible for all the Bank’s operations, financial soundness, compliance 
with the Central Bank of Kuwait’s regulations, and maintaining the interests of shareholders, 
depositors, creditors, staff and other stakeholders. The board shall also ensure that the Bank’s 
administrative work is properly carried out and in accordance with the effective laws and 
regulations and in line with the Bank’s internal policies and procedures. 

In addition, segregation of duties between Chairman and CEO is duly considered ensuring 
nonexistence of any kinship relation that may affect the independence of any of their decisions.

In 2017, the Bank’s Board of Directors has monitored the progress of the Bank’s 2015-2020 
strategy and has taken several significant decisions pertinent to approving the resolutions 
of different Board committees, approving and updating the internal control framework and 
approving a number of important policies and procedures. In addition, it has rendered a 
number of decisions pertinent to upgrading information systems and applications including 
update of the customer services’ automated response system and electronic services system 
through the internet and mobile phones. 

Meetings of the Board of Directors and its Committees
The Board of Directors approved formation of Board committees with a view to enhance effective 
supervision and control of the Bank’s processes and activities and to ensure application of best 
practices. The following table shows the attendees of Board and Board committee meetings: 
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13 21 7 6 6 12 18

The minimum number of meetings 6 12 4 2 2 4 6

Names of the Board of Directors 
Members Number of Meetings attended by the Board Members

Sheikh\ Mohammed Jarrah Al-
Sabah 13 18 - - 6 - -

Mr.Raed Jawad Bukhamseen 12 18 - 6 - 8 18
Dr. Haider Hassan Al-Jumaa 13 - 7 - - - -
Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen 12 19 1* 6 - - -
Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal 12 18 - - 5 12 16
Mr. Ahmed Ibrahim Al Asfour 4 - 5 2 - - -
Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafie 12 19 - - - 10 17
Mrs. Najat Hamad Al-Suwaidi 13 - - 6 6 12 -
Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al-Trad 13 - 7 1* 4 - 16

*On 19/10/2017,  Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen has joined Board Audit Committee and Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al-Trad has joined The Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee. 

Members of the Board assumed their steering duties, held their responsibilities during the 
meetings to manage the Bank’s several businesses, and worked out for the well utilization of 
the human and financial resources of the Bank. The Board convened 13 meetings during the 
last year, while the Bank’s Articles of Association stipulates for convening at least six meetings 
per annum. The Board rendered 123 decisions during the year, in addition to 5 decisions 
taken by circulation. The following is the formation of the committees and most significant 
accomplishments in 2017.

Board Finance & Investment Committee (BFIC)
The role of this Committee is to safeguard and protect the Bank’s asset quality, and ensure that 
exposures to finance and investment risks match with the rules and regulations issued by the 
Central Bank of Kuwait and the Bank’s applicable policies, and that finance transactions ensure 
the highest returns and do not have adverse impacts on the financial stability of the Bank. The 
Committee also ensure that the Executive Management is fully aware of the exposures to 
finance and investment risks in the Bank, and continuously monitor such exposures and the 
non-performing finance and investment transactions, and take all remedial actions necessary 
to maintain the Bank interests and the quality of its assets. 
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The Committee is composed of the following members:

1. Sheikh\ Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah Chairman 

2. Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen  Vice Chairman 

3. Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen  Member

4. Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafie Member

5. Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal  Member

The Board Finance & Investment Committee convened 21 meetings in 2017, and adopted 247 
decisions, in addition to 7 decisions by circulation. 

• Monitor the Bank´s finance and investment portfolio´s performance. 

• Review and approve the concurred recommendations by Credit Committee and 
Investment Committee concerning credit and investment transactions.  

Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen has become the Vice Chairman of the committee in 
replacement of Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen.  

Board Audit Committee 
The duties of the Committee are signified in setting the appropriate standards to ensure the 
application of internal audit by giving a larger scale of support and securing full independence 
from the Executive Management and by realizing that the external audit functions are 
performed in line with the approach that realizes the dual audit principle. The Committee also 
ensures compliance with the Bank’s internal policies and other pertinent laws, regulations and 
instructions. The Committee also monitors the level of compliance with the Islamic Shari’a laws 
and principles, as well as the funds for listed investment accounts, and ensures that expenses 
and profits are distributed according to the Islamic Shari’a provisions and system approved 
by Shari’a Supervisory Board. The Committee also evaluates the effectiveness and efficiency 
of internal Shari’a audit and its contribution in securing compliance with the Islamic Shari’a 
provisions and principles. The Committee also ensures that the internal control systems related 
to financial and management issues are characterized with financial comprehensiveness, and 
are controlled and audited in due course. The Committee also assists the Board of Directors in 
reviewing the financial reports, ensuring the Bank’s compliance with the legal and regulatory 
requirements, ensuring the adequacy of qualifications and expertise of independent auditors 
and creating an environment of disciplines and internal controls in the Bank.  

Most Significant Accomplishments by the Committee in 2017 

Changes in Committee Membership During the Year
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The Committee is composed of the following members:

1. Dr. Haider Hassan Al-Jumaa Chairman 

2. Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen Vice Chairman 

3. Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al-Trad Member

In 2017, the Committee convened 7 meetings and adopted 19 decisions.

• Review the quarterly and annual financial results. 

• Approve the Internal Audit Department’s plan for 2017. 

• Amend the Board Audit Committee´s Charter and forward the same to the Board 
to fulfill the requirements of Central Bank of Kuwait’s regulations for Shari’a 
governance. 

• Review ICR report for 2016. 

• Discuss all regulatory reports.  

Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen joined the committee as a Vice Chairman, in 
replacement of Mr. Ahmed Ibrahim Al Asfour.

Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee 
The role of this Committee is to submit the recommendations to the Board of Directors 
concerning the candidates to the Board in accordance with the approved policies, standards 
and instructions issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait with regard to controls of nomination 
to the membership of the Board. The Committee also monitors and ensures transparency of 
appointing the members of Shari’a Supervisory Board members, and estimates its effectiveness 
as a whole and on an individual basis. The Committee also warrants placement of transparent 
policies, rewards, and compensations for Shari’a Supervisory Board in line with their duties 
and responsibilities. The Committee also carries out periodic reviews of the requirements of the 
appropriate skills to the membership of the Board, and prepares descriptions of qualifications 
and efficiencies required for the membership of the Board tailored to the Bank business interest. 
The Committee also conducts annual assessment of the performance of the Board as a whole, 
and the performance of each member independently, as well as checking and endorsement 

Changes in Committee Membership During the Year

Most Significant Accomplishments by the Committee in 2017 
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of the standards of selection and measures for appointment of the Chief Executive Officer and 
executive managers. This Committee works also to ensure the setup and application of the 
remuneration framework to the Chief Executive Officer and the executive positions, reviews 
and submits the recommendations concerning the matters relevant to the changes in the pay 
and remuneration policy, including the end-of-service policies.

The Committee is composed of the following members:

1. Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen Chairman 

2. Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen Vice Chairman 

3. Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al-Trad Member

4. Mrs. Najat Hamad Al-Suwaidi Member

In 2017, the Committee convened 6 meetings and adopted 53 decisions, in addition to 2 
decisions by circulation.

• Approve all the adjustments and increments for the Bank’s staff.

• Approve the appraisals of the Board members for 2016.

• Follow up the implementation of Human Resources Department Projects.

• Review Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee’s Charter and raise the 
same to the Board.

• Approve the amendments to organizational structure of certain departments of 
the Bank. 

• Approve the policies covering Central Bank of Kuwait’s regulations concerning 
Shari’a Supervisory Governance, and approve the appraisal form of Shari’a 
Supervisory Board members. 

Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al-Trad has joined the committee in replacement of Mr. Ahmad 
Ibrahim Alasfour. 

Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen joined the committee as a Vice Chairman, in 
replacement of Mr. Ahmed Ibrahim Al Asfour.

Changes in Committee Membership During the Year

Most Significant Accomplishments by the Committee in 2017 
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Board Risk Management Committee 
The function of this Committee is to oversee the tasks of the Risk Management Department 
in the Bank and ensure that the Bank’s policies embody sound risk management practices 
and implementation thereof. The Committee also monitors the Risk Management Department’s 
compliance with the standards set by Kuwait Central Bank and the IFSB, provided however 
that they should not conflict with the provisions and principles of Islamic Shari’a and with 
the regulations issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait to this effect. The Committee conducts 
revision and assessment of the Bank’s capital adequacy and its distribution, as well as the 
soundness and adequacy of the Risk Management Department function. It also ensures that 
Senior Management is well aware and continually oversees the risks encountered by the Bank.

The Committee is composed of the following members:

1. Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal Chairman 

2. Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen Vice Chairman 

3. Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafie Member

4. Mrs. Najat Hamad Al-Suwaidi Member         

In 2017, the Committee convened 12 meetings and adopted 70 decisions. 

• Follow up on the internal ICAAP and ST results reports. 

• Approve all the amendments made to the Bank’s policies and procedures. 

• Review the Board Risk Management Committee’s Charter and refer it to the 
Board for approval. 

• Ensure the risks endured by the Bank by reviewing the risk appetite report, 
RAROC report and financing portfolio report. 

• Follow up on the system for weighing risks and data analysis. 

No Change. 

Changes in Committee Membership During the Year

Most Significant Accomplishments by the Committee in 2017 
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Board Corporate Governance Committee
The role played by this Committee is signified in assisting the Board of Directors to assume its 
oversight responsibilities vested in the Board with regard to the sound corporate governance, 
including the setup of a package guidelines of the Bank’s corporate governance, and 
oversight over implementation of the sound corporate governance. The Committee may seek 
external Shari’a advice after obtaining the board’s approval and coordinating with the Shari’a 
Supervisory Board and Board Audit Committee to ensure compliance with Shari’a Audit manual. 
The Committee functions incorporate protection of investment account holders’ interests and 
coordination with Shari’a Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee to ensure compliance 
with Shari’a Audit Manual.

The Committee also prepares and updates the Bank’s corporate governance manual and 
oversees related parties’ compliance therewith and reports the same to the Board of Directors.

The Committee is composed of the following members:

1. Sheikh\ Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah Chairman 

2. Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal Vice Chairman 

3. Mrs. Najat Hamad Al-Suwaidi Member

4. Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al-Trad Member

In 2017, the Committee convened 6 meetings and adopted 15 decisions.

• Approve the updated Corporate Governance Manual.

• Approve the amendments to organizational structure of certain departments. 

• Discuss the Report on Compliance with Corporate Governance Manual.  

• Review the implementation of the Central Bank of Kuwait’s regulations concerning 
Shari’a  Supervisory  Governance.

No Change. 

Changes in Committee Membership During the Year

Most Significant Accomplishments by the Committee in 2017 

73



Board Strategy Committee 
The committee shall supervise strategy implementation process and shall take relevant 
decisions. It shall provide necessary recommendations to the Board of Directors and its 
committees with respect to the expenses pertinent to strategy implementation as well as 
any changes to the Bank’s organizational structure on the Bank’s level, in general, and on 
departmental level in particular. The Committee shall be subject to the supervision of the Board 
and shall act on temporary basis throughout strategy implementation tenor. The Committee 
shall be re-formed at the beginning of each Board of Directors’ term.

The Committee is composed of the following members:

1. Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen Chairman 

2. Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal Vice Chairman 

3. Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafie Member

4. Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al-Trad Member

In 2017, the Committee convened 18 meetings and adopted 63 decisions, as well as 1 decision 
by circulation. 

• Approve certain budgets concerning strategy implementation for certain 
departments. 

• Follow up on the implementation of strategy implementation projects or make 
recommendation to the Board thereupon.

• Follow up on the implementation of strategic plan concerning branch designs 
and Bank’s logo proposals.

• Follow up on the implementation phases of 2017 strategic plan.

• Provide concurred recommendations concerning effective application of the 
Bank’s strategy to the Board for approval.

No Change. 

Changes in Committee Membership During the Year

Most Significant Accomplishments by the Committee in 2017 
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Overview of Executive Management & Its Committees 
The Acting CEO, supported by qualified and expert general managers, deputies and assistant 
managers implements the policies laid down by the Board. 

The Senior Management, under the supervision of the Board, ensures that the Bank’s operations 
conform with work strategy, risk appetite, and the policies approved by the Board. The Board also 
relies on the Bank’s efficient Senior Management to execute the Board decisions without any direct 
interference by the Board. 

The Senior Management is responsible before the Board for monitoring and supervising the Bank’s 
business, particularly with respect to compliance, independence of jobs and segregation of duties. 
The Senior Management shall regularly provide the Board with financial and administrative reports 
with full transparency and objectivity. 

Executive Management Committees 
The following are the Executive Management Committees:

• Executive Management Committee (EMC): EMC is responsible for following up implementation 
of all administrative projects and all matters related to HRD, IT, purchases, and administrative 
affairs. As subordinates to this Committee, the following committees were offshoot;  Branches 
committee, Product Development Committee and Technical Projects Committee.  

• Investment Committee: Investment Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving 
proposals for investments within the authority delegated to it in line with the approved delegation 
of authority, recommending new investment proposals to the BFIC, on all proposals that are 
beyond its delegated authority; reviewing and, if thought fit, recommending any proposal for 
sale, buyouts, mergers, acquisition or liquidation of existing financial or direct investments to 
BFIC; presenting to BFIC, for its review those investment proposals approved by the Investment 
Committee; reviewing on a periodic basis the Bank’s investment portfolio, including but not 
limited to, adherence to limits, and recommending suitable corrective actions to the BFIC; and 
evaluating investment key performance metrics based on a comparison of actual returns, and 
with such other benchmarks. 

• Credit Committee: Credit Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving proposals for 
financing within the authority delegated to it and conducting periodical reviews of the same; 
providing recommendation to BFIC or the Board, as appropriate, on all proposals that are 
beyond its delegated authority; reviewing and approving proposals for bank lines, including 
limits for correspondent banks, country limits and sectorial limits within its delegated authority; 
providing recommendation to BFIC, as appropriate, on all financing proposals that are beyond its 
delegated authority; reviewing and approving proposals for legal actions and/or any other action 
plan on problem financing within its delegated authority and making suitable recommendations 
to the BFIC, as appropriate, on all proposals beyond its delegated authority; annually evaluating 
the Bank’s financing performance and comparing it to past periods; and presenting to the BFIC, 
for its review those financing proposals approved by the Credit Committee.

• Provisions Committee: The Committee is entrusted with analyzing and assessing risk exposures 
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to the approved credit facilities and investments with a view to make the required provisions in 
compliance with CBK requirements and IAS. 

• Asset and Liability Committee: The Committee is the decision-making body for all matter 
pertinent to the optimum balance of assets and liabilities in the short, medium and long term to 
ensure profitability increase aligned with compliance with regulatory bodies’ requirements.

• Risk Management Committee: RMC is the decision-making body for all matters pertinent to 
market and profitability risks, Capital Adequacy Standard, and ICAAP on the short, medium 
and long terms. This will eventually reinforce business growth, increase profitability and ensure 
compliance with regulatory requirements. The committee meets on monthly basis, however it 
may convene further meetings upon the committee Chairperson’s request.

Statement of the Board of Directors on the Adequacy of 
Internal Control Systems
The internal control systems in Kuwait International Bank are regularly checked from efficiency 
and effectiveness perspectives and that these systems are comprehensive and are being 
monitored and reviewed on timely manner, within the framework of a transparent and 
clear organizational structure tailored to identify responsibilities and accountabilities. The 
implementation of the approved policies and procedures is monitored by the Internal Audit 
Department, which reviews the internal controls, duties and responsibilities, in addition to the 
appropriate use of authority. The Bank has adequate and effective internal control systems and 
risk management operations. The Board also approved organizational structure in line with 
the Bank’s work strategy, activities, job descriptions detailing the tasks and responsibilities, 
as well as the policies and procedures of all jobs and banking operations. All the above is 
being monitored by Internal Audit. All these policies and procedures identify the duties and 
responsibilities of each job, as well as the authority ladder and managerial lines at different 
administrative levels in a way that realizes duel control and the segregation of duties principle 
to avoid conflict of interests. 

The Bank performs annual internal control review (ICR) by independent auditors other than the 
Bank’s external auditor to ensure adequacy of internal control systems. 

The Bank also has controls, which enable the staff to directly contact the chairman to report 
any concerns which may implicate violation by any other staff in the Bank (Whistleblowing 
Policy).   

The Bank’s Board of Directors confirms that the internal control systems are adequate and 
satisfactory.

External Auditor Statement on the Sufficiency of the Bankʼs 
Internal Control Systems: 
Kuwait International Bank concluded a contract with an external audit firm to ensure soundness 
of the accounting books and the other records, as well as the internal control systems in the 
Bank. The external auditor confirmed the soundness of the internal control systems in the Bank 
for the financial year ending 31 December 2016. Hereunder is the statement of the external 
auditors on reviewing the internal control systems:
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The Board of Directors 

Kuwait International Bank

P.O.Box 22822, Safat 13089

State of Kuwait

21 June, 2017

Dear Sirs,

Report on Accounting and Other Records and Internal Control Systems

In accordance with our letter of engagement dated 30 March 2017, we have examined the 
accounting and other records and internal control systems of Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. 
(‘the Bank’) for the year ended 31 December 2016:

We covered the following departments and activities of the Bank:

• Investments Department    • Internal Audit 

• Retail Banking      • Anti-money Laundering and FATCA

• Financial Control and Planning   • Risk Management

• International Banking    • Customer Complaints Unit

• Combating Fraud and Embezzlement  • Treasury 

• Information technology    • Economic Research 

• Wholesale Banking     • Board administrative Affairs Unit

• Business Services     • Disclosure and Transparency Unit

• Human Resources      • Financial Securities Activities

• Legal Division     • Entity Wide Control Environment

• Corporate Governance    • Shari’a Supervision.

• Board of Directors and Committees  • Office of the Chairman

• Compliance & Regulatory Relationships  • Strategy Implementation Unit

• Information Security Unit    • Safe keeping of assets and confidentiality.

• Real Estate 

Our examination has been carried out as per the requirements of the Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK) 
circular dated 28 February 2017 considering the requirements contained in the Manual of General 
Directives issued by the CBK on 15 June 2003, Pillar IV of corporate governance instructions in 
respect of risk management and internal controls issued by the CBK on 20 June 2012, instructions 
dated 23 July 2013 concerning anti money laundering and combating financing of terrorism and  
the related instructions, instructions dated 9 February 2012 regarding confidentiality of customer’s 
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information and financial securities activities of the Bank and activities and instructions regarding 
internal controls with respect to prevention and reporting of fraud and embezzlement cases. 

As members of the Board of Directors of the Bank, you are responsible for establishing and 
maintaining adequate accounting and other records and internal control systems, taking into 
consideration the expected benefits and relative costs of establishing such systems and complying 
with the requirements contained in the CBK instructions mentioned in the above paragraph. 
The objective of this report is to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance on the extent 
to which the adopted procedures and systems are adequate to safeguard the assets against 
loss from unauthorized use or disposition; that key risks are properly monitored and evaluated; 
that transactions are executed in accordance with established authorization procedures and are 
recorded properly; and to enable you to conduct the business in a prudent manner.

Because of inherent limitations and internal control system, errors or irregularities may nevertheless 
occur and not be detected. Also, projection of any evaluation of the systems to future periods is 
subject to the risk that management information and control procedures may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with those procedures may 
deteriorate.

With the exception of the matters set out in the accompanying report, and having regard to the 
nature and volumes of the Bank’s operations, during the year ended 31 December 2016, and the 
materiality and risk rating of our findings, in our opinion:

a) The accounting and other records and internal control systems of the Bank were established 
and maintained in accordance with the requirements of the Manual of General Directives issued 
by the CBK on 15 June 2003 and letter issued by CBK on 28 February 2017,

b) The findings raised in the examination and assessment of the internal controls do not have 
a material impact on the fair presentation of the financial statements of the Bank for the year 
ended 31 December 2016, and

c) The actions taken by the Bank to address the findings referred in the report, including previous 
years’ findings, are satisfactory. 

Yours faithfully,

Qais M. Al Nisf

License No. 38 “A”

BDO Al Nisf & Partners
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Disclosure Requirements 

Major Shareholders 
Major shareholders of the Bank who holds 5% or more (directly or indirectly) of the Bank’s 
capital as on 31/12/2017:

Bukhamseen Group Holding, its Subsidiaries, Associates, and 
Allied Parties

35.45%

Public Institution for Social Security 8.24%

Remunerations Policy
KIB grants a number of remunerations and incentives to its staff based on the appraisal of each 
employee, which is carried out in conformity with specific technical and professional standards. 
The grant of these remunerations is tailored to the staff performance and to encourage them 
and raise their performance standard. The Bank, represented by the Board Nomination & 
Remuneration Committee, has concluded a contract with an external consultant to establish 
and introduce plans for the short term and long term remunerations for creation of attractive 
business environment and encourage staff on all job levels in Kuwait International Bank. The 
outsourced firm laid down a plan for determination of the role of each staff within the Bank’s 
team, as to identify his/her functions, duties and responsibilities, the objectives required to 
be realized, and to highlight the same to all staff. Thus, there is a framework on which staff 
performance is appraised and reviewed based on designated and clear-cut standards.

Staff Remunerations 
KIB grants remunerations and incentives to its staff based on the appraisal of each 
employee, which is carried out with specific technical and professional standards. The grant 
of remunerations encourages staff to raise their performance standard. KIB, represented 
by its Board of Directors has been working closely with a consulting firm to establish and 
introduce plans for the short term and long-term remunerations of staff on all job levels in 
Kuwait International Bank. To this end, the role of each staff within KIB team is defined though 
identifying his/her functions, duties and responsibilities, and the required objectives. 

Remunerations Weights & Standards for Staff Category
In 2017, the Bank has appraised the staff performance by assessing five main objectives 
according to the nature of work of the staff, as well as their behaviors in line with the standards 
of Kuwait International Bank. The process of annual performance appraisal of KIB staff has 
been completed under the supervision of Human Resources Department and, closely, in 
collaboration of the Bank’s management.
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Remunerations Packages* 
- Remunerations packages paid to Chairman and Members of Board of Directors amounted 

to KD594 thousand for the year ending 31 Dec. 2017. 

- Total remunerations packages paid to five of senior executives who received the highest 
remunerations in the Bank, including the Acting Chief Executive Officer, in addition to General 
Manager of Financial Control & Planning Department, the General Internal Auditor, the Acting 
General Manager of Risk Management Department amounted to KD1,101 thousand for the 
year ending 31 Dec. 2017. 

- Total remunerations for higher management (all the 23 staff from Asst. GM and above) 
amounted to KD1,957 thousand, as they were paid KD1,459 thousand as fixed remunerations, 
in addition to KD498 thousand as variable remunerations for the year ending 31 Dec. 2017.  

- Remunerations for staff participating in risk embedded activities (including Acting Chief 
Executive Officer, General Managers and their Deputies and Assistants for the core operation 
departments in the Bank), totaling 10 people, amounted KD1,203 thousand, out of which 
KD889 thousand as fixed remunerations and KD314 thousand as variable remunerations for 
the year ending 31 Dec. 2017. 

- Remunerations for Financial Control and Risk Control Staff (Heads of Departments and Units 
at Financial Control & Planning Department, Risk Management Department, Internal Audit 
Department, Compliance Unit and Anti Money Laundering Department and the staff who 
are responsible to ensure compliance with instructions of regulators), totaling 15 people, 
amounted to KD646 thousand, out of which KD498 thousand as fixed remunerations and 
KD148 thousand as variable remunerations for the year ending 31 Dec. 2017. 

* This term refers to total remunerations including, salaries, wages, allowances and the like, as well as periodic or annual bonuses 
pertinent to performance and incentive plans.  

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
In view of our firm belief in the Bank’s role and responsibility towards our society, 2017 has 
witnessed the Bank’s effective contributions in various social initiatives and programs as 
indicated in the Social Responsibility Report for 2017.
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      ل     خل   خ             ح   خ            ح   ي ن  7132    ب   13       ن  ي        ز                      
  إل ض   ت     نة    ن هية  ذ ك       خ  ه       قة       ق ت   نق  ة       ة             ية   غي  ت     ق     ي ن    آلخ 

   خص    ي   ت    ح  بية   ه  ة.  ل   بي ن ت      ية       ة         ذ ك 
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  ألخالقي ت       عة   ق ً   يث  عن     ق   عن   قيق   بي ن ت      ية       ة".  نحن    ح    ت  "  ؤ  ي ت    قب ق م
ق ن        ء    ؤ  ي  ن  ق         عن                    ي   ألخالقي ت    هنية    ح  بين.      هنيين   ح  بين     هنية

        ن  ع يه     ية  يث                      ي   ألخالقي ت    هنية    ح  بين.  إنن  ن  ق        ة     قيق   ألخالقية   ق ً 
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  ي    ي          صيل عن  ي ية       ن    ل      ن  ذ   أل       إط     قيقن   ه.  ذ   أل   .   ل   ي    قل
 

     قيق: ثن ء ق ن    ح       ي                قيق    ئي ية      
 

       ل    ن  ة نخ  ض قي 
 

   ب   ن ج  نب    قييم            أنه  ذ  ية    جة  بي   ن ي ة      ى  أل   م   ذي        ل    ن إ   قييم  نخ  ض قي ة 
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     ن  ة.       ل     ن       ق ت   نق  ة      قب ية    ث    

 
       بط  ذ ك  ن ع م    أ    ن    ق    ت    ن إج         ج   ت( % 86.16)       ثل ن بة        ل    ن أل  ية  نظ  ً 

     قيق    ئي ية.  م ع ض    س  ي  ة  خ   ت  نخ  ض   قي ة       ي   ت    ح  بية            ب   إ   ذ     خ ط  
 .      ة      ية  ل   بي ن ت  72  إل ض ح     الئ       خ ط        ض       قة  إل     ت ع ض 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P.
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P.

(the “Bank”) and its subsidiary (together, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted for use by 
the State of Kuwait.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and 
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in 
that context.

Impairment of financing receivables
Impairment of financing receivables is a highly subjective area due to the level of judgment 
applied by management in determining provisions, which is dependent on the credit risk 
related to that financing receivable. Certain judgments applied by management in accounting 
for impairment of financing receivables include the identification of impairment events, the 
valuation of collateral and assessment of customers that may default, and the future cash flows 
of financing receivables granted.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P. (continued)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Key Audit Matters (continued)
Due to the significance of financing receivables (representing 68.08% of the total assets) 
and the related estimation uncertainty, this is considered a key audit matter. The basis of the 
impairment provision policy is presented in the accounting policies and disclosures related to 
exposure to credit risk are presented in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures included the assessment of controls over the granting, recording and 
monitoring processes of financing receivables to confirm the operating effectiveness of the 
key controls in place. In addition, we assessed the methodologies, inputs and assumptions 
used by the Group in identifying the impaired facilities and determining the adequacy of 
impairment provision. We tested a sample of financing receivables, and assessed the criteria 
for determining whether an impairment event had occurred, by focusing on those with the 
most significant potential for impairment due to increased uncertainty of recovery in the 
current market circumstances and specifically challenged management’s assessment of the 
recoverable amount.

In addition to testing the key controls, we selected samples of financing receivables granted 
as at the reporting date and assessed critically the criteria for determining whether an 
impairment event had occurred and therefore whether there was a requirement to calculate an 
impairment provision. For the samples selected, we also verified whether all impairment events 
as identified by us had also been identified by the Bank’s management. Our selected samples 
also included non-performing financing receivables, where we assessed management’s 
forecast of recoverable cash flows, valuation of collaterals, estimates of recovery on default 
and other sources of repayment. For the performing financing receivables, we assessed that 
the borrowers did not exhibit any possible default risk that may affect the repayment abilities.

We have also assessed appropriateness of the Bank’s financial statement disclosures on 
allowance for impairment of financing receivables as detailed on Note 11.

Other information included in the Group’s 2017 Annual Report
Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the 
information included in the Group’s 2017 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the report of the Bank’s Board of 
Directors, prior to the date of our auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the remaining 
sections of the Group’s 2017 Annual Report after the date of our auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P. 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. 
(the “Bank”) and its subsidiary (together, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
 
Impairment of financing receivables 
 
Impairment of financing receivables is a highly subjective area due to the level of judgment applied by 
management in determining provisions, which is dependent on the credit risk related to that financing 
receivable. Certain judgments applied by management in accounting for impairment of financing 
receivables include the identification of impairment events, the valuation of collateral and assessment of 
customers that may default, and the future cash flows of financing receivables granted. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 

KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P. (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P. 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. 
(the “Bank”) and its subsidiary (together, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
 
Impairment of financing receivables 
 
Impairment of financing receivables is a highly subjective area due to the level of judgment applied by 
management in determining provisions, which is dependent on the credit risk related to that financing 
receivable. Certain judgments applied by management in accounting for impairment of financing 
receivables include the identification of impairment events, the valuation of collateral and assessment of 
customers that may default, and the future cash flows of financing receivables granted. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 

KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P. (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
(continued)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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 يأالر
"      عة"(               ة )     إ يه     ً         ه)"  بنك"(                .م.ك.  بنك   ق   ققن    بي ن ت      ية       ة 

      ل     خل   خ             ح   خ            ح   ي ن  7132    ب   13       ن  ي        ز                      
  إل ض   ت     نة    ن هية  ذ ك       خ  ه       قة       ق ت   نق  ة       ة             ية   غي  ت     ق     ي ن    آلخ 

   خص    ي   ت    ح  بية   ه  ة.  ل   بي ن ت      ية       ة         ذ ك 
 

      ن       بي ن ت      ية       ة      قة   ب        ع   ة   ن ج ي    ن           ة  عن      ز                     عة 
 عن    ئه                    ق  ه    نق  ة       ة    نة    ن هية  ذ ك       خ   ق ً       ي       ية  7132    ب   13       

    ية    طبقة       ة       .   ق       
 

 أساس الرأي
        ق   ن    ق ً      ي      قيق      ية. إ    ؤ  ي  ن  طبقً     ك       ي     حة   ز    ن      صيل  أع  ل     قيق ق  ق ن  

  ألخالقي ت       عة   ق ً   يث  عن     ق   عن   قيق   بي ن ت      ية       ة".  نحن    ح    ت  "  ؤ  ي ت    قب ق م
ق ن        ء    ؤ  ي  ن  ق         عن                    ي   ألخالقي ت    هنية    ح  بين.      هنيين   ح  بين     هنية

        ن  ع يه     ية  يث                      ي   ألخالقي ت    هنية    ح  بين.  إنن  ن  ق        ة     قيق   ألخالقية   ق ً 
   ن  بة   ق  م    س    نن   ن إ   ء   ي     قيق.

 
 أمور التدقيق الرئيسية
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     قيق: ثن ء ق ن    ح       ي                قيق    ئي ية      
 

       ل    ن  ة نخ  ض قي 
 

   ب   ن ج  نب    قييم            أنه  ذ  ية    جة  بي   ن ي ة      ى  أل   م   ذي        ل    ن إ   قييم  نخ  ض قي ة 
 أل   م         ض.   ن  ين       ل     ن   خذ   إل         ح       خ   ت            ع ى  خ ط   الئ          بطة 

ق   ح        ث  نخ  ض   قي ة   قييم   ض      قييم     الء   ذ ن        ل    ن   خذ ه   إل           ح  بة عن  نخ  ض قي ة 
     ن  ة.       ل     ن       ق ت   نق  ة      قب ية    ث    

 
       بط  ذ ك  ن ع م    أ    ن    ق    ت    ن إج         ج   ت( % 86.16)       ثل ن بة        ل    ن أل  ية  نظ  ً 

     قيق    ئي ية.  م ع ض    س  ي  ة  خ   ت  نخ  ض   قي ة       ي   ت    ح  بية            ب   إ   ذ     خ ط  
 .      ة      ية  ل   بي ن ت  72  إل ض ح     الئ       خ ط        ض       قة  إل     ت ع ض 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P. 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. 
(the “Bank”) and its subsidiary (together, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
 
Impairment of financing receivables 
 
Impairment of financing receivables is a highly subjective area due to the level of judgment applied by 
management in determining provisions, which is dependent on the credit risk related to that financing 
receivable. Certain judgments applied by management in accounting for impairment of financing 
receivables include the identification of impairment events, the valuation of collateral and assessment of 
customers that may default, and the future cash flows of financing receivables granted. 
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  ألخالقي ت       عة   ق ً   يث  عن     ق   عن   قيق   بي ن ت      ية       ة".  نحن    ح    ت  "  ؤ  ي ت    قب ق م
ق ن        ء    ؤ  ي  ن  ق         عن                    ي   ألخالقي ت    هنية    ح  بين.      هنيين   ح  بين     هنية

        ن  ع يه     ية  يث                      ي   ألخالقي ت    هنية    ح  بين.  إنن  ن  ق        ة     قيق   ألخالقية   ق ً 
   ن  بة   ق  م    س    نن   ن إ   ء   ي     قيق.

 
 أمور التدقيق الرئيسية
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 

KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P. (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Bank and the 
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Bank’s Board 
of Directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. 
We further report that we obtained all the information and explanations that we required 
for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial statements incorporate all 
information that is required by the Capital Adequacy Regulations and Financial Leverage 
Ratio Regulations issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”) as stipulated in CBK Circular 
Nos. 2/RB, RBA/336/2014 dated 24 June 2014 and 2/I.B.S./343/2014 dated 21 October 2014 
respectively, the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, and its Executive Regulations ,as amended, or 
by the Bank›s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, that an 
inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations 
of the Capital Adequacy Regulations and Financial Leverage Ratio Regulations issued by 
the CBK as stipulated in CBK Circular Nos. 2/RB, RBA/336/2014 dated 24 June 2014 and 
2/I.B.S./343/2014 dated 21 October 2014 respectively, the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, and 
its Executive Regulations, as amended, or of the Bank’s Memorandum of Incorporation and 
Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred during the year ended 31 December 2017 
that might have had a material effect on the business of the Bank or on its financial position.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any 
violations of the provisions of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the CBK 
and the organisation of banking business, and its related regulations during the year ended 
31 December 2017 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Bank or on its 
financial position.

WALEED A. AL OSAIMI
LICENCE NO. 68 A
EY
AL-AIBAN, AL-OSAIMI & PARTNERS 
10 January 2018
Kuwait

BADER A. AL-WAZZAN
LICENCE NO. 62 A
DELOITTE & TOUCHE 
AL WAZZAN & CO.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF  
KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P. 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. 
(the “Bank”) and its subsidiary (together, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our 
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context. 
 
Impairment of financing receivables 
 
Impairment of financing receivables is a highly subjective area due to the level of judgment applied by 
management in determining provisions, which is dependent on the credit risk related to that financing 
receivable. Certain judgments applied by management in accounting for impairment of financing 
receivables include the identification of impairment events, the valuation of collateral and assessment of 
customers that may default, and the future cash flows of financing receivables granted. 
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The accompanying notes from 1 to 26 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

KD 000’s
Notes 2017 2016

Financing income 3 74,559 71,006

Finance cost and distribution to depositors 4 (25,514) (21,257)

Net financing income 49,045 49,749

Fees and commission income 5 9,281 8,789

Net gain from foreign exchange 861 815

Investment income 6 4,469 2,666

Other income 595 1,173

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 64,251 63,192

Staff costs (17,603) (16,109)

General and administrative expenses (13,288) (11,987)

Depreciation (1,889) (2,003)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES (32,780) (30,099)

Profit from operations before provisions and impairment losses 31,471 33,093

Provisions and impairment losses 7 (12,353) (13,505)

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 19,118 19,588

Provision for:

 Contribution for Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of
Sciences (KFAS)

(174) (178)

Contribution for National Labor Support Tax (NLST) (508) (520)

Contribution for Zakat (193) (197)

Board of Directors’ remuneration (450) (450)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 17,793 18,243

Attributable to: 17,701 18,203

Shareholders of the Bank 92 40

Non-controlling interests 17,793 18,243

 Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the
shareholders of the Bank

8 18.96 fils 19.50 fils
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The accompanying notes from 1 to 26 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

KD 000’s

2017 2016

Profit for the year 17,793 18,243

Other comprehensive income/(loss):

Items to be reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss

in subsequent periods

Financial assets available for sale:

Change in fair values 429 (2,938)

Transfer to consolidated statement of profit or loss on impairment 485 95

Transfer to consolidated statement of profit or loss on sale (317) 271

597 (2,572)

Item that will not be classified to consolidated statement of

profit or loss in subsequent periods

 Revaluation of property and equipment (157) (77)

 Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year included directly in
equity

440 (2,649)

Total comprehensive income for the year 18,233 15,594

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the Bank 18,123 15,531

Non-controlling interests 110 63

Total comprehensive income for the year 18,233 15,594
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The accompanying notes from 1 to 26 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

KD 000’s
Notes 2017 2016

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks 9 19,450 18,140
Due from banks 10 402,902 393,296
Financing receivables 11 1,304,416 1,268,456
Investment securities 12 83,840 86,007
Investment in an associate 13 1,518 1,533
Investment properties 14 60,391 40,235
 Other assets 17,298 12,789
Property and equipment 15 26,225 25,574

TOTAL ASSETS 1,916,040 1,846,030

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Due to banks and financial institutions 16 394,438 418,077
Depositors' accounts 17 1,203,213 1,124,832
Other liabilities 18 54,498 48,126

TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,652,149 1,591,035

EQUITY
Share capital 19 103,732 103,732
Share premium 20 49,480 49,480
Treasury shares 19 (45,234) (45,234)
Other reserves 20 152,589 143,803

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE BANK 260,567 251,781
Non-controlling interests 3,324 3,214

TOTAL EQUITY 263,891 254,995

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,916,040 1,846,030

Mohamed Said El Saka
Acting Chief Executive Officer

Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah
Chairman  
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The accompanying notes from 1 to 26 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The accompanying notes from 1 to 26 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

KD 000’s
Notes 2017 2016

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 17,793 18,243

Adjustments for:

 Net gain from foreign exchange (861) (815)

Dividend income 6 (1,203) (1,636)

Realised (gain)/loss from investment securities 6 (1,415) 252

Gain on sale of an associate  - (7)

Share of results from an associate 6 15 -

Gain from sale of investment property 6 (627) -

Rental income from investment properties 6 (1,239) (1,275)

Depreciation 1,889 2,003

Provisions and impairment losses 7 12,353 13,505

26,705 30,270

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Due from banks (61,234) 23,134

Financing receivables (69,316) (107,802)

Other assets (2,509) (2,228)

Due to banks and financial institutions (23,639) (65,881)

Depositors’ accounts 78,381 106,782

Other liabilities 7,381 9,235

Net cash used in operating activities (44,231) (6,490)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investment securities (93,546) (66,195)

Proceeds from sale of investment securities 95,406 40,718

Proceeds from sale of investment property 1,500 -

Purchase of property and equipment (2,579) (1,539)

Dividend income received 1,203 1,636

Rental income received 1,239 1,275

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 3,223 (24,105)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid (9,310) (8,338)

Net cash used in financing activities (9,310) (8,338)

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (50,318) (38,933)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 100,834 139,767

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 21 50,516 100,834
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2017



1. INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES 
Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. (the “Bank”) is a Kuwaiti public shareholding company 
incorporated in the State of Kuwait on 13 May 1973 as a specialised bank and is regulated by 
the Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”). The Bank’s shares are listed on the Boursa Kuwait.

In June 2007, CBK licensed the Bank to operate in accordance with Islamic Shariaá from 1 
July 2007. From that date, all activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Shariaá, as 
approved by the Bank’s Fatwa and Shariaá Supervisory Board. 

The Bank is engaged principally in providing Islamic banking services, the purchase and 
sale of properties, leasing, and other trading activities. Trading activities are conducted on 
the basis of purchasing various commodities and selling them on murabaha at agreed profit 
margin which can be settled in cash or on installment credit basis.

The registered office of the Bank is at West Tower – Joint Banking Center, P.O. Box 22822, Safat 
13089, Kuwait.

The Bank operates through 26 local branches (2016: 28) and employed 730 employees as of 
31 December 2017 (2016: 704).

The Bank owns 73.6% of issued share capital of Ritaj Takaful Insurance Company K.S.C.C. 
(“Ritaj”), Kuwait. Ritaj is engaged in providing Shariaá compliant insurance services.

The consolidated financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiary (together the “Group”) for 
the year ended 31 December 2017 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution 
of the Bank’s Board of Directors on 10 January 2018.

The Annual General Assembly (“AGM”) of the Bank’s shareholders has the power to amend 
these consolidated financial statements after issuance.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
regulations of the State of Kuwait for financial services institutions regulated by the CBK. These 
regulations require adoption of all International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) except 
for the International Accounting Standard ‘(IAS) 39: Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement’ requirement for collective provision, which has been replaced by the CBK’s 
requirement for a minimum general provision as described under the accounting policies for 
impairment and un-collectability of financial assets (Note 2.5).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis 
except for the measurement at fair value of financial assets classified as fair value through 
profit or loss, or financial assets classified as available for sale and property and equipment.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”) which is the 
functional currency of the Bank and Ritaj, rounded to the nearest thousand Dinars, except 
when otherwise stated.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are consistent with those used in the previous financial year, except for the adoption of the 
amendments to the existing standards relevant to the Group, effective from 1 January 2017, 
which did not result in any material impact on the accounting policies, financial position or 
performance of the Group.

2.3 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of 
issuance of the Group’s consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. The Group 
intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018)
The IASB issued IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ in its final form in July 2014 and is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 sets out the requirements for 
recognizing and measuring financial assets and financial liabilities, impairment of financial 
assets and hedge accounting. This standard replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement. 

The Group has determined the date of initial application for IFRS 9 to be 1 January 2018. 
The classification, measurement and impairment requirements are applied retrospectively by 
adjusting the opening consolidated statement of financial position at 1 January 2018. The 
Group will not restate the comparatives as permitted by IFRS 9.

(a) Classification and measurement 

The classification and measurement of financial assets will depend on how these are managed 
(the entity’s business model) and their contractual cash flow characteristics. These factors 
determine whether the financial assets are measured at amortised cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income or fair value through statement of profit or loss. 

Equity instruments are measured at fair value through profit or loss. However, the Group may, 
at initial recognition of a non-trading equity instrument, irrevocably elect to designate the 
instrument as fair value through OCI, with no subsequent recycling to consolidated statement 
of profit or loss. This designation is also available to non-trading equity instrument holdings on 
date of transition. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED (continued)
The adoption of this standard will have impact on the classification and measurement of 
Group›s financial assets but is not expected to have a significant impact on the classification 
and measurement of financial liabilities. Upon adoption of IFRS 9, the Group expects certain 
changes in classification of financial assets and related reclassifications between retained 
earnings and fair value reserve. The Group does not expect a material impact on retained 
earnings and fair value reserve due to changes in classification of financial assets

(b) Hedge accounting

The general hedge accounting requirements aim to simplify hedge accounting, creating a 
stronger link with risk management strategy and permitting hedge accounting to be applied to 
a greater variety of hedging instruments and risks. As at 31 December 2017, the Group does 
not have any hedge relationships. Hence, the hedging requirements of IFRS 9 will not have a 
significant impact on Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(c) Impairment of financial assets 

IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with a forward-looking ‘expected credit 
loss’ (“ECL”) model. This will require considerable judgment about how changes in economic 
factors affect ECLs, which will be determined on a probability-weighted basis.

Under IFRS 9, the impairment requirements apply to financial assets measured at amortised 
cost, debt instruments classified as fair value through other comprehensive income and 
certain loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. At initial recognition, allowance 
is required for expected credit losses (‘ECL’) resulting from default events that are possible 
within the next 12 months (’12-month ECL’). In the event of a significant increase in credit risk, 
allowance is required for ECL resulting from all possible default events over the expected life 
of the financial instrument (‘lifetime ECL’).

The Bank will determine the potential impact of the expected provision for credit losses in 
accordance with IFRS 9 during the period ended 31 March 2018. The Bank will also comply 
with instructions of Central Bank of Kuwait in this regard.

(d) Disclosures

The new standard also introduces expanded disclosure requirements and changes in 
presentation. These are expected to change the nature and extent of the Group’s disclosures 
about its financial instruments particularly in the year of the adoption of the new standard. The 
Group’s assessment included an analysis to identify data gaps against current process. The 
Group is in process of implementing the system and controls changes that it believes will be 
necessary to capture the required data.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED (continued)
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for financial years beginning on or after 
1 January 2018)

IFRS 15 was issued by IASB on 28 May 2014, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018. IFRS 15 supersedes IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue along 
with related IFRIC 13, IFRIC 15, IFRIC 18 and SIC 31 from the effective date. This new standard 
removes inconsistencies and weaknesses in previous revenue recognition requirements, 
provides a more robust framework for addressing revenue issues and improves comparability 
of revenue recognition practices across entities, industries, jurisdictions and capital markets. 

Revenue under IFRS 15 will need to be recognised as goods and services are transferred, to 
the extent that the transferor anticipates entitlement to goods and services. The standard will 
also specify a comprehensive set of disclosure requirements regarding the nature, extent and 
timing as well as any uncertainty of revenue and corresponding cash flows with customers. 
The Group has assessed the impact of IFRS 15. Based on the assessment, adoption of IFRS 15 
is not expected to have any material effect on the Group›s consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 16 Leases (effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2019)
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ with an effective date of annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. IFRS 16 results in lessees accounting for most leases 
within the scope of the standard in a manner similar to the way in which finance leases are 
currently accounted for under IAS 17 ‘Leases’. Lessees will recognise a ‘right of use’ asset 
and a corresponding financial liability on the statement of financial position. The asset will be 
amortised over the length of the lease and the financial liability measured at amortised cost. 
Lessor accounting remains substantially the same as in IAS 17. The Group is in the process of 
evaluating the impact of IFRS 16 on the Group›s consolidated financial statements.

2.4 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The financial statements of subsidiary is included in the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiary to bring its accounting policies 
in line with those used by the Bank. All significant intra-group balances, transactions and 
unrealized gains or losses resulting from intra group transactions and dividends are eliminated 
in full. The subsidiary’s financial statements are prepared either to the Bank’s reporting date or 
to a date not earlier than three months of the Bank’s reporting date.

Interest in the equity of subsidiaries not attributable to the Group is reported as non-controlling 
interests in the consolidated statement of financial position. Non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree is measured at the proportionate share in the recognized amount of the acquiree’s 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued) 
identifiable net assets. Losses are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if they exceed 
the non-controlling interest’s share of equity in the subsidiary. Transactions with non-controlling 
interests are treated as transactions with equity owners of the Group. Gains or losses on 
disposals of non-controlling interests without loss of control are recorded in equity.

On loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-
controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus 
or deficit arising on loss of control is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair 
value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted 
investee or as a financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition 
date, which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. The Group controls an 
investee if and only if the Group has:

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee);

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group 
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an 
investee, including:

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights;

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

• The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

• The recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

• If the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity 
interest in the acquiree; less

• The net recognised amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

Transactions costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that 
the Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

Financial instruments – Classification, recognition, de-recognition and measurement

Classification

As per IAS 39, the Group classifies its financial instruments as “financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss”, “loans and receivables”, “financial assets available for sale” or “financial 
liability other than at fair value through profit or loss”. Management determines the appropriate 
classification of each instrument at the time of acquisition. 

Cash and balances with banks, due from banks including tawarruq with CBK, financing 
receivables and certain other assets are classified as “loans and receivables”.

Loans and receivables 

These are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. The Bank offers Shariaá compliant products and services such 
as Murabaha, Istisna’a, Wakala and Ijara which are classified as “loans and receivables” and 
presented as financing receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position. The 
amount due is settled either by installments or on a deferred payment basis.

Murabaha is a sale agreement for commodities and real estate to “a promise to buy” customer, 
at a price comprising of cost plus agreed profit, after the Bank has acquired the asset.

Istisna’a is a sale contract between a contract owner and a contractor whereby the contractor 
based on an order from the contract owner undertakes to manufacture or otherwise acquire 
the subject matter of the contract according to specifications, and sells it to the contract owner 
for an agreed upon price and method of settlement whether that be in advance, by installments 
or deferred to a specific future date.

Wakala is an agreement whereby the Group provides a sum of money to a customer under an 
agency arrangement, who invests it according to specific conditions in return for a fee. The 
agent is obliged to return the amount in case of default, negligence or violation of any terms 
and conditions of the wakala.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Group as a lessor

Ijara receivable

Ijara is an Islamic transaction involving the purchase and immediate lease of an asset at cost 
where the lessor conveys to the lessee the right to use the asset for an agreed period of time 
in return for a payment or series of payments. At the end of the lease term the lessee has the 
option to purchase the asset. Ijara receivables are stated at the aggregate of the minimum 
lease payments due less provision for impairment, if any, and are presented net of deferred 
income.

Operating leases

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset 
are classified as operating leases.

Leased assets are stated at amounts equal to the net investment outstanding in the leases.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These are financial assets that are either financial assets held for trading or those designated 
as fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. A financial asset is classified in 
this category only if they are acquired principally for the purpose of generating profit from 
short-term fluctuation in price or if so designated by the management in accordance with 
a documented risk management or investment strategy and reported to key management 
personnel on that basis.

Financial assets available for sale

Financial assets available for sale (“AFS”) include equity investments and debt securities 
(i.e. Sukuks). Equity investments classified as available for sale are those, which are neither 
classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities 
in this category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and 
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in the market 
conditions.

After initial measurement, AFS financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value 
with unrealised gains or losses recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income and credited in the AFS reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the 
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in investment income, or the investment is determined to 
be impaired, when the cumulative loss is reclassified from the AFS reserve to the statement of 
profit or loss. Profit earned whilst holding AFS financial investments is reported as investment 
income using the effective interest rate method.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities which are not held for trading are classified as “other than at fair value 
through profit or loss”.

Financial liabilities include due to banks and financial institutions, depositors’ accounts created 
by Mudaraba and Wakala contracts and other liabilities. Mudaraba represents an agreement 
whereby the Bank and the customer share an agreed percentage of any profit earned on 
customers’ investments as agreed. Wakala represents an agreement whereby the Bank aims 
to provide a certain rate of return for the transactions entered on behalf of the customer.

Recognition and de-recognition

A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised using settlement date 
accounting i.e. the date that the Group receives or delivers the assets. Changes in fair value 
between the trade date and settlement date are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss, or in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in 
accordance with the policy applicable to the related instrument.

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within the time frame generally established by regulations or conventions in the 
market place.

A financial asset is de-recognised (in whole or in part) where: 

• the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired, or 

• the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation 
to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement, 
or 

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has 
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control 
of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement 
in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred 
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum 
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Property acquired on settlement of debt is stated at the lower of the related financing receivables 
and the current fair value of such assets. Gains or losses on disposal and revaluation losses 
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Measurement

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value of the consideration given 
plus transaction costs except for financial assets classified as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. Transaction costs on financial assets classified as investments at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

On subsequent measurement financial assets classified as “financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss” are measured and carried at fair value. Realised and unrealised gains/ 
losses arising from changes in fair value are included in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. “Loans and receivables” are carried at amortised cost using effective yield method, 
less any provision for impairment. Those classified as “financial assets available for sale” are 
subsequently measured at fair value until the investment is sold or otherwise disposed of, 
or the investment is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
previously reported in other comprehensive income is included in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss for the year.

“Financial liabilities other than at fair value through profit or loss” are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost.

Impairment and uncollectability of financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is deemed to be impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one 
or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss 
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
event’) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment 
may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in profit or principal payments, the probability that 
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate 
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in 
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost the Group first assesses individually whether 
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually 
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group 
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets 
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.

Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or 
continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated 
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and 
the loss is recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Facilities together with the 
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and 
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group. If, in a subsequent year, 
the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. 

Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is recorded when there is an indication 
that the impairment losses recognised for the asset no longer exist or have decreased and 
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. Except for equity instrument classified as available for sale, reversal of impairment 
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss to the extent the carrying 
value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. For available for 
sale equity investments, reversals of impairment losses are recorded as increases through 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial assets are written off when there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

General provision

In accordance with the CBK instructions, a minimum general provision is made on all applicable 
credit facilities (net of certain categories of collateral) that are not provided for specifically. The 
minimum general provision in excess of the present 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% for non-
cash facilities is retained as a general provision until further directive from the CBK.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
the recognised amounts and the Group intends to settle on a net basis.

Collateral pending sale

The Group occasionally acquires non-monetary assets in settlement of certain financing 
receivables. Such assets are stated at the lower of the carrying value of the related financing 
receivables and the current fair value of such assets. Gains or losses on disposal, and 
revaluation losses, are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Group provides financial guarantees, consisting of 
letters of credit, guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, being the premium received, in other 
liabilities. The premium received is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss in ‘fees and commission income’ on a straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. 
Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date and the amount recognized less 
cumulative amortization. When a payment under the guarantee is likely to become payable, 
the present value of the expected net payments less the unamortised premium, is charged to 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantees and letter of credit are assessed and provision for impairment is made in 
a similar manner to that for financing receivables.

Revenue recognition

Income from Murabaha, Istisnaa and Wakala are recognised on an effective yield basis which 
is established on initial recognition of the asset and is not revised subsequently. 

Income from Ijara is recognised over the term of the Ijara agreement to yield a constant rate of 
return on the net investment outstanding.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
The calculation of the effective yield includes all fees paid or received, transactions costs and 
discounts or premiums that are an integral part of the effective yield.

Fees and commission income that relate mainly to transaction and service fees is recognised 
as the related services are performed. 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Other fees 
are recognised as the services are provided.

Rental income from investment properties is recognised on a straight line basis over the period 
of the lease.

Once a financial instrument categorised as “financing receivables” is written down to its 
estimated recoverable amount, related income is thereafter recognised on the unimpaired 
portion based on the original effective yield rate that was used to discount the future cash flows 
for the purpose of measuring the recoverable amount.

Finance cost

Finance cost is directly attributable to due to banks and financial institutions and depositors’ 
accounts. All finance costs are expensed in the period they occur.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at rates of exchange ruling at the date of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies outstanding at the year-end 
are translated into Kuwaiti Dinars at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Any resultant 
gains or losses are taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Translation 
difference on non-monetary items classified as “at fair value through profit or loss” are reported 
as part of the fair value gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss whereas, 
where as those on non-monetary items classified as “available for sale” financial assets are 
included in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they 
are approved by the Bank’s shareholders in the Annual General Assembly. 

Dividends for the year that are approved by the Annual General Assembly after the reporting 
date are disclosed as an event after the reporting date.
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Statutory contributions

Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The Bank calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% of profit in accordance with the calculation 
based on the KFAS’s Board of Directors resolution, excluding transfer to statutory reserve from 
profit for the year.

National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

The Bank calculates NLST in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance 
Resolution No. 24 of 2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit for the year. Cash dividends from listed 
companies which are subject to NLST are deducted from the profit for the year to determine 
the taxable profit.

Zakat

Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit in accordance with the Ministry of Finance 
resolution No. 58/2007.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
includes, cash and balances with banks (as set out in Note 9) and Murabaha finance with 
banks (contractual maturity of 90 days or less) (as set out in Note 10).

Investment in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group exerts significant influence. Investment in 
associates is accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Where an associate is 
acquired and held exclusively for resale, it is accounted for as a non-current asset held for 
resale under IFRS 5.

Under the equity method, the investment in associate is initially recognised at cost and 
adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the Group’s share of the associate’s net 
assets. Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment 
and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. The Group recognises in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss its share of the total recognised profit or loss of the 
associate from the date that influence or ownership effectively commenced until the date that 
it effectively ceases. Distributions received from the associate reduce the carrying amount of 
the investment. Adjustments to the carrying amount may also be necessary for changes 
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in Group’s share in the associate arising from changes in the associate’s equity that have not 
been recognised in the associate’s profit or loss statement. The Group’s share of those changes 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Unrealised gains on transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
share in the associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of impairment in the asset transferred. An assessment for impairment of investments 
in associates is performed when there is an indication that the asset has been impaired, or 
that impairment losses recognised in prior years no longer exist. If such indication exists, the 
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited 
so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The associate’s financial statements are prepared either to the Group’s reporting date or to a 
date not earlier than three months of the Group’s reporting date using consistent accounting 
policies. Where practicable, adjustments are made for the effects of significant transactions or 
other events that occur between the reporting date of the associates and the Group’s reporting 
date.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any 
retained investment at fair value. Any difference between carrying amount of the investment in 
associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and 
proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Investment properties

Land and buildings, held for long-term capital appreciation and rental yields, and not occupied 
by the Group, are classified as investment properties. These also include properties acquired 
by the Group in settlement of financing receivables. Investment properties are carried at cost 
which includes purchase price and transaction costs less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation is computed on a straight 
line basis over the estimated useful lives of 20 years. The fair value is determined periodically 
by external valuers.

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
year end. The carrying amount of each item is reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets are written 
down to their recoverable amount and the impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated 
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statement of profit or loss. Impairment is tested at the lowest level of the cash generating unit 
(CGU) to which the item belongs.

An investment property is derecognised when either it has been disposed of, or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is 
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment 
property are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period of retirement 
or disposal.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a 
transfer from investment property to property and equipment, the deemed cost for subsequent 
accounting is the carrying value at the date of change in use. If property and equipment 
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with 
the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change in use.

When the Group begins to redevelop an existing investment property with a view to selling the 
property, it is transferred to trading properties at carrying value.

Property and equipment

Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings 
and impairment losses recognised after the date of the revaluation. Valuations are performed 
annually to ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its 
carrying amount.

Any revaluation change is credited to the revaluation surplus reserve in equity, except to the 
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, in which case the increase is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same 
asset recognised in the revaluation surplus reserve.

An annual transfer from the revaluation surplus reserve to retained earnings is made for the 
difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the assets and 
depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at 
the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net 
amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve 
relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.

The useful life of buildings is estimated to be 20 years.

Computer and other equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment loss. Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives of 3 - 5 years.
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Fair value measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 
liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated 
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable 
for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and.

Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

For financial instruments quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to 
quoted market prices. Bid prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. 
The fair value of investments in mutual funds, unit trusts or similar investment vehicles are 
based on the last published net assets value.

For unquoted financial instruments fair value is determined by reference to the market value 
of a similar investment, discounted cash flows, other appropriate valuation models or brokers’ 
quotes.

For financial instruments carried at amortised cost, the fair value is estimated by discounting 
future cash flows at the current market rate of return for similar financial instruments.

109

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2017



2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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For investments in equity instruments, where a reasonable estimate of fair value cannot be 
determined, the investment is carried at cost less impairment.

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a 
recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and 
liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the 
level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 
(CGU) recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. 
These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly 
traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

For non-financial assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as 
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer 
exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s 
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the 
asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Post-employment benefits

The Group is liable under Kuwait Labour Law to make payments under defined benefit plans to 
employees at cessation of employment. The defined benefit plan is unfunded and is based on 
the liability that would arise on involuntary termination of all employees on the reporting date. 
This basis is considered to be a reliable approximation of the present value of this liability.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when, as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of 
economic resources will be required to settle a present, legal or constructive obligation and the 
amount can be reliably estimated.

Treasury shares

The Bank’s holding in its own shares is stated at acquisition cost and is recognised in equity. 
The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, the weighted 
average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in the equity. When the 
treasury shares are sold, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, “treasury shares 
reserve”, which is not distributable until all the treasury shares are disposed. Any realised 
losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. 
Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the voluntary reserve and statutory 
reserve. Gains realised subsequently on the sale of treasury shares are first used to offset 
any previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings and the treasury 
shares reserve account. These shares are not entitled to any cash dividend that the Bank 
may propose. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of shares proportionately and 
reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

Contingencies

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are 
disclosed when an inflow of economic benefit is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are 
disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is 
remote.

Segment information

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that engages in business activities 
from which it earns revenues and incurs costs. The operating segments are used by the 
management of the Group to allocate resources and assess performance. Operating segments 
exhibiting similar economic characteristics, product and services and class of customers are 
appropriately aggregated and reported as reportable segments.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure 
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities 
affected in future periods.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the 
following judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Classification of investments

On acquisition of an investment, the Group decides whether it should be classified as “financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss” or “financial assets available for sale”.

The Group classifies investments as “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” if they 
are acquired primarily for the purpose of short term profit making or if they are managed and 
their performance is evaluated on a reliable fair value basis in accordance with a documented 
investment strategy. All other investments are classified as “available for sale”.

Impairment of financial assets available for sale

The Group treats “financial assets available for sale” equity investments as impaired when 
there has been a significant or prolonged decline in their fair value below their cost. The 
determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires significant judgement. In addition, 
the Group also evaluates among other factors, normal volatility in the share price for quoted 
equities and the future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted equities. Impairment 
may be considered appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial position 
of the investee, industry and sector performance; changes in technology and operational and 
financing cash flows.

Classification of real estate 

Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading, 
investment property, property under development or property and equipment. 

The Group classifies it as “trading property” if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary 
course of business.

The Group classifies it as “investment property” if it is acquired to generate rental income or for 
capital appreciation, or for undetermined future use.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (continued)
The Group classifies property as “property under development” if it is acquired with the 
intention of development.

The Group classifies property as “property and equipment” when it is acquired for owner 
occupation.

Estimation uncertainty and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Impairment losses on financing receivables and investments in debt instruments

The Group reviews problem financing receivables and investments in debt instruments on 
a regular basis to assess whether a provision for impairment should be recorded in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. In particular, considerable judgment by management 
is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining 
the level of provisions required. Such estimates are necessarily based on assumptions about 
several factors involving varying degrees of judgment and uncertainty.

Valuation of financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs

Valuation techniques for financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs includes 
estimates such as expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with 
similar terms and risk characteristics; recent arm’s length market transactions; current fair 
value of another instrument that is substantially the same; valuation models etc.

Any changes in these estimates and assumptions as well as the use of different, but equally 
reasonable estimates and assumptions may have an impact on the carrying values of unquoted 
financial assets.
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3. FINANCING INCOME 

KD 000’s

2017 2016

Income from Murabaha 28,845 26,896
Income from Wakala 33,713 31,710
Income from Ijara 11,174 11,874
Others 827 526

74,559 71,006

4. FINANCE COST AND DISTRIBUTION TO DEPOSITORS
The Bank’s Board of Directors determined the depositors’ share of profit based on the results 
for the respective year.

5. FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME
This represents income earned from property appraisals, property management fees, letters of 
credit and guarantee fees, debit/credit card and point of sales fees etc. 

6. INVESTMENT INCOME

KD 000’s

2017 2016

Dividend income 1,203 1,636

Realised gain/(loss) from sale of investment securities 1,415 (252)

Gain on sale of an associate - 7

Share of results from associate (15) -

Gain from sale of investment property 627 -

Rental income from investment properties 1,239 1,275

4,469 2,666

7. PROVISIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

KD 000’s

2017 2016

Reversal of impairment losses on Murabaha finance with banks (93) (181)

Financing receivables (Note 11) 11,348 14,113

Reversal of impairment losses on financing receivables (1,045) (1,209)

Financial assets available for sale 2,319 1,376

 Reversal of impairment on non-cash credit facilities (176) (594)

12,353 13,505

114

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2017



8. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing the profit for the year attributable 
to the shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of shares issued, less treasury 
shares. The computation of earnings per share is as follows: 

KD 000’s

2017 2016

Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Bank 17,701 18,203

(Shares in ‘000)

2017 2016

Weighted average number of shares issued 1,037,327 1,037,327

Less: Weighted average number of treasury shares (103,638) (103,638)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 933,689 933,689

 Basic and diluted earnings per share 18.96 fils 19.50 fils

9. CASH AND BALANCES WITH BANKS

KD 000’s

2017 2016

Cash 6,797 7,798
Balances with banks 2,466 4,301
Balances with CBK 10,187 6,041

19,450 18,140

10. DUE FROM BANKS 

KD 000’s

2017 2016

Tawarruq transactions with CBK and government debts 306,268 284,629
Murabaha finance with banks (contractual maturity of 90 days or less) 31,066 82,694
Murabaha finance with banks (contractual maturity of more than 90 days) 65,568 25,973

402,902 393,296
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 11. FINANCING RECEIVABLES
KD 000’s

2017 2016

Financing receivables
Murabaha receivables 507,259 461,325
Wakala receivables 742,429 694,613
Ijara receivables 185,308 229,972
Other receivables 5,924 17,250

1,440,920 1,403,160
Less: Deferred profit (91,376) (85,151)

Net receivables 1,349,544 1,318,009
Less: Provision for impairment (45,128) (49,553)

1,304,416 1,268,456

Further analysis of financing receivables based on class of financial assets is given below:

KD 000’s

2017 2016

 Corporate 1,116,304 1,103,740
Retail 233,240 214,269

1,349,544 1,318,009
Less: Provision for impairment (45,128) (49,553)

1,304,416 1,268,456

 Movement in provision for impairment: 

KD 000’s

2017 2016

 Specific
provision

 General
provision

Total  Specific
provision

 General
provision

Total

Balance at beginning of year 3,087 46,466 49,553 2,782 39,243 42,025
Provision charged (Note 7) 7,986 3,362 11,348 6,900 7,213 14,113
Amounts written off /recovery (15,780) 7 (15,773) (6,595) 10 (6,585)
Reclassification of provision 9,950 (9,950) - - - -
Balance at end of year 5,243 39,885 45,128 3,087 46,466 49,553

The management believes that the impairment provision for credit facilities complies in all 
material respects with the specific provision requirements of CBK. The surplus general provision 
arising on the change in the general provision rate in March 2007 amounts to KD 5,044 thousand 
and is retained as general provision until further directive from the CBK. 

Provision on non-cash credit facilities of KD 5,932 thousand (2016: KD 6,108 thousand) is 
included in other liabilities (Note 18).
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12. INVESTMENT SECURITIES
KD 000’s

2017 2016

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
 Quoted equity securities 62 58

Financial assets available for sale:
Quoted equity securities 13,534 13,087

Unquoted equity securities 26,353 28,935

Investment in sukuks 43,891 43,927

83,778 85,949

83,840 86,007

13. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE
 Country of

incorporation Principal activity                 % of holding KD 000’s

2017 2016 2017 2016

Associate of Ritaj

 Partners Properties Co.
W.L.L.

Kuwait Real Estate 25.5 25.5 1,518 1,533

There was no published price quotation for the associate of the Group. Furthermore, there is no 
significant restrictions on the ability of the associate to transfer funds to the Group in the form 
of cash dividends or repayment of credit facilities. 

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
KD 000’s

2017 2016

Balance at beginning of year 40,235 40,353

Additions (a) 23,147 -

Disposal (2,873) -

Depreciation (118) (118)

Balance at end of year 60,391 40,235

(a) Properties amounting to KD 23,147 thousand are on account of Ijara contracts of two 
customers who defaulted in fulfilling contractual obligations towards the Bank. These are 
carried at lower of the fair value of those properties or the related financial receivables 
due.
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 
The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2017 was KD 64,035 thousand (2016: 
KD 44,705 thousand) which was determined by independent valuers who have appropriate 
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. 
The fair values were determined based on combination of valuation techniques which include 
market comparison approach and income capitalization approach. In estimating the fair values 
of the properties, the highest and the best use of the properties is their current use where price 
per square meter, annual lease income and recent sale transaction for similar properties are 
the significant inputs. There has been no change to the valuation techniques during the year. 
All of the Group’s investment properties are included in level 3 of fair value hierarchy.

15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Freehold land and buildings were revalued at KD 20,972 thousand (2016: KD 21,778 thousand) 
using the average of the fair values determined by two external valuers who have appropriate 
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. 
The fair values were determined based on combination of valuation techniques which include 
market comparison approach and income capitalization approach and are included in level 
3 of the fair value hierarchy. In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest and 
the best use of the properties is their current use. There has been no change to the valuation 
techniques during the year. Other equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation 
amounting to KD 5,253 thousand (2016: KD 3,796 thousand).

If buildings had been carried at cost less depreciation, the net carrying amount that would 
have been included in these consolidated financial statements is KD 8,649 thousand (2016: 
KD 7,218 thousand).

16. DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
KD 000’s

2017 2016

Murabaha payable to banks 86,892 125,439

Murabaha payable to financial institutions 296,467 281,960

Current and call accounts 11,079 10,678

394,438 418,077

Murabaha payable to banks includes unsecured syndication Murabaha financing amounting 
to USD 140 million equivalent to KD 42.5 million (2016: USD 260 million equivalent to KD 80 
million) repayable in August 2018.

17. DEPOSITORS’ ACCOUNTS
Depositors’ accounts represent Current accounts, Savings accounts, Call accounts, Margin 
accounts, Mudaraba and Wakala.
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18. OTHER LIABILITIES
KD 000’s

2017 2016

Depositors’ profit payable 6,989 4,176

Provision on non-cash credit facilities (Note 11) 5,932 6,108

Accrued staff benefits 11,861 11,051

Payables and purchase orders 8,063 5,396

Dividend payable 1,227 1,199

Accrued expenses 4,218 3,010

Taxes and other dues 1,325 1,345

Recovery pending final decision (a) 10,749 10,749

Others 4,134 5,092

54,498 48,126

(a) Recovery pending final decision represents an amount recovered by the Bank from 
a defaulted customer through the Kuwait Ministry of Justice (Execution Department), 
subject to final court decision.

19. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

a) Share capital

The authorised, issued and fully paid up capital of the Bank comprises of 1,037,326,672 
ordinary shares of 100 fils each (2016: 1,037,326,672 shares of 100 fils each), all shares are 
paid up in cash.

b) Treasury shares

2017 2016

Number of treasury shares (‘000 shares) 103,637 103,637

Percentage of treasury shares 9.99% 9.99%

Cost of shares (KD 000’s) 45,234 45,234

Market value of shares (KD 000’s) 23,629 21,349

Weighted average market price of the Bank’s shares for the current year is 240 fils per share 
(2016: 195 fils per share).

The Board of Directors has been authorised by the shareholders to purchase treasury shares 
up to a maximum of 10% of the share capital of the Bank. Reserves equivalent to the cost of 
the treasury shares held are not available for distribution.
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19. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY (continued)
An amount of KD 45,234 thousand (2016: KD 45,234 thousand) from statutory and voluntary 
reserves equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares held by the Group is not available for 
distribution throughout the holding period of treasury shares.

c) Dividends

The Board of Directors’ meeting held on 10 January 2018 recommended the distribution of 
cash dividend of 10 fils per share amounting to KD 9,337 thousand (2016: 10 fils per share 
amounting to KD 9,337 thousand) on outstanding shares (excluding treasury shares). This 
proposal is subject to the approval by the shareholders’ Annual General Assembly.

The cash dividends for the year ended 31 December 2016 were approved by the shareholders 
at the Annual General Assembly held on 18 March 2017.

20. OTHER RESERVES

a) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies’ Law (as amended) and the Articles of Association, the Bank 
is required to transfer to statutory reserve, 10% of the profit for the year before contribution to 
KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration. Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to 
the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend of 5% of share capital in years when 
retained earnings are not sufficient for the payment of a dividend of that amount. The Bank has 
transferred KD 1,902 thousand to the statutory reserve for the year ended 31 December 2017 
(2016: KD 1,954 thousand).

b) Voluntary reserve

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year before 
contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration is required to be transferred 
to voluntary reserve. Such annual transfers may be discontinued by a resolution of the Bank’s 
shareholders Annual General Assembly upon a recommendation by the Board of Directors. 
The Bank has transferred KD 1,902 thousand to the voluntary reserve for the year ended 31 
December 2017 (2016: KD 1,954 thousand).

c) Share premium

The share premium account is not available for distribution.

d) Revaluation surplus

The revaluation surplus represents the surplus of market value over carrying value of freehold 
land and buildings (net of incremental depreciation). The balance in this reserve will be directly 
transferred to retained earnings on disposal of the underlying assets.
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21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
KD 000’s

2017 2016

Cash and balances with banks (Note 9) 19,450 18,140

 Murabaha finance with banks (contractual maturity of 90 days or less)
(Note 10)

31,066 82,694

50,516 100,834

22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
To meet the financial needs of customers, the Group enters into various contingent liabilities 
and revocable commitments. Even though these obligations may not be recognised on the 
consolidated statement of financial position, they expose the Group to credit risk and therefore 
form part of the overall risk of the Group.

The total outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities are as follows:

KD 000’s

2017 2016

Acceptances 36,958 20,673

Letters of credit 22,066 12,858

Letters of guarantee 269,324 240,911

328,348 274,442

The Group also has revocable commitments to extend credit amounting to KD 169,050 
thousand (2016: KD 207,286 thousand).

23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
These are transactions with certain related parties (major shareholders, associates, directors 
and executive officers of the Group, close members of their families and companies in which 
they are principal owners or over which they are able to exercise significant influence) who 
were customers of the Group in the ordinary course of business. Such transactions were made 
on substantially the same terms including profit rates as those prevailing at the same time for 
comparable transactions with unrelated parties and did not involve more than a normal amount 
of risk. Transactions with subsidiary is eliminated in full and hence not disclosed.

121

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2017



23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
The transactions and balances with related parties included in this consolidated financial 
statements are as follows: 

KD 000’s

 Major
shareholders

 and other
related parties Associate

 Directors
and

 Executive
officers

2017 2016

Balances
Financing receivables 66,523 - 26,555 93,078 94,543
Credit cards - - 58 58 35
 Deposits 1,700 7 3,478 5,185 12,122
Commitments 9,490 - 661 10,151 10,138
Collaterals against credit facilities 66,938 - 46,411 113,349 149,688
Transactions
Financing income 3,095 - 1,189 4,284 3,820
Distribution to depositors - - 34 34 33

2017 2016

No. of
 Directors and

 Executive
officers

Amount
KD 000’s

No. of
 Directors

 and
 Executive

officers

Amount
KD 000’s

Directors
Financing receivables 4 26,491 4 44,285
Deposits 7 2,977 7 10,307
Commitments 4 579 5 177
Collaterals against credit facilities 4 46,377 4 77,991
Executive officers
Financing receivables 13 64 6 56
Credit cards 10 58 7 35
Deposits 20 501 15 210
Commitments 16 82 13 53
Collaterals against credit facilities 8 34 5 22

The key management and directors’ remuneration during the year was as follows:

KD 000’s

2017 2016

Key management personnel compensation:
Short-term benefits 1,859 1,554

Post-employment benefits 98 113

1,957 1,667
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23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
The Bank’s Board of Directors has proposed Directors’ fees of KD 450 thousand for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 (2016: KD 450 thousand) which is within the limit permissible 
under local regulations and are subject to approval of shareholders at their Annual General 
Meeting (AGM). Remuneration of Chairman and Board of Directors includes compensation 
for contribution related to participation in the board committees in accordance with Board of 
Directors’ decisions.

In addition to the Board of Directors’ remuneration, an amount of KD 144 thousand (2016: KD 
144 thousand) is paid to the Chairman as approved by the shareholders at their AGM dated 
18 March 2017 (2016: AGM dated 27 March 2016).

24. SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group’s operating segments are determined based on the reports reviewed by the CEO 
that are used for strategic decisions. These segments are strategic business units that offer 
different products and services. They are managed separately since the nature of the products 
and services, class of customers and marketing strategies of these segments are different.

These operating segments meet the criteria for reportable segments and are as follows:

Commercial and International Banking Comprising of range of banking services and 
investment products to corporate customers 
providing commodity and real estate Murabaha 
finance, Ijara and Wakala facilities.

Retail Banking Comprising of range of banking services and 
investment products to individual customers, 
providing commodity Murabaha finance, Ijara and 
Wakala facilities.

Treasury, Fund Management and 
Institutional Banking

Comprising of liquidity management, correspondent 
banking, clearing, Murabaha investments, exchange 
of deposits with banks and financial institutions.

Investment Management Comprising of investment in an associate and other 
investments, including investment properties.

Others Comprising of those which is not pertaining to the 
above segments and includes those relating to a 
subsidiary.

Management monitors the operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment.

The Group measures the performance of operating segments through measures of segment 
operating income and results in management reporting system.
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24. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets principally comprise of all assets and segment liabilities comprise of all 
liabilities that are attributable to the segment.

KD 000’s

 Commercial
and

International

Retail  Treasury,
 Fund

Management
  and

 Institutional
Banking

Investment
Management

Others Total

2017

Segment operating income 54,576 8,104 (5,985) 4,914 2,642 64,251
Segment results
- Depreciation - - - - (1,889) (1,889)
- Provisions and impairment losses 7,957 (2,252) - (2,319) 175 (12,353)
Segment profit/(loss) 24,251 55 2,758 (1,006) (8,265) 17,793
Segment assets 1,093,189 233,077 424,330 125,279 40,165 1,916,040
Segment liabilities 271,500 610,000 721,116 - 49,533 1,652,149

2016

Segment operating income 53,509 10,407 (6,699) 3,295 2,680 63,192
Segment results
- Depreciation - - - - (2,003) (2,003)
- Provisions and impairment losses (10,681) (2,080) 38 (1,376) 594 (13,505)
Segment profit/(loss) 19,408 1,640 4,222 (1,124) (5,903) 18,243
Segment assets 1,083,197 215,709 404,471 106,671 35,982 1,846,030
Segment liabilities 307,146 494,765 744,426 - 44,698 1,591,035

The Group operates from the State of Kuwait only.

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Strategy in using financial instruments

As an Islamic commercial bank, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the sourcing 
of funds through Shariaá compliant financial instruments, within the guidelines prescribed by 
CBK and deploying these funds in Shariaá compliant financing and investment activities, to 
earn a profit. The profits are shared between the shareholders as well as the profit sharing 
deposit account holders, as per policies and proportions determined by the Board of Directors 
and Fatwa and Shariaá Supervisory Board. The funds raised vary in maturity between short 
and longer tenors and are mainly in Kuwaiti Dinars, apart from major foreign currencies 
(including GCC currencies). While deploying the funds, the Bank focuses on the safety of the 
funds as well as maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that may fall due. Safety of 
shareholders and depositor funds is further enhanced by diversification of financing activities 
across economic and geographic sectors, as well as borrower types.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(b) Overall risk management

The main objective of risk management in the Group is to achieve an optimum balance between 
the twin goals of profit maximisation and capital maintenance.

The Group’s risk management framework is built around this objective and seeks to address 
specific concerns of the various stakeholders such as shareholders, CBK, rating agencies, 
customers, depositors and the general public.

The Group’s commitment to the creation and maintenance of effective risk management 
systems and procedures is evidenced by the oversight responsibility given to the Board Risk 
Management Committee.

The Group has established a prudent and professional approach to risk taking with the following 
underlying principles that support its risk management framework:

• Actively promoting an overall culture that accords high value to disciplined and effective risk 
management;

• Using professionally qualified people with appropriate risk management skills;

• Disciplined processes for evaluation and acceptance of risk within appropriate limits in 
individual transactions, products and the management of financing and investments;

• A management information system that provides timely and accurate information on risks 
to the relevant management group and the commitment to continuously upgrade these 
systems and apply the most up-to-date analytical tools and systems to properly capture 
risks, monitor positions and determine the impact of potential management actions; and

• An internal audit function to ensure ongoing adherence to and integrity of risk management 
processes.

The Bank has a Risk Management Department, which is primarily responsible for the risk 
management in the Bank. The Risk Management Department is structured in a manner which 
facilitates focused attention on each of the specific risk arising from financial instruments 
areas, e.g., credit, liquidity, market (encompassing foreign exchange, profit rate, equity risks) 
and other risks such as operational risks.

The Group’s risk management methodologies include:

• Pro-active methodologies such as continuous review and enhancement of: the Group’s 
policies and procedures; development and enhancement of risk measurement tools such as 
risk grading models, pricing models and VaR models; risk inputs in respect of the Group’s 
strategic planning as well as structuring and review of product and services.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
• On-going methodologies, such as risk management inputs in respect of proposed financing 

and investment applications; compliance review - post approval - of financing and investment 
facilities; periodical review of the financing and investment portfolio by way of reports and 
highlighting perceived risks to top management as well as line functionaries; continuous 
monitoring of market, operational and technology related risks. 

• Post fact methodologies, such as review of proposals and trends in respect of provisions; 
write-offs and disposal of investments.

(i) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation 
and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. This includes the risk of decline in the 
credit standing of the customer. While such decline does not imply default, it increases the 
probability of the customer defaulting. Financial instruments that create credit risk include 
financing facilities, contingent liabilities and commitments to extend credit and investment in 
debt securities i.e. investment in sukuks.

Credit risk management structure

To manage credit risk, the Group has established a board level Financing and Investment 
Committee (BFIC) and the following management committees:

• Financing and Investment Committee

• Provision Committee

The BFIC is responsible for reviewing and approving the management level Financing and 
Investment Committee’s recommendations with regard to credit facilities, financing relationships, 
financing limits, pricing and profitability.

The management level Financing and Investment Committee (the Committee) is responsible 
for safeguarding the asset quality of the Bank and ensuring profitable use of funds. The 
Committee reviews the Bank’s credit policy in line with CBK guidelines for commercial and 
retail credit as well as the inter-bank and country limits. The Committee approves or renews 
credit proposals within the Committee’s lending limits and reviews and concurs in the approval 
process for extension of credit in excess of the authority of the Committee.

The Provision Committee is primarily responsible for determining the provisions required for 
impaired facilities when the facility is not already classified as irregular according to CBK 
regulations (i.e. the Watch list classification of financing facilities). In addition, the Committee 
also reviews the required provisions for irregular financing facilities to ensure compliance with 
CBK regulations.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
In accordance with the instructions of the CBK dated 18 December 1996, setting out the 
rules and regulations regarding the classification of credit facilities, the Bank has formed 
an internal committee which is composed of competent professional staff and which is 
responsible for the study and evaluation of the existing credit facilities of each customer of 
the Bank. This Committee, which meets regularly throughout the year, is required to identify 
any abnormal situations and difficulties associated with a customer’s position, which may 
cause the debt to be classified as irregular, and to determine an appropriate provisioning 
level. The Committee also studies the position of customers whose irregular balances 
exceed 25% of their total debt, in order to determine whether further provisions are required.

Credit risk management strategy and process

The Bank manages its credit facilities portfolio with the objective of ensuring that it is well 
diversified and it earns a level of return appropriate to the risk it assumes.

In the course of normal business, the Bank deploys its funds in various credit facilities, with the 
primary objective of generating profits for the shareholders and deposit holders. However, at 
the same time, the Bank seeks to ensure the quality of the credit facilities. The Bank continually 
strives to achieve an optimal balance between the return and credit quality of the portfolio.

The Bank’s policies and procedures manuals, dealing with credit, lay down the credit risk 
management framework by specifying various covenants and credit standards which include:

• clear definition of roles and responsibilities of the various functionaries involved in the 
different stages of the credit facility life cycle;

• establishing clear approval authority structure both for routine as well as exceptional credit 
facilities;

• listing beneficiary, facility, collateral and pricing parameters for the Bank’s product-set;

• standardising credit approval packages;

• defining criteria for collateral valuation and policies for collateral management;

• detailing the procedures for the entire credit life-cycle, including problem loan management;

• ensuring, by way of limits, a diversification of the credit portfolio across geographies 
(countries/regions), sectors, and counterparties.

Credit risk measurement

The Bank measures credit risk in terms of asset quality using two primary measures - the 
provisioning ratio and the non-performing financing receivables ratio. The non-performing 
financing receivables ratio is the ratio of non-performing financing receivables to total financing 
receivables.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Past due and impaired

The following classifications of credit exposures is considered by the Bank for identifying 
impaired credit facilities:

Watchlist category requiring 
specific provisions:

Includes regular clients but upon management’s discretion, 
provisions have been taken to confront any possible future 
deterioration, in addition to credit facilities that are overdue for 
90 days or less (inclusive). The specific provision percentage 
is determined based on each case and after a thorough study 
by the management and after deducting deferred, suspended 
profit and eligible collateral.

Sub-standard : If facilities are irregular for a period of 91 – 180 days (inclusive), 
a provision rate of minimum 20% is applied on the total of the 
facilities net of deferred and suspended profit and eligible 
collateral.

Doubtful Debts: If debts are irregular for a period of 181 – 365 days (inclusive), 
a provision rate of minimum 50% is applied on the total of 
the facilities net of deferred and suspended profit and eligible 
collateral.

Bad Debts: If debts are irregular for more than 365 days, a provision rate 
of 100% is applied on the total of the facilities net of deferred 
and suspended profit and eligible collateral.

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the 
consolidated statement of financial position, without taking account of any collateral and 
other credit enhancements. The gross maximum exposure is shown net of deferred profit 
and provision, before the effect of mitigation through the use of master netting and collateral 
agreements. 
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KD 000’s

Gross maximum exposure
2017 2016

 Credit risk exposures relating to consolidated statement of
financial position items:

Balances with banks 12,653 10,342

Due from banks 402,902 393,296

 Financing receivables 1,304,416 1,268,456

Investment securities - Sukuks 43,891 43,927

Other assets 14,120 11,338

Total 1,777,982 1,727,359

Credit risk exposures relating to contingent liabilities:

Acceptances 36,958 20,673

Letters of credit 22,066 12,858

Letters of guarantee 269,324 240,911

Total 328,348 274,442

Total credit risk exposure 2,106,330 2,001,801

Credit risk can also arise due to a significant concentration of Bank’s assets to any single 
counterparty; this risk is managed by diversification of the portfolio. The 20 largest gross 
customers account for 25% (2016: 25%) of total credit risk exposures as at 31 December 2017.

Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk

Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar 
business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic 
features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected 
by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the 
relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to developments affecting a particular industry or 
geographic location.

Geographical and industry sector concentrations of financial assets and off balance sheet 
items are as follows: 
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KD 000’s

2017 2016

 Financial
assets

 Contingent
liabilities

Financial
assets

 Contingent
liabilities

Geographic region:
Asia 77 19,705 34 19,540

North America 16,842 58 18,866 116

Middle east (excluding Kuwait) 32,182 30,756 4,423 18,616

Europe 34,359 2,274 51,755 3,225

Kuwait 1,694,522 275,555 1,652,281 232,945

1,777,982 328,348 1,727,359 274,442

Industry sector:
Personal 226,227 - 207,547 -

Banking and financial institutions 502,166 29,513 400,953 24,867

Real Estate 491,169 25,057 532,611 5,753

Construction 144,202 193,830 93,229 132,797

Others 414,218 79,948 493,019 111,025

1,777,982 328,348 1,727,359 274,442

Credit risk mitigation

Credit risk mitigation techniques that the Bank is permitted to use are collateral, netting and 
guarantees provided under certain conditions, which include such agreements being binding 
on all parties and legal enforceability, are met.

The Bank’s lending policy specifies the acceptable types of collateral, source of valuation, 
accuracy of valuation and frequency of revaluation in respect of collateral. The policy also 
specifies the maximum facility commitment to collateral value and approval levels for different 
types of collateral and facility. The accepted collaterals are cash, first demand bank guarantees, 
securities and real estate.

As part of its general collateral control mechanism, the Bank periodically revalues all collateral 
to ascertain that the collateral cover is not lower than the value at the time of the original 
approval. The Bank also continuously monitors the validity and expiry dates of mortgages to 
ensure their timely renewal.

The main types of guarantors are individuals and corporate entities. Since none of the Bank’s 
guarantor counterparties have been rated by any of the three rating agencies (approved by 
the CBK for the purposes of calculation of capital adequacy), the Bank has not taken any 
guarantor related credit risk mitigation allowance while arriving at the capital adequacy.

130

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2017



25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Collateral and other credit enhancements

The amount and type of collateral required depend on an assessment of the credit risk of the 
counterparty. Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral 
and valuation parameters.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance 
with the underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its 
review of the adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses.

It is the Bank’s policy to dispose off repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds 
are used to reduce or repay the outstanding claim. In general, the Bank does not occupy 
repossessed properties for business use. 

At 31 December 2017, 51% (2016: 58%) of the total outstanding financing receivables were 
fully secured.
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Credit quality of financial instruments 

The Bank classifies the various credit risk exposure which are neither past due nor impaired 
into two categories of credit quality as under:

• High quality: Regular exposures covered fully by collateral 
in excess of 100% of the outstanding amount.

• Moderate quality: All other regular exposures where the collateral 
does not fully cover the outstanding amount.

The table below shows the credit risk exposure by credit quality of assets by class and grade 
net of deferred profit and provision:

KD 000’s

Neither past due nor impaired

High
quality

 Moderate
quality

Past due
and

impaired Total

2017

Balances with banks 12,653 - - 12,653
Due from banks 402,902 - - 402,902
Financing receivables 489,734 673,232 141,450 1,304,416
Investment securities - Sukuks - 43,891 - 43,891
Other assets 14,120 - - 14,120

919,409 717,123 141,450 1,777,982

2016

Balances with banks 10,342 - - 10,342

Due from banks 393,296 - - 393,296

Financing receivables 574,798 516,987 176,671 1,268,456

Investment securities - Sukuks - 43,927 - 43,927

Other assets 11,338 - - 11,338

989,774 560,914 176,671 1,727,359
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Ageing analysis of past due but not impaired or impaired of financing receivables as per class 
of financial assets:

KD 000’s

Financing receivables
Corporate

Financing receivables
Consumer Total

 Past due but
not impaired Impaired

 Past due but
not impaired Impaired

 Past due but
not impaired Impaired

2017

Up to 30 days 46,612 - 11,678 - 58,290 -
31 – 60 days 32,238 - 2,541 - 34,779 -
61 – 90 days 11,844 - 1,796 - 13,640 -
91 – 180 days - 3,238 - 1,995 - 5,233
More than 180 days - 28,100 - 1,408 - 29,508

90,694 31,338 16,015 3,403 106,709 34,741

2016

Up to 30 days 96,066 - 11,077 - 107,143 -

31 – 60 days 4,618 - 3,812 - 8,430 -

61 – 90 days 41,132 - 1,515 - 42,647 -

91 – 180 days - 3,925 - 1,477 - 5,402

More than 180 days - 11,583 - 1,466 - 13,049

141,816 15,508 16,404 2,943 158,220 18,451

As at 31 December 2017, the fair value of collaterals held by the Bank against individually past 
due or impaired amounted to KD 159,695 thousand (2016: KD 206,227 thousand).

(ii) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. To limit 
liquidity risk, management has arranged diversified funding sources in addition to its core 
deposit base, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors liquidity on a daily basis.

The Bank’s management of liquidity risk is consistent with its overall risk management framework 
and includes establishing minimum liquid asset requirements and limits with regards to the 
acceptance of short term wholesale deposits to protect against short term liquidity demands.

The Bank monitors liquidity risk by measuring the liquidity gaps on a daily basis and the 
position is reviewed by asset liability management committee (“ALCO”) on a monthly basis. 
Similarly liquidity reserve position and the ratio of financing facilities to eligible deposits are 
monitored on a daily basis.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The Bank measures liquidity risk by preparing and monitoring the maturity profile of its assets 
and liabilities as disclosed below: 

KD 000’s
Up to

1 month
1-3

months
3-12

months
Over

1 year Total

2017
Assets
Cash and balances with banks 19,450 - - - 19,450
Due from banks 354,173 32,265 - 16,464 402,902
Financing receivables 133,921 194,451 553,529 422,515 1,304,416
Investment securities 55,963 - - 27,877 83,840
Investment in an associate - - - 1,518 1,518
Investment properties - - - 60,391 60,391
Other assets 4,563 239 6,563 5,933 17,298
Property and equipment - - - 26,225 26,225

Total assets 568,070 226,955 560,092 560,923 1,916,040

Liabilities
 Due to banks and financial
institutions

99,039 42,106 169,502 83,791 394,438

Depositors’ accounts 488,863 405,162 253,567 55,621 1,203,213
Other liabilities 35,277 10,749 - 8,472 54,498

Total liabilities 623,179 458,017 423,069 147,884 1,652,149
Net liquidity gap (55,109) (231,062) 137,023 413,039 263,891
2016

Assets
Cash and balances with banks 18,140 - - - 18,140
Due from banks 324,321 42,901 26,074 - 393,296
Financing receivables 170,495 194,580 476,236 427,145 1,268,456
Investment securities 55,535 - - 30,472 86,007
Investment in an associate - - - 1,533 1,533
Investment properties - - - 40,235 40,235
Other assets 1,621 130 5,609 5,429 12,789
Property and equipment - - - 25,574 25,574

Total assets 570,112 237,611 507,919 530,388 1,846,030

Liabilities
 Due to banks and financial
institutions 126,693 68,087 143,215 80,082 418,077

Depositors’ accounts 520,051 332,934 215,704 56,143 1,124,832
Other liabilities 29,617 - - 18,509 48,126

 Total liabilities 676,361 401,021 358,919 154,734 1,591,035
Net liquidity gap (106,249) (163,410) 149,000 375,654 254,995

134

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2017



25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on 
contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are 
treated as if notice were to be given immediately.

KD 000’s

Less than
1 month

1-3
Months

3-12
Months

1 to 5
years

Over
5 years Total

2017

Due to banks and financial institutions 100,265 42,627 171,340 84,890 - 399,122
Depositors’ accounts 489,496 405,687 253,896 55,693 - 1,204,772
Other liabilities 35,277 10,749 - - 8,472 54,498

625,038 459,063 425,236 140,583 8,472 1,658,392

2016

Due to banks and financial institutions 127,452 68,495 144,094 80,465 - 420,506

Depositors’ accounts 520,766 333,392 216,001 56,220 - 1,126,379

Other liabilities 29,617 - - 10,749 7,760 48,126

677,835 401,887 360,095 147,434 7,760 1,595,011

The table below shows the contractual expiry of the Group’s contingent liabilities and 
commitments.

KD 000’s

Less than
1 month

1-3
Months

3-12
Months

1 to 5
years

Over
5 years Total

2017

Contingent liabilities 44,586 43,489 91,683 140,551 8,039 328,348
Commitments 12,533 20,368 86,435 30,901 18,813 169,050

57,119 63,857 178,118 171,452 26,852 497,398

2016

Contingent liabilities 30,807 49,023 62,858 126,972 4,782 274,442

Commitments 19,691 29,246 74,485 33,001 50,863 207,286

50,498 78,269 137,343 159,973 55,645 481,728
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(iii) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises of three types of risk 
including interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk (other than those arising from rate 
of return risk or currency risk).

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control exposures within acceptable 
parameters, whilst optimising returns. Given the Group’s current profile of financial instruments, 
the principal exposure is the risk of loss arising from fluctuations in the future cash flows or 
fair values of these financial instruments because of a change in achievable rates. This is 
managed principally through monitoring gaps between effective profit and rental rates and by 
having approved rates and bands reviewed at regular re-pricing meetings.

Market risk management structure

The overall responsibility of managing the Bank’s market risks is of ALCO. The day to day 
management of market risks is the responsibility of the treasury department which is headed 
by the Head of Treasury who reports to the Chief Executive Officer. 

The International Banking Department is responsible for proposing country limits based on 
Moody’s long term sovereign currency debt rating, or equivalent rating by the two other rating 
agencies, and reviewing them annually. The measurement, monitoring and reporting of market 
risks is the responsibility of the market risk division within risk management department.

Market risk management strategy and process
The Group has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to 
market risks is monitored and controlled.

(iii a) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group views itself as a Kuwaiti 
entity, with the Kuwaiti Dinars as its functional currency. The Board has set limits on positions 
by currency. Positions are monitored on a daily basis to ensure that they are maintained within 
established limits.
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The Group had the following net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:

KD 000’s

2017 2016

US Dollars 867 2,965
Qatari Riyal (989) (1,560)
Euro 18 222
Sterling Pounds (73) (21)
Saudi Riyal (9) (870)
Others (270) (255)

(456) 481

A sensitivity analysis is not disclosed since the Group does not have significant exposure to 
foreign exchange risk.

(iii b) Equity price risk

This is a risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in market prices (other than those arising from rate of return risk or currency 
risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or 
its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market. The Group manages this 
risk through diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and industry 
concentration. The sensitivity of the Group’s consolidated financial statements to the equity 
price risk is given below.

For investments classified as available for sale, a five percent increase in stock prices as at 
31 December 2017 would have increased equity by KD 2,835 thousand (2016: an increase of 
KD 2,802 thousand). For such investments classified as at fair value through profit or loss, the 
impact on profit or loss would have been an increase of KD 3 thousand (2016: an increase KD 
3 thousand). An equal change in the opposite direction would have had equal, but opposite 
effect to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.

(iv) Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 
and systems, or from external events.

The Group’s business and support units have primary responsibility for identifying, assessing 
and managing their operational risks. They employ internal control techniques to reduce their 
likelihood or impact to tolerable levels within the Group’s risk appetite. Where appropriate, risk 
is mitigated by way of insurance.

The Group has a set of policies and procedures that are applied to identify, assess and control 
operations risk in addition to other types of risks relating to the banking and financial activities 
of the Bank. Operational risk is managed through the Risk Management Department.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
This department ensures compliance with policies and procedures to identify, assess, control 
and monitor operational risk as part of overall risk management.

The management of operational risks complies in all material respects with CBK instructions 
dated 14 November 1996, regarding general guidelines for internal control systems and 
directive issued on 13 October 2003, regarding “Sound practices for management and control 
of operational risks”.

(v) Fair values of financial instruments 

Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and other 
models as appropriate. 

Other financial assets and liabilities are carried at amortised cost and the carrying values are 
not materially different from their fair values as most of these assets and liabilities are of short 
term maturities or are repriced immediately based on market movement in interest rates. Fair 
values of remaining financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are estimated 
mainly using discounted cash flow models incorporating certain assumptions such as credit 
spreads that are appropriate in the circumstances.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets 
are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques(s) and inputs used).

KD 000’s Fair value
HierarchyFinancial assets Fair value as at Sector

2017 2016
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss –
Quoted equity securities

8 10 Level 1 Oil and Gas
46 42 Level 1 Telecom

8 6 Level 1 Investment
Financial assets available for sale - Quoted equity securities

12,570 11,542 Level 1 Investment
964 1,545 Level 1 Banking

Financial assets available for sale - Unquoted equity securities
5,746 4,586 Level 3 Investment

16,959 17,841 Level 3 Services
2,346 2,314 Level 3 Real Estate
1,302 2,335 Level 3 Healthcare

- 1,859 Level 3 Industrial
Financial assets available for sale - Sukuks

30,108 32,154 Level 1 Financial
13,049 9,256 Level 1 Investment

- 1,533 Level 1 Services
734 984 Level 3 Real Estate
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
The following table shows an analysis of financial investments recorded at fair value by level 
of the fair value hierarchy:

KD 000’s

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

2017

Investment securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:

 Quoted equity securities 62 - - 62

Financial assets available for sale:
Quoted equity securities 13,534 - - 13,534
Unquoted equity securities - - 26,353 26,353
Investment in sukuks 43,157 - 734 43,891

56,753 - 27,087 83,840

2016

Investment securities

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
 Quoted equity securities 58 - - 58

Financial assets available for sale:
Quoted equity securities 13,087 - - 13,087
Unquoted equity securities - - 28,935 28,935
Investment in sukuks 42,943 - 984 43,927

56,088 - 29,919 86,007

The methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values of financial instruments is 
described in fair value section of note 2 “Significant Accounting policies”.

Description of Significant unobservable inputs to valuation:

Financial asset Technique Significant unobservable 
inputs

Range
(Weighted 
average) 

Sensitivity of the input to 
fair value

Unquoted
equity shares
and sukuks

 DCF, Market
 comparable, Asset
 base valuation and
Book value

 Long term growth rate for
 cash flows for subsequent
years

4 - 7%  Higher the growth, higher
the fair value.

Profit margin growth 4 - 7%  Higher the growth rate,
higher the fair value.

Discount for lack of liquidity 10 - 20%  Higher the discount rate,
lower the fair value.

139

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiary

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2017



25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Discount for lack of marketability represent the amounts that the Group has determined that 
market participants would take into account these when pricing the investments. In case of 
financial assets available for sale, the impairment charge in the profit or loss would depend on 
whether the decline is significant or prolonged. An increase in the fair value, other than for debt 
instruments would only impact equity (through OCI) and, would not have an effect on profit or 
loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 
2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

Reconciliation of investments recorded in level 3 fair value

KD 000’s

2017 2016

As at 1 January 29,919 37,305
Disposals (1,254) (3,716)
Impairment losses (1,833) (1,282)
Change in fair value 359 (2,440)
Realised gain from sale - 82
Foreign currency exchange (104) (30)

As at 31 December 27,087 29,919

26. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that the Group complies 
with externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings 
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group actively manages its capital base in order to cover risks inherent in the business. 
The adequacy of the Group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules 
and ratios established by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BIS rules/ratios) and 
adopted by the CBK in supervising the Group.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. No changes 
were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous year in this respect.

Capital adequacy

The Group’s regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratios (Basel III) calculated in accordance 
with CBK circular number 2/RB, RBA/336/2014 dated 24 June 2014 are shown below:
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26. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)
KD 000’s

2017 2016

Risk weighted assets 1,406,336 1,252,553

Capital required 182,824 162,832

Capital available
Tier 1 capital 251,615 242,817
Tier 2 capital 16,305 14,510

Total capital 267,920 257,327

Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 17.89% 19.39%

Total capital adequacy ratio 19.05% 20.54%

The Group’s financial leverage ratio calculated in accordance with CBK circular number   
2/RBA/343/2014 dated 21 October 2014 is shown below:

 
KD 000’s

2017 2016

Tier 1 capital 251,615 242,817

Total exposure 2,305,212 2,263,621

Financial leverage ratio 10.92% 10.73%

The disclosures relating to the capital adequacy regulations issued by CBK as stipulated 
in CBK circular number 2/RB, RBA/336/2014 dated 24 June 2014 and disclosures related 
to financial leverage ratio as stipulated in CBK circular number 2/RBA/343/2014 dated 21 
October 2014 are included under the ‘Disclosures’ section of the year 2017 annual report.  
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Basel III Pillar III disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Objective: 

The main aim of this section is:

1. To allow market participants and investors (especially investment account holders) to 
assess Kuwait International Bank’s exposure to risks as per Basel III general disclosure 
requirements.

2. To comply with Central Bank of Kuwait’s (CBK) instructions and regulations issued as 
per CBK circular 2/RB, RBA/336/2014 dated 24 June 2014 for Islamic Banks General 
Disclosures related to Capital Adequacy Standard under Basel III. 

The major highlights of these regulations are:

• Banks must maintain a capital adequacy ratio at a minimum of 13%. 

• Banks have to adopt the standardized approach for implementing Basel III, using national 
discretion for:

• Adopting Option II for Bank exposures,  

• Adopting the top three external rating agencies (S&P, Moody’s and Fitch Ratings) as 
External Credit Assessment Institutions, and

• Defining SME as the maximum aggregate retail exposure limit to one SME or to any 
group of SMEs not exceeding KD 250,000. 

• Banks must conduct Internal Capital assessment for all material risks (Pillar II risks) under 
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP). These risks include credit 
concentration risk, CRM, residual operational risk, profit rate risk, liquidity risk, strategic risk, 
reputation risk, legal risk, Investment risk etc.

• Banks must conduct Stress Testing (ST) of their one year forward looking (business 
projections) under different scenarios and assumptions and assess the impact on their 
capital adequacy and profitability.

• Banks have to adopt sound governance framework, improve internal control systems and 
install sufficient modern risk management to be able to control the risks embedded in the 
business environment and to practice good governance.

Bank’s Disclosure Approach:

• Consolidated basis (Kuwait International Bank KSCP (“KIB” or “the Bank”) and its subsidiary 
(together the Group), on a semi-annual basis and it is reviewed by the external auditors of 
the Bank. The annual disclosures are audited by external auditors of the Bank.

• The disclosures are made relying on calculating the minimum capital required to cover: 

• Credit and Market risks using the Standardized Approach.

• Operational risk using the Basic Indicator Approach.
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Under the Framework of Capital Adequacy, Banks must provide timely, accurate, relevant 
and adequate disclosures of qualitative and quantitative information that enables users to 
assess their activities and risk profile. The following public disclosures are made in line with 
the requirements of CBK.

First: Group Structure

KIB is engaged in providing Islamic banking, finance and investment services that comply with 
Islamic Shari’a. Ritaj Takaful Insurance Company K.S.C.C. (“Subsidiary”) is fully consolidated 
into the Bank’s financial statements. 

KIB owns 73.6% (31 December 2016: 73.6%) of the issued share capital of its subsidiary 
which is an Islamic insurance company registered in Kuwait. Its main activity is to provide 
Takaful Insurance (Co-operative insurance).

Second: Capital Structure

The Group’s regulatory capital comprises of Common Equity Tier 1 (“CET 1”) capital which 
demonstrates the Group’s strength and includes share capital, reserves, non-controlling 
interests less the treasury shares and dividends declared. Additional Tier 1 (“AT1”) capital 
includes additional paid in capital and non-controlling interest. Tier 2 consists of non-controlling 
interests and general provision up to 1.25% of the total credit risk weighted assets according 
to rules and regulations. 

The Group does not have structured or complex equity instruments which are prohibited by 
Islamic Shari’a principles. 

As at 31 December 2017, Common Equity Tier (1) amounted to KD 251,230 thousand (31 
December 2016: KD 242,444 thousand) and Additional Tier (1) “AT1” amounted KD 385 
thousand (31 December 2016, KD 373 thousand) collectively known as “Core Capital”, Tier 
(2) “Supplementary Capital” amounted KD 16,305 thousand (31 December 2016: KD 14,510 
thousand), the total eligible capital of the Group as of 31 December 2017 is KD 267,920 
thousand (31 December 2016: KD  257,327 thousand).
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Third: Additional Capital Disclosure requirements

1. Common Disclosure Template:

The Group’s regulatory capital which consists of the Common Equity Tier 1, AT1 and Tier 2 is 
as follows:

2017
KD 000’s

2016
KD 000’s

Particulars Amounts Amounts

Common Equity (CET 1)

Share capital 103,732 103,732

Share premium 49,480 49,480

Revaluation reserve 15,530 16,283

Fair Value reserve 14,077 13,498

Statutory Reserve 34,656 32,754

Voluntary Reserve 28,573 26,671

Treasury share reserve 4,846 4,846

Retained earnings 54,907 49,751

 Less:

Treasury shares (45,234) (45,234)

Dividends declared (9,337) (9,337)

Goodwill - -

 Other intangibles - -

 Investments in Financial Institutions with an ownership of less than 10%
and above the threshold

- -

 Investments in Financial Institution with an ownership of more than 10%
and above the threshold

- -

Total Common Equity Tier (1)  251,230 242,444

AT (1)

Eligible non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries 385 373

Total Tier (1) 251,615 242,817

Tier (2)

General provision (up to 1.25% of the total credit risk weighted assets) 16,235 14,442

Eligible non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries 70 68

Total Tier (2) 16,305 14,510

Total available capital 267,920 257,327
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2. Reconciliation Requirement

The Group has applied the three step approach for the reconciliation between the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position items and the regulatory capital elements as outlined in the 
regulations as follows:

Step (1) and (2):
2017

KD 000’s

Particulars

  Consolidated
 Statement of

 Financial Position
 as per published

financial statements

 Under
 regulatory

 scope of
consolidation

Ref.

Asset

Cash 6,797 6,797

Cash and bank balances at central banks 316,455 316,455
 Items  in the course of collection from other
 banks and financial institution

82,379 82,379

Trading portfolio assets - -

 Financial assets at fair value through statement
of income

62 62

Shari’a compliant hedging contracts - -

Financing and advances to banks 16,721 16,721

Financing and advances to customers 1,304,416 1,304,416

Financial assets available for sale 83,778 83,778

Current and deferred tax assets - -

Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 17,298 17,298

Investment properties 60,391 60,391

Investments in associates and joint ventures 1,518 1,518

Goodwill and other intangible assets (a) + (b) - -

- Goodwill - - (a)

- Intangible assets - - (b)

Property, plant and equipment 26,225 26,225

Total assets 1,916,040 1,916,040

Liabilities

Deposits from banks and financial institution 394,438 394,438
 Items in the course of collection due to other
banks

- -

Customer accounts 1,203,213 1,203,213
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Step (1) and (2) (continued):

2017
KD 000’s

Particulars

  Consolidated
 Statement of

 Financial Position
 as per published

financial statements

 Under
 regulatory

 scope of
consolidation

Ref.

Trading portfolio liabilities - -

 Financial liabilities at fair value through statement
of income

- -

Shari’a compliant hedging contracts - -

Financing securities (Sukuk) - -

Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities 48,566 48,566

Current and deferred tax liabilities (c) + (d) - -

- Deferred tax liabilities related  to goodwill - - (c)
- Deferred tax liabilities related to intangible 

assets
- - (d)

Provisions (non-cash) 5,932 5,932

Retirement benefit liabilities - -

Total liabilities 1,652,149 1,652,149

Equity

Share capital (h) + (i) 103,732 103,732

- Common Equity Tier (1) 103,732 103,732 (h)

- Additional Tier (1) - - (i)

Share premium 49,480 49,480

Treasury shares  (45,234)  (45,234)

Other reserves 152,589 152,589

Attributable to Bank’s equity shareholders 260,567 260,567

Non-controlling interests 3,324 455 (j)

- Common Equity Tier (1) - -

- Additional Tier (1) -  385

- Tier (2) -  70

Total equity 263,891 261,022

Total liabilities and equity 1,916,040 1,913,171
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2016
KD 000’s

Particulars

  Consolidated
 Statement

 of Financial
 Position as per

 published financial
statements

 Under regulatory
 scope of

consolidation
Ref.

Asset
Cash 7,798 7,798

Cash and bank balances at central banks 290,669 290,669

Items  in the course of collection from 
other banks and financial institution 

86,812 86,812

Trading portfolio assets - -

Financial assets at fair value through 
statement of income

58 58

Shari’a compliant hedging contracts - -

Financing and advances to banks 26,157 26,157

Financing and advances to customers 1,268,456 1,268,456

Financial assets available for sale 85,949 85,949

Current and deferred tax assets - -

Prepayments, accrued income and other 
assets

12,789 12,789

Investment properties 40,235 40,235

Investments in associates and joint 
ventures

1,533 1,533

Goodwill and other intangible assets (a) + 
(b)

- -

- Goodwill - - (a)

- Intangible assets - - (b)

Property, plant and equipment 25,574 25,574

Total assets 1,846,030 1,846,030

Liabilities

Deposits from banks and financial 
institution

418,077 418,077

Items in the course of collection due to 
other banks

- -

Customer accounts 1,124,832 1,124,832
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Step (1) and (2) (continued):

2016
KD 000’s

Particulars

  Consolidated
 Statement

 of Financial
 Position as per

 published financial
statements

 Under regulatory
 scope of

consolidation
Ref.

Trading portfolio liabilities - -

 Financial liabilities at fair value through
statement of income

- -

Shari’a compliant hedging contracts - -

Financing securities (Sukuk) - -

Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities 42,018 42,018

Current and deferred tax liabilities (c) + (d) - -

- Deferred tax liabilities related  to goodwill - - (c)

- Deferred tax liabilities related to intangible 
assets

- - (d)

Provisions (non-cash) 6,108 6,108

Retirement benefit liabilities - -

Total liabilities 1,591,035 1,591,035

Equity

Share capital (h) + (i) 103,732 103,732

- Common Equity Tier (1) 103,732 103,732 (h)

- Additional Tier (1) - - (i)

Share premium 49,480 49,480

Treasury shares (45,234) (45,234)

Other reserves 143,803 143,803

Attributable to Bank’s equity shareholders 251,781 251,781

Non-controlling interests 3,214 441 (j)

- Common Equity Tier (1) - -

- Additional Tier (1) - 373

- Tier (2) - 68

Total equity 254,995 252,222

Total liabilities and equity 1,846,030 1,843,257
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Step 3: 

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No.  Common Equity (CET 1)

 Components
 of regulatory

 capital reported
by the Group

 Source based on reference of the
 Statement of Financial Position

 under the regulatory scope of
consolidation from Step 1&2

1 Share capital 103,732 (h)
2 Share premium 49,480

3
 Eligible non-controlling interest in
consolidated subsidiaries

- (j)

4 Revaluation reserve 15,530
5 Fair Value reserve 14,077
6 Statutory Reserve 34,656
7 Voluntary Reserve 28,573
8 Treasury share reserve 4,846
9 Retained earnings 54,907

10
 Common Equity Tier (1) capital
before  regulatory adjustments

305,801

11 Prudential valuation adjustments -
12 Goodwill (net of related tax liability) - (a) - (c)

13
 intangible assets (net of related tax
liability)

- (b) - (d)

14 Other exposures -
Total 305,801

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No.  Common Equity (CET 1)

 Components
 of regulatory

 capital reported
by the Group

 Source based on reference of the
 Statement of Financial Position

 under the regulatory scope of
consolidation from Step 1&2

1 Share capital 103,732 (h)
2 Share premium 49,480

3
 Eligible non-controlling interest in
consolidated subsidiaries

- (j)

4 Revaluation reserve 16,283
5 Fair Value reserve 13,498
6 Statutory Reserve 32,754
7 Voluntary Reserve 26,671
8 Treasury share reserve 4,846
9 Retained earnings 49,751

10
 Common Equity Tier (1) capital
before  regulatory adjustments

297,015

11 Prudential valuation adjustments -
12 Goodwill (net of related tax liability) - (a) - (c)

13
 intangible assets (net of related tax
liability)

- (b) - (d)

14 Other exposures -
Total 297,015
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3. Main features disclosure

Disclosures for main features of regulatory capital instruments

1. Issuer  Kuwait International
Bank K.S.C.P.

2.
 Unique identifier (e.g. CUSIP, ISIN or Bloomberg identifier for private
placement)

KIB  (KW0EQ0100069)

3. Governing laws of the instrument
 Law No. 32/1968 and
Law No. 1/ 2016

4. Type of Capital (CET1, AT1 , T2) CET1 + AT1 + T2
5. Eligible at solo/group/group and solo Group
6. Instrument type Equity
7. Amount recognised in regulatory capital 103,732
8. Par value of instrument 100 fils
9. Accounting classification Equity
10. Original date of issuance 13 May 1973
11. Perpetual or dated  Perpetual
12. Original maturity date N/A
13. Issuer call subject to prior supervisory approval N/A

14. Optional call date, contingent call dates and redemption  amount N/A

15. Subsequent call dates, if applicable N/A
16. Fixed or floating dividend/coupon  N/A
17. Coupon rate and any related index N/A
18. Existence of a dividend stopper N/A
19. Fully discretionary, partially discretionary or mandatory N/A
20. Existence of step up or other incentive to redeem N/A
21. Noncumulative or cumulative N/A
22. Convertible or non-convertible N/A
23.  If convertible, conversion trigger N/A
24. If convertible, fully or partially N/A
25. If convertible, conversion rate N/A
26. If convertible, mandatory or optional conversion N/A
27. If convertible, specify instrument type convertible into N/A
28. If convertible, specify issuer of instrument it converts into N/A
29. Write-down feature N/A
30. If write-down, write-down trigger N/A
31. If write-down, full or partial N/A
32. If write-down, permanent or temporary N/A
33. If temporary write-down, description of write-up mechanism N/A

34.
 Position in subordination hierarchy in liquidation (specify  instrument
type immediately senior to instrument)

N/A

35. Non-compliant transitioned features N/A

36. If yes, specify non-compliant features N/A
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Fourth: Capital Adequacy Ratio

At 31 December 2017 the total Capital Adequacy Ratio is 19.05% (31 December 2016: 20.54 
%) compared to the ratio required by regulatory authorities of 13% (31 December 2016: 13 
%), Tier (1) Capital of 17.89% (31 December 2016, 19.39 %) and Tier (2) Capital of 1.16% (31 
December 2016: 1.16 %).

• The percentage of the total Capital Adequacy Ratio is derived from dividing the Eligible 
Capital (CET (1) + AT (1) + Tier (2)) by the total risk weighted exposure. 

• The percentage of the Tier (1) Capital is derived from dividing the core capital (CET (1) + AT 
1) by the total risk weighted exposure.

• The percentage of the Tier (2) Capital is derived from dividing the supplemental capital (Tier 
2) by the total risk weighted exposure.

At 31 December 2017, the minimum capital requirement for the credit risk weighted exposure 
is KD 165,744 thousand (31 December 2016, KD 146,000 thousand), market risk weighted 
exposure is KD 164 thousand (31 December 2016, KD 404 thousand) and the operational risk 
weighted exposure is KD 16,915 thousand (31 December 2016, KD 16,428 thousand).

The Group ensures compliance with CBK requirements in relation to capital adequacy through 
monitoring the internal limits.

Fifth: Risk Management 

 The Bank took various steps to enhance the Risk Management Function and bank-wide risk 
management practice.

Enterprise-wide Risk Management (ERM) and Analytics

Risk Analytics Unit quantifies risk exposures for use in risk analysis, measurement and reporting. 
It is currently using various statistical tools and techniques to assess, measure and evaluate 
both qualitative and quantitative risks and allocate capital charges to mitigate these risks. 

1. Transfer: Better Risk Reporting and Awareness 

a. The Bank adopts an ERM approach. Risk reporting is further enhanced by a comprehensive 
bank-wide Risk Information Package (Risk Pack), which is reported periodically to the Board 
Risk Management Committee (BRMC) and Board of Directors (BoD). 

b. RAROC framework is implemented for customer level profitability assessment and reported 
quarterly.

c. Regular risk reports are also presented to Senior Management, Management Risk Committee 
(MRC), Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO) and other executive committees with 
recommendation for better risk management.
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d. The Bank through its informative reporting system has significantly increased the risk-
awareness and risk-culture within the Bank’s functions.

2. Integration of Business Process:

In order to optimize business performance, and integrate risks into business decision, the 
Bank adopts the following steps:

a.  Use of appropriate risk measuring techniques.

b. Continuous review of pricing policies, internal Fund Transfer Pricing, Obligor & Facility Risk 
Rating, RAROC and other measures.

c. Further enhancements in the Bank’s capability to manage capital, liquidity, credit including 
capital plans, optimization of Capital Adequacy Ratios especially under pillar II (ICAAP and 
Stress Testing).

3. Upgrade to Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Solution:

a. The Bank continues to upgrade its risk management capabilities in the light of developments 
in the business, banking and capital market regulations and risk management best practices. 

b. Having sound risk management methodologies and techniques in place, the risk management 
function provides valuable guidance for the decision-making processes for the Bank.

c. The Bank is undertaking various steps to move from the traditional risk management to the 
wider concept of Enterprise Risk Management by targeting state-of-art risk ERM technology 
solutions.

4. Risk Appetite and Tolerance Limits:

a. The Bank’s Board of Directors has approved the Enterprise Risk Appetite and its tolerance 
limits and linked it with the Bank’s strategy as well as alignment of the ICAAP, Stress testing 
and overall Capital Management process.

b. The Bank is periodically reviewing its risk appetite and identifies new risks. The Bank is using 
the defined risk appetite and tolerance limits set by the BoD in its decision making process.

5. Capital Adequacy and Capital Plans (Structural Changes) :

a. Considering the regulatory evolution in Basel III, the Bank continuously reviews and upgrades 
its ICAAP/ST methodologies. 

b. CAMEL BCOM: As per CBK’s Off-Site Surveillance (OSS) approach, the Bank’s activities 
are looked from a risk-based perspective, and the Bank is continuously updating and 
embedding parameters in use of CAMEL BCOM model to undertake self-risk assessment, 
which is supplementary to the ICAAP/Stress testing process and Capital Planning. ALCO 
and BRMC actively considers Risk Management recommendations. The bank has updated 
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the CAMEL BCOM model in line with CBK updates (FYE 2015) and periodically reporting to 
BRMC and BoD. 

c. The Bank periodically reviews its risk management framework and aligns it with the leading 
practices.

6. Risk Management Independence:

The General Manager – Risk management (GM-Risk), who heads the Risk Management 
function reports directly to the BRMC (functionally) with dotted line (administratively) to the 
CEO, ensuring independence from risk-taking.

The Bank’s Risk Management function has sufficient authority, stature, independence, 
resources and access to the Board. The stature of the Risk Management Department within 
the Bank ensures that issues raised by risk managers receive the necessary attention from the 
BoD, senior management and business lines. The GM-Risk’s appointment and termination is 
the authority of the BoD subject to the prior approval of CBK. The GM -Risk has no ‘financial 
and revenue’ target responsibilities in line with the Corporate Governance regulations of CBK.

The GM-Risk also has full access to the Bank’s Chairman to raise any issues directly if and when 
required. The GM-Risk meets with the non-executive Board members and BRMC members in 
the absence of senior management. The BoD ensures that the GM -Risk has the authority to 
influence the Bank’s decisions pertaining to exposure to risks and that the Risk Management 
Department has significance within the Bank. Although the Risk Management Department is 
sufficiently independent of the business units whose activities and exposures it reviews, it has 
access to all business lines, so as to understand them and request any relevant information to 
assess risk exposures in an appropriate way.

Organizational chart of the Risk Management Department in KIB: 
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Credit Risk

The Bank defines credit risk as the risk that the Bank is exposed to when a customer or 
counterparty to a financial exposure or asset fails to meet its contractual obligations and 
causes the Bank to incur a financial loss. 

The main sources of the credit risk arises principally from the Bank’s on-balance sheet financing 
portfolio exposure in products like Ijara, Investment Wakala, Murabaha, etc., and off-balance 
sheet products like Letters of Credit and Letters of Guarantee, etc.

Credit Risk Policy

Credit risk policies are an integral part of the Bank’s risk management framework. Policies 
govern all activities related to credit appraisal and review. Business segments specific policies 
and procedures are established to manage the risks that are unique to their business.

The policies are designed to embed the nature of the Bank’s existing business, its future road 
map and international best practices. The policies are reviewed on annual basis and on case 
to case basis depending on the market forces and business climate. 

To facilitate Bank-wide usage, the credit policies are rolled out on a web-based platform with 
advanced search functionalities to enhance ease of use.

Management of Credit Risk

The Bank’s Credit Risk Management uses well laid out policies & procedures to monitor and 
manage these risks. A centralized oversight is maintained through various measures and 
includes the following important functions: 

• Acceptance of Credit risk is through a committee process involving Credit Committee (CC) 
& Investments Committee (IC) at Senior Executive level and escalation to the Board Finance 
& Investment Committee (BFIC) at Board level.

• Establishment of an authority matrix for the approval and renewal of credit facilities which is 
used to review and assess each proposal prior to any facility being committed to customers. 
Review and renewal of facilities are subject to the same process;

• Monitoring and ensuring diversification of financing and investment activities;

• Fixing limits on concentrations for exposure to industry sectors, geographic locations and 
counterparties; 

• Reviewing the compliance aspects, on an ongoing basis, with agreed exposure limits relating 
to counterparties, industries and countries and 

• Reviewing limits in accordance with risk management strategy and market trends.

As an important part of the credit risk management function, the Bank uses an internal risk 
rating system to assess the credit quality of borrowers and counterparties. Each exposure in 
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Commercial & International Portfolio is assigned a risk rating. The present risk rating system has 
eight grades with a detailed rating description. The ratings range from minimal to substandard, 
where the rating of 1, is considered low risk and the grade of 8, is considered high risk. All 
past due cases are automatically classified under Risk Grade 8. The internal risk grading is 
mapped to external credit ratings (S&P Global Ratings, Moody’s and Fitch Ratings). 

Besides the Obligor rating, the Bank also has a rating tool for Facility rating and each client 
exposure is then mapped into a final rating based on a matrix that links the obligor rating and 
the facility rating. 

The rating system is subjected to an annual validation process. The rating models being used 
are based on statistical analysis but supplements them with expert qualitative judgment. It is 
expected that with passage of time the Bank can adopt other rating systems that would tend 
to be more statistical, but the Bank would retain expert judgment to ensure that models are 
suitable for Bank’s portfolio and in line with the Bank’s policies.

Sovereign and bank exposures are governed by the ratings from CBK approved external credit 
rating agencies and applying CBK mandated methodologies.

Monitoring of Credit Risk

Credit risk monitoring is performed at various levels. The monitoring is a rigorous process that 
begins right from the initiation of the proposal.  

Monitoring of risk quality (Obligor level): The Bank has a process of review of credit based on 
the internal rating grades. Every proposal has to carry a risk rating as the initial check on the 
quality of credit. In case of any deterioration additional reviews are made and the Bank has a 
process of defining and reporting all the potential problem accounts. 

Monitoring of risk quality (Portfolio Level): The Bank monitors the existing portfolio based on 
the economic sectors, industry, geography, ratings and business lines.

These portfolio reports are generated periodically and the Senior Management is informed on 
the same.

Monitoring of past dues on principal and profit: All the past dues on principal and profit on 
financing portfolio of the Bank are reported periodically to the Senior Management. Measures 
to realize such past dues are initiated with stringent follow up thereafter.

Monitoring of potential loss accounts (Watch-list): This category comprises of accounts where 
principal or profit are past due and which show some potential weakness in the borrower’s 
financial position and credit worthiness, which requires greater follow-up and monitoring. 
The requirement for Provision for delinquencies, if any are also periodically assessed. The 
assessment of impaired portfolio and provisioning requirement is vetted through a Provisioning 
Committee at Senior Executive level as mandated by CBK regulations and escalated to 
appropriate Board level committees.

Collateral management: The Bank has adopted a rigorous system of controls, reviews and 
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approvals to ensure effective collateral management. This includes Commitment to Value 
(C/V) requirement for each facility, specific collateral requirement for financing against shares 
and real estate portfolio. The collateral is evaluated in regular frequency and besides internal 
assessment; the valuations are backed by independent third party reports. 

- The minimum required capital for credit risk exposures:

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Exposure to credit risk Net exposure  Risk weighted

assets
 Required

Capital
1 Cash items 6,797 - -
2 Claims on sovereigns 326,516 - -
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 74,125 2,667 347
4 Claims on banks 115,764 29,699 3,861
5 Claims on corporate 862,665 814,010 105,821
6 Regulatory retail exposure 224,163 211,520 27,498
7 Past due exposures 32,141 17,688 2,299
8 Real estate investments 60,391 113,970 14,816
9 Investment and financing with Customers 8,476 11,997 1,560

10
 Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek)

27,117 5,119 665

11 Other exposures 84,989 92,100 11,973

 Less : Capital required for excess in
general Provision (over 1.25% of CRWA)

- (23,816) (3,096)

Total 1,823,144 1,274,954 165,744

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Exposure to credit risk Net exposure  Risk weighted

assets
 Required

Capital
1 Cash items 7,798 - -
2 Claims on sovereigns 296,902 - -
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 36,932 231 30
4 Claims on banks 125,466 35,352 4,596
5 Claims on corporate 741,092 717,044 93,216
6 Regulatory retail exposure 206,221 199,529  25,939
7 Past due exposures 12,631 7,983 1,038
8 Real estate investments 40,235 77,859 10,122
9 Investment and financing with Customers 3,864 5,607 729

10
 Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek)

37,080 16,488 2,143

11 Other exposures 81,977 95,269 12,385

 Less : Capital required for excess in
general Provision (over 1.25% of CRWA)

                        
-

                                    
(32,285)

                        
(4,198)

Total 1,590,198 1,123,077 146,000
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- Net Credit Exposures classified as Rated or Unrated (External Ratings)

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure Net Credit

Exposure Rated Exposure  Unrated
Exposures

1 Cash items 6,797 - 6,797
2 Claims on sovereigns 326,516 326,516 -
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 74,125  14,133  59,992*
4 Claims on banks 115,764  115,761 3
5 Claims on corporate 862,665 - 862,665
6 Regulatory retail exposure 224,163 - 224,163
7 Past due exposures 32,141 - 32,141
8 Real estate investments 60,391 - 60,391
9 Investment and financing with Customers 8,476 - 8,476

10  Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek) 27,117 27,117 -

11 Other exposures 84,989 - 84,989
Total 1,823,144 483,527 1,339,617

* Refers to local PSE 

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure Net Credit

Exposure Rated Exposure  Unrated
Exposures

1 Cash items 7,798 - 7,798

2 Claims on sovereigns 296,902 296,902 -

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 36,932  239 36,693*

4 Claims on banks 125,466  125,459 7

5 Claims on corporate 741,092 - 741,092

6 Regulatory retail exposure 206,221 - 206,221

7 Past due exposures 12,631 - 12,631

8 Real estate investments 40,235 - 40,235

9 Investment and financing with Customers 3,864 - 3,864

10  Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek) 37,080 36,709 371

11 Other exposures 81,977 - 81,977

Total 1,590,198 459,309 1,130,889

* Refers to local PSE 
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- Credit Risk Exposures classified Self-financed and Un-Restricted Investment Accounts

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure Self-Financed  Un-Restricted

Investment Accounts
1 Cash items 6,030  767
2 Claims on sovereigns 289,685 36,831
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 65,765  8,362
4 Claims on banks 102,706 13,057
5 Claims on corporate 993,161 126,272
6 Regulatory retail exposure 201,361 25,601
7 Past due exposures 31,334  3,984
8 Real estate investments 53,579 6,812
9 Investment and financing with Customers 20,051  2,549

10  Exposures resulting from sukuk and securitization
(taskeek) 24,710  3,141

11 Other exposures 75,402 9,587
Total 1,863,784 236,963

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure Self-Financed  Un-Restricted

Investment Accounts
1 Cash items 7,292  506

2 Claims on sovereigns 277,633 19,269

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 34,535  2,397

4 Claims on banks 117,323 8,143

5 Claims on corporate 1,068,193 74,137

6 Regulatory retail exposure 194,947 13,530

7 Past due exposures 17,254  1,197

8 Real estate investments 37,624 2,611

9 Investment and financing with Customers 20,216  1,403

10  Exposures resulting from sukuk and securitization
(taskeek) 35,247  2,446

11 Other exposures 76,657 5,320

Total 1,886,921 130,959
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- Average Credit Risk exposures, average Self-Financed Assets and average Un-Restricted 
Investment Accounts on quarterly basis:

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure

 Average
Credit risk
Exposure

Average Self-
financed

Average Un-
 Restricted

 Investment
Accounts

1 Cash items 7,449 6,736   713
2 Claims on sovereigns 321,396 290,603 30,793
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 78,310 70,800   7,510
4 Claims on banks 117,093 105,892 11,201
5 Claims on corporate 1,094,041 988,959   105,082
6 Regulatory retail exposure 219,436 198,316 21,120
7 Past due exposures 62,687 56,706   5,981
8 Real estate investments 45,229 40,804 4,425
9 Investment and financing with Customers 23,845 21,575   2,270

10  Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek) 28,391 25,675 2,716

11 Other exposures 84,680 76,548   8,132
Total 2,082,557 1,882,614 199,943

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure

 Average
Credit risk
Exposure

Average Self-
financed

Average Un-
 Restricted

 Investment
Accounts

1 Cash items 7,670 7,287  383

2 Claims on sovereigns 293,199 278,342 14,857

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 21,149 20,022 1,127

4 Claims on banks 162,753 155,349 7,404

5 Claims on corporate 1,123,543 1,070,434 53.109

6 Regulatory retail exposure 203,455 193,172 10,283

7 Past due exposures 16,909 16,048  861

8 Real estate investments 40,279 38,250 2,029

9 Investment and financing with Customers 17,349 16,457 892

10  Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek) 21,597 20,406 1,191

11 Other exposures 82,136 78,008 4,128

Total 1,990,039 1,893,775 96,264
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Concentration Risk

The Bank considers credit concentration risk as the risk that the Bank is exposed due to the 
level of exposure to any individual or related group of customers, specific industry or sector, 
country or geographical locations. 

Single Name Concentration:

Single name concentration is monitored on an individual basis and on consolidated related 
party exposure basis. Every proposal is subjected to this check and it is ensured that no 
single name concentration exceeds the 15% of capital limit set up by CBK unless specifically 
pre-approved by CBK. The top 25 exposures are monitored through a MIS generated on daily 
basis and forms part of reports submitted to Senior Management and also other statutory 
reporting units. The Bank abides by single obligor rule set by  CBK requiring the Banks to 
seek their approval for any planned exposure to a single counterparty or groups of connected 
counterparties exceeding the limit applicable to that counterparty.

Sector Concentration:

The Bank has consciously adopted measures to diversify the exposures to various sectors. 
Real estate exposure is currently the major contributor to portfolio but it remains within the limits 
internally prescribed for the sector and the exposure has sufficient collateral coverage. The 
Bank has established industry limits to ensure portfolio diversification and employs stringent 
financing guidelines in conjunction with close portfolio monitoring for vulnerable portfolios to 
systematic downturns.

Geographic Concentration:

The Bank’s operations are mainly concentrated within Kuwait. The Bank as part of its business 
expansion strategy has consciously diversified its exposures across geographies to reduce 
the dependence on local markets. Diversifications across geographies expose the Bank to 
legal, transfer and sovereign risk. Exposures are monitored periodically to ensure compliance 
within the cross-border limits approved by the Board of Directors.

The Risk Management Department monitors the movements in the portfolio and reports are 
submitted to the Senior Management on monthly and quarterly basis. The reports highlight the 
market trends, the business directions, the risk parameters and suggest mitigants.
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- Geographical Distributions for Credit Risk Exposure:                                            

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure Mena  North

America Europe Asia Total

1 Cash items 6,797 -  - - 6,797
2 Claims on sovereigns 326,516 - - - 326,516

3
 Claims on Public Sector Entities
(PSE)

74,127 - - - 74,127

4 Claims on banks 102,258 739 1,983 10,783 115,763
5 Claims on corporate 1,112,536 - - 6,897 1,119,433
6 Regulatory retail exposure 226,962 - - - 226,962
7 Past due exposures 34,857 - 461 - 35,318
8 Real estate investments 60,391 - - - 60,391

9
 Investment and financing with
Customers

22,600 - - - 22,600

10
 Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek)

3,722 - - 24,129 27,851

11 Other exposures 69,245 3,743 12,001 - 84,989
Total 2,040,011 4,482 14,445 41,809 2,100,747

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure Mena  North

America Europe Asia Total

1 Cash items 7,798 -  - - 7,798
2 Claims on sovereigns 296,902 - - - 296,902

3
 Claims on Public Sector Entities
(PSE)

36,932 - - - 36,932

4 Claims on banks 118,883 2,003 2,726 1,853 125,465
5 Claims on corporate 1,131,083 - - 11,248 1,142,331
6 Regulatory retail exposure 208,477 - - - 208,477
7 Past due exposures 18,451 - - - 18,451
8 Real estate investments 40,235 - - - 40,235

9
 Investment and financing with
Customers

21,619 - - - 21,619

10
 Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek)

10,145 3,063 - 24,485 37,693

11 Other exposures 66,350 4,580 11,047 - 81,977
Total 1,956,875 9,646 13,773 37,586 2,017,880
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- Maturities of total Credit Risk exposure: 

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure  Up to 3

months
 3 to 12
months

 Over 1
year Total

1 Cash items   6,797   -   -   6,797

2 Claims on sovereigns   326,516   -   -   326,516

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE)   326   7,191   66,610   74,127

4 Claims on banks   85,275   3,299   27,189   115,763

5 Claims on corporate   333,133   570,859   215,441   1,119,433

6 Regulatory retail exposure   262   3,136   223,564   226,962

7 Past due exposures  - -   35,318   35,318

8 Real estate investments -  -   60,391   60,391

9 Investment and financing with Customers   18,748   3,852 -   22,600

10
 Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek)

  24,129 -   3,722   27,851

11 Other exposures   6,574   5,362   73,053   84,989

Total   801,760   593,699   705,288   2,100,747

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure  Up to 3

months
 3 to 12
months

 Over 1
year Total

1 Cash items 7,798 - - 7,798

2 Claims on sovereigns 296,902 - - 296,902

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 1,313 879 34,740 36,932

4 Claims on banks 89,514 26,458 9,493 125,465

5 Claims on corporate 456,742 526,080 159,509 1,142,331

6 Regulatory retail exposure 700 2,964 204,813 208,477

7 Past due exposures - - 18,451 18,451

8 Real estate investments - - 40,235 40,235

9 Investment and financing with Customers  11,788 9,831 - 21,619

10
 Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek)

24,485 3,068 10,140 37,693

11 Other exposures - - 81,977 81,977

Total 889,242 569,280 559,358 2,017,880
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- Main sectors of total Credit Risk exposures 

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure  Manufacturing

and trading

 Banks and

 Financial

institutions

 Construction
 and Real

Estate
Government Others Total

1 Cash items   -   6,797   -   -   - 6,797
2 Claims on sovereigns   -  316,455   -   10,061   - 326,516

3  Claims on Public Sector
Entities (PSE)   -   -   -   74,127   - 74,127

4 Claims on banks   -   115,763   -   -   - 115,763
5 Claims on corporate   214,876   37,537   623,478   -  243,542 1,119,433

6  Regulatory retail
exposure   -   -   -   -   226,962 226,962

7 Past due exposures   941   -   30,387   3,990 35,318
8 Real estate investments   -   -   60,391   -   - 60,391

9
 Investment and
 financing with
Customers

  -   -   -   -   22,600 22,600

10
 Exposures resulting
 from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek)

  -   24,129   734   -   2,988 27,851

11 Other exposures     -   21,042   2,346   -   61,601 84,989
Total 215,817 521,723 717,336 84,188 561,683 2,100,747

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure  Manufacturing

and trading

 Banks and

 Financial

institutions

 Construction
 and Real

Estate
Government Others Total

1 Cash items - 7,798 - - - 7,798
2 Claims on sovereigns - 290,669 -  6,233 - 296,902

3  Claims on Public Sector
Entities (PSE) - - - 36,932 - 36,932

4 Claims on banks - 125,465 - - - 125,465
5 Claims on corporate 197,466 63,283 695,989 - 185,593 1,142,331

6  Regulatory retail
exposure - - - - 208,477 208,477

7 Past due exposures 51 - 15,467 - 2,933 18,451
8 Real estate investments - - 40,235 - - 40,235

9
 Investment and
 financing with
Customers

- - - - 21,619 21,619

10
 Exposures resulting
 from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek)

- 27,556 984 - 9,153 37,693

11 Other exposures 1,859 21,714 2,313 - 56,091 81,977

Total 199,376 536,485 754,988 43,165 483,866 2,017,880
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Irregular and past due credit facilities

- Irregular Credit facilities (Impaired) consist the following categories:

• Watch list Category requiring specific provisions on assessment basis: «Special mention 
where it is required to calculate specific provisions for them”. Includes regular clients but 
upon  management’s discretion, provisions have been booked to confront any possible future 
deterioration, in addition to credit facilities that are overdue for 90 days or less (inclusive). 
The specific provision percentage is determined based on review of each case and after 
a thorough study by the management and also after deducting deferred, suspended profit 
and eligible collateral.

• Sub-standard: If facilities are irregular for a period of 91 – 180 days (inclusive), a provision rate 
of minimum 20% shall be applied on the total of the facilities net of deferred and suspended 
profit and eligible collateral.

• Doubtful Debts: If debts are irregular for a period of 181 – 365 days (inclusive), a provision rate 
of minimum 50% shall be applied on the total of the facilities net of deferred and suspended 
profit and eligible collateral.

• Bad Debts: If debts are irregular for more than 365 days, a provision rate of 100% shall 
be applied on the total of the facilities net of deferred and suspended profit and eligible 
collateral.

- Special mention where it is not required to calculate a specific provision for them but continue 
to be subject to general provision.

In accordance with the CBK instructions, a minimum general provision is made on all applicable 
credit facilities (net of certain categories of collateral) that are not provided for specifically. The 
minimum general provision in excess of the present 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% for non-
cash facilities is retained as a general provision until further directive from the CBK.

At 31 December 2017, the Bank’s non-performing cash finance facilities amounted to 
KD 39,951 thousand (31 December 2016: KD 21,546 thousand), KD 38,545 thousand (31 
December 2016: KD 20,178 thousand) after excluding deferred revenue, KD 38,297 thousand 
(31 December 2016: KD 19,952 thousand) after excluding deferred revenue and suspended 
profit and KD 31,564 thousand (31 December 2016: KD 12,631 thousand) after excluding 
eligible collaterals in accordance with CBK regulations.  As at 31 December 2017, the Bank’s 
provision amounted to KD 45,294 thousand (31 December 2016: KD 49, 814 thousand), 
including general provisions that amounted KD 40,051 thousand (31 December 2016: KD 
46,727 thousand).

:
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Irregular and past due financing facilities exposures based on standard portfolios are as 
follows: 

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
 Net

 financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 Claims on corporate - - - -   90,694
2 Regulatory retail exposure - - - -   16,015

3 Past due exposures 38,545 3,804 34,741 15,780 -

Total 38,545 3,804 34,741 15,780 106,709
 

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
 Net

 financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 Claims on corporate - - - - 141,816

2 Regulatory retail exposure - - - - 16,404

3 Past due exposures 20,178 1,727 18,451 6,595 -

Total 20,178 1,727 18,451 6,595 158,220

Irregular and past due financing facilities exposures based on financial assets are as follows:

2017
KD 000’s

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired Impaired

1 Claims on corporate 31,338 15,508

2 Regulatory retail  exposure 3,403 2,943

Total 34,741 18,451
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Irregular and past due financing facilities exposures based on geographical distribution as 
described as follows:

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
 Net

 financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 MENA 38,545 3,804 34,741 15,780 106,709
2 Europe - - - - -
3 Asia - - - - -

Total 38,545 3,804 34,741 15,780 106,709

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
 Net

 financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 MENA 20,178 1,727 18,451 6,595 158,220

2 Europe - - - - -

3 Asia - - - - -
Total 20,178 1,727 18,451 6,595 158,220

Irregular and past due financing facilities exposures based on industrial distribution is 
described as follows:

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
 Net

 financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 Manufacturing & Trade 1,851 910 941  1,176 10,200
2 Banks and financial institutions - - -     - -
3 Construction and Real Estate 31,504   1,116 30,388   10,383 62,624
4 Others 5,190 1,778 3,412  4,221 33,885

Total 38,545 3,804 34,741 15,780 106,709

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
 Net

 financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 Manufacturing & Trade 63 12 51  2,986 19,489
2 Banks and financial institutions - - - - -
3 Construction and Real Estate 15,457 - 15,457  926 114,357
4 Others 4,658 1,715 2,943  2,683 24,374

Total 20,178 1,727 18,451 6,595 158,220
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Movement of specific provision (cash only) is outlined as follows:

2017
KD 000’s

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Particulars Amount Amount

1  At 1 January 3,087 2,782

2 Charge for the year 7,986 6,900

3 Written off during the  year  (15,780) (6,595)

4 Reclassification of provision   9,950 -

 At 31 December 5,243 3,087

General provision according to the credit risk exposure is described as follows:

2017
KD 000’s

2016
KD 000’s

 Serial
No.  Credit Risk Exposure Amount Amount

1 Claims on banks 166 261

2 Claims on corporate 36,344 43,115

3 Regulatory retail exposure 3,541 3,351

Total 40,051 46,727

Eligible collaterals and banking guarantees given against credit risk exposure are described 
as follows:

2017
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure

 Gross
 credit

exposure

 Eligible
collaterals

 Banking
Guarantees

1 Cash items 6,797 - -
2 Claims on sovereigns 326,516 - -
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 74,127  2 -
4 Claims on banks 115,763 - -
5 Claims on corporate 1,119,433 256,768
6 Regulatory retail exposure 226,962 2,799 -
7 Past due exposures 35,318 3,177 -
8 Real estate investments 60,391 - -

9 Investment and financing with Customers 22,600 14,124 -

10
 Exposures resulting from sukuk and
securitization (taskeek)

27,851  734 -

11 Other exposures 84,989 - -
Total 2,100,747 277,604 -
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2016
KD 000’s

Credit risk exposure  Gross credit
exposure

 Eligible
collaterals

 Banking
Guarantees

1 Cash items 7,798 - -

2 Claims on sovereigns 296,902 - -

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 36,932 - -

4 Claims on banks 125,465 - -

5 Claims on corporate 1,142,331 401,238  -

6 Regulatory retail exposure 208,477 2,256 -

7 Past due exposures 18,451 5,820 -

8 Real estate investments 40,235 - -

9 Investment and financing with Customers 21,619 17,755 -

10
 Exposures resulting from sukuk and securitization
(taskeek)

37,693  613 -

11 Other exposures 81,977 - -

Total 2,017,880 427,682 -

Operational Risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal 
processes, people and/or systems, or from external events. This includes, but is not limited 
to, legal risk, fraud risk, risk due to money laundering and risk of non-compliance with Islamic 
Shari’a. 

Operational Risk arise from day to day operational activities undertaken by the Bank in 
conducting the business by various business and operational units of the Bank.

The Bank identifies and assesses the operational risk in products, activities, processes and 
systems. It also ensures that before any new products or services, activities, processes or 
systems are introduced; the associated operational risks are properly assessed and mitigated. 
The Bank’s operating procedures for all departments are overseen by the Operational Risk 
Unit. The Bank uses the following methodologies in managing operational risk

• Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA): Bank has in place a comprehensive process for 
Risk and Control Self-Assessments. KIB uses the RCSA as a self-assessment process of 
identifying and assessing operational risks within the Bank and evaluating effectiveness of 
controls that are in place to manage the identified risk. Risks are assessed based on their 
likelihood and potential financial impact.

• Key Risk Indicator (KRI): KRIs are measures to monitor exposure to key Operational Risks. 
KRI provides a holistic view of operational risks to the Management.

• Loss Data Management (LDM): The Bank has in place a Loss Data Management process 
to record operational losses. All operational loss are recorded and thoroughly analyzed. 
Operational losses are classified as per Basel II event categories.
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All critical Risks and Loss events are periodically reported to the Board Risk Management 
Committee. 

Operational risk weighted exposures calculated during the year ended 31 December 2017 
amounted to KD 130,117 thousand (31 December 2016: KD 126, 369 thousand) as per the 
Basic Indicator Approach. The amount calculated for operational risk weighted exposures is 
adequate to cover any projected risks to maintain a reasonable profit ratio for shareholders 
and investment account holders. The minimum required capital for operational risk exposures 
amounts to KD 16,915 thousand (31 December 2016: KD 16, 428 thousand).

Operational Risk governance framework

Since operational risk arise from a multitude of processes, the primary focus of operational 
risk management is in developing awareness of operational weaknesses, strengthening 
the controls and installing additional risk mitigation where required.  The Operational Risk 
Framework comprises of risk governance which is an integral aspect of corporate governance 
and focuses on the structures, processes and approaches for management of significant risks.  
Bank’s policies define clear roles and responsibilities for Risk Management. Operational Risk 
Management Process in the Bank consist of identification of risks and controls, Assessment 
of risks and controls, monitoring and reporting. The Head of Operational Risk works with the 
business departments through operational risk coordinators to improve understanding of 
operational weaknesses and take preventative steps to mitigate the risk. 

Business Continuity Management (BCM)

Business Continuity is the capability to continue the services at acceptable predefined levels 
following a disruptive incident.  Business Continuity Management Strategy (BCMS) in KIB 
addresses the risks inherent with unexpected business interruptions and has been established 
to make sure that its systems and procedures are capable of managing business disruptions 
as defined by its management committee.

The Bank fully recognizes the importance of maintaining a comprehensive business continuity 
program and has well established its BCMS policy, strategy procedures and plans that provide 
resilience and recovery of the Bank’s critical systems and data at an acceptable level.

Bank has established BCM strategy taking into considering the following zero tolerance risks:

• Noncompliance with Shari’a principles 

• Noncompliance with Central Bank of Kuwait’s requirements

• Noncompliance with Information  Security policies and baseline requirements

• Noncompliance with Anti Money Laundering requirements 

• Noncompliance with all applicable laws and regulations

The Bank’s BCM programme adheres to the guidelines of international organization for 
standardization, Good Practice Guidelines by the Business Continuity institute and Basel Joint 
Forum: High-level Principles for Business Continuity. The Bank’s BCM program has been ISO 
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- 22301 certified by internationally reputed and specialized external Audit agency BSI (British 
Standard Institution) since year 2013 and has been recertified for 3 more years in 2016.

BCM Lifecycle elements are conducted periodically in accordance with the BCM maintenance 
standard as defined in the BCM policy. (i.e.) standards and procedures, business impact 
analysis, BCM strategy and recovery plans. Impacts are assessed based on historical 
evidences, and available sources and publications considering KIB’s business strategies.

The Bank has a Disaster Recovery Site, and server backups are stored off-site and transaction 
logs are copied regularly. Technical and functional recovery tests are undertaken periodically 
to ensure the Bank’s preparedness aiming for the safety of staff, resuming customer data core 
processing, other critical systems as well as its sub-systems at acceptable levels within the 
shortest possible time and with minimal disruptions, under defined scenarios.

BCM Governance Framework:

The BCM Unit works with the business group of BCM leaders to improve understanding of 
business continuity weakness and take preventive steps to mitigate the risks. Business Continuity 
Steering Group (BCSG) at the management level is to ensure that BCM policy incorporates 
sound business continuity management practices that are implemented effectively within the 
Bank. The BCSG also ensure that the members and Senior Management are fully aware of and 
are constantly monitoring the continuity requirements of their business functions.

BCSG convene to review the progress of BCM programs and its lifecycle elements and also 
approve any changes to the BCM documents all the activities of which are overseen by the 
Board Risk Management Committee.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value and the future cash flow of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. It refers to the risk of deterioration in the Bank›s 
financial condition resulting from adverse price or volatile movements of the assets contained 
in its portfolio. Market risk represents what the Bank could lose if prices or volatility changed. 
The main source of market risk comprises of currency risks, profit rate risk, and other price risk 
(other than those arising from profit rate risk or currency risk)

Management of Market Risk

The Bank manages market risk by implementing pro-active methodologies and putting in place 
policies & procedures for the measurement, limits monitoring and reporting of market risks. 
The policies and procedures ensure clear definition of roles & responsibilities of the various 
functionaries involved at all levels for the activity concerned, clear approval authority structure, 
and a hierarchy of limits so that the market risks are within acceptable levels. Market Risks are 
measured by appropriate methodologies. The Bank uses the Value at Risk (VaR) for measuring 
the risk of the foreign exchange exposures of the Bank and has suitable VaR limits apart from 
limits on the notional value. Earnings at Risk (EaR) based on the re-pricing gap method is used 
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to assess the profit rate risk in the banking book and appropriate EaR limits are established.  
Equity Price risk is measured through Value at Risk methodologies. All market risk exposures 
are closely monitored by the Risk Management Department. Market risk is reported to ALCO 
members on daily basis, to ALCO Committee on monthly basis and to BRMC on a quarterly 
basis.

Market Risk Governance framework

Asset Liability Management Committee (ALCO), and the Board Risk Management Committee 
(BRMC) oversees market risk. Foreign exchange risk is managed within Treasury Department 
and Equity price risk is managed within the Investment Department.  

Market Risk Exposures

Market Risk Weighted Exposure as of 31 December 2017 amounted to KD 1,265 thousand (31 
December 2016: KD 3, 107 thousand), based on the standardized approach. The minimum 
required capital for market risk exposures amounts to KD 164 thousand (31 December 2016: 
KD 404 thousand). The Bank’s market exposure was related to the foreign currency exchange 
risk and the Bank did not have any other market risk exposure.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity is the ability of the Bank to efficiently accommodate for decreases in deposits and 
other liabilities as well as fund financing portfolio growth and off-Balance Sheet claims. 
Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Bank may be unable to obtain at a certain time the cash flow 
resources necessary to meet its obligations/ commitments which can either be financing or the 
repayment of maturing obligations. This includes the risk of not meeting the regulatory liquidity 
requirements of CBK, inability to procure the necessary resources without incurring high cost 
and a reduction in the financing activity to match resources actually available. Liquidity Risk 
arises on account of (a) the inability to replace net outflows due to unanticipated withdrawal/ 
non-renewal of deposits (wholesale / retail), (b) the inability to compensate for the non- receipt 
of expected inflow of funds, e.g. performing assets becoming nonperforming assets and (c) 
crystallization of contingent liability.

Management of Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk is measured by using the regulatory residual maturity ladder approach which 
involves analyzing liquidity gaps in different time periods. Bank manages its gaps by 
establishing limits and ensuring that the gaps are within the internal limits. Regulatory limits are 
prescribed by CBK and has to be adhered at all times. In addition to the regulatory ratio and 
limits including Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), the Bank 
also monitors multiple deposit concentration ratios. The Bank’s maturity profile and related 
maturity mismatches are also subjected to stress testing on a periodical basis. Liquidity gaps 
are monitored on a daily basis and again reviewed on a monthly basis by ALCO. To limit the 
liquidity risk, funding concentrations are constantly monitored, funding sources diversified and 
long term funds sourced.
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Liquidity Risk Governance Framework

Liquidity Risk is monitored by Market & Liquidity Risk function within Risk Management, while 
ALCO and BRMC oversee liquidity risk management. ALCO reviews periodically the actual 
liquidity position and recommends in terms of immediate targets of liquidity mix and maturity 
profiles/ mismatches. BRMC periodically reviews the adherence to the internal /regulatory 
liquidity ratios and limits established.

Investment securities

The Bank classifies investment securities as financial assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
(FVTPL) or financial assets Available for Sale (AFS) at the time of acquisition. AFS investments 
include equity investments and debt securities. Equity investments classified as AFS are those, 
which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or loss. 
Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an indefinite period 
of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes 
in the market conditions. After initial measurement, financial investments are subsequently 
measured at fair value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash 
flow models and other models as appropriate.

Financial assets, the realised gain or loss and the unrealised gain or loss on these investment 
securities are set below:

2017
KD 000’s

 Type of Investment Carrying
Value

 Realised gain
or loss

 Unrealised gain or
 loss recognised in

 the Statement of
Financial Position

Quoted equity securities   13,596   772   975

Unquoted equity securities   26,353   643  (264)

Unquoted funds     -   -   -

Investment in Sukuk   43,891   -  (132)

Total   83,840   1,415   579

2016
KD 000’s

 Type of Investment Carrying
Value

 Realised gain
or loss

 Unrealised gain or
 loss recognised in

 the Statement of
Financial Position

Quoted equity securities 13,145 (338) (195)

Unquoted equity securities 28,935 86 (2,392)

Unquoted funds - - -

Investment in Sukuk 43,927 - (8)

Total 86,007 (252) (2,595)

Basel III Pillar III disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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2017
KD 000’s

Financial assets by sectors Carrying Value  Minimum capital
requirement

 Financial assets available for sale

Trading and manufacturing -     -
Banks and financial institutions 62,437   8,117
Construction and real estate 3,080   400
Other 18,261   2,374
Subtotal 83,778 10,891
Financial assets at fair value  through profit or loss

Trading and manufacturing - -
Banks and financial institutions 8 1
Construction and real estate - -
Other 54 7
Subtotal 62 8

     Total 83,840 10,899

 
2016

KD 000’s

Financial assets by sectors Carrying Value  Minimum capital
requirement

 Financial assets available for sale

Trading and manufacturing 1,859 242

Banks and financial institutions 59,083 7,681

Construction and real estate 3,298 429

Other 21,709 2,822

Subtotal 85,949 11,174

Financial assets at fair value  through profit or loss

Trading and manufacturing - -

Banks and financial institutions 6 1

Construction and real estate - -

Other 52 7

Subtotal 58 8

     Total 86,007 11,182

Basel III Pillar III disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Qualitative Risks Capital Allocation 

Strategic Risk

The Bank defines strategic risk as the current or prospective impact on Bank’s earnings, 
capital, and risks arising from changes in environment the Bank operates in, from adverse 
strategic decisions, improper implementation of decision or lack of responsiveness to industry 
downturns, economic direction or technological changes.  In this regard the Bank has put in 
place strategic risk framework to identify measure, monitor and report strategic risk exposures.  
The Sources of Strategic Risk are:

• Gap in execution of Bank’s strategy

• Complexity of Bank's Strategy 

• Current risks to the achievement of the strategy 

• Bank's track record of achieving its strategic goals in past 3 years

Strategic risk will be primarily assessed in terms of the controls available to mitigate such risks 
and the Bank’s ability to successfully implement its goals under its long term strategic plan. 

Strategic Risk Capital Allocation: As part of its Risk Management Framework, ICAAP and Stress 
Testing, the Bank is assessing its strategic risk and allocating capital considering several 
scenarios where Bank has not achieved planned growth and partially met the expected Return 
on Equity as a case of worst possible score. Accordingly, the scores will be mapped to capital, 
with a floor of predefined base points (BPs) for the best possible score.

Reputation Risk 

Reputation risk is the risk of current or prospective negative impact on the Bank’s earnings or 
capital arising from damage to the Bank’s reputation in the perception of major stakeholders.  
The Bank is managing its reputation risk through a reputation risk management framework. 

The Bank is monitoring also the reputational risk under Pillar II risks (ICAAP/Stress Testing). 
The following factors/aspects are currently being considered in measuring this risk:

• Financial performance (including RoE, stock price and credit rating)

• Customer satisfaction

• Regulatory breaches / fines

• Negative media publicity

• Corporate social responsibility

Basel III Pillar III disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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The Bank has identified various reputation Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) and has classified them 
under 12 drivers.  These KRI’s are managed under customer satisfaction, financial soundness, 
corporate governance, management integrity, business practice, risk management and control 
environment, regulatory compliance, transparency, media and rumors, corporate culture, staff 
competence and crisis management. These parameters are used for assessing and managing 
reputation risk.

Under Pillar II the Bank assesses the reputation risk based on reputation risk scorecards to 
assess risk through key drivers that influence reputation of the Bank in the perception of its 
significant stakeholders.

Legal Risk

The Bank defines the legal risk as the risks of loss resulting from the Bank’s inability to implement 
contracts or any other rights vested in it. The sources of legal risk are:

• Terms & Conditions and general structure of the legal documents/contracts

• Lack of the proper documentation covering core banking business

• Inadequate or missing authorizations and signatures

• Violation of the Bank’s or legal rules

• Claims or counter-claims filed against the Bank

The Bank’s approach to the assessment of legal risk embedded in its contracts and processes 
considering the following four aspects:

i. Historical Losses (due to the legal risk)

ii. Assessment of internal audit findings around processes, systems and controls around 
legal documentation and execution of the contracts

iii. Internal Control Reviews (ICR) related to legal documentation of financing contracts and 

iv. Review of a sample of legal contracts on a number of legal aspects/criteria, 

Compliance Risks (Both Regulatory and Shari’a):

The Bank follows a zero tolerance policy with respect to regulatory compliance risk. A 
comprehensive CBK compliance framework is in place to monitor and review adherence to 
regulatory requirements.

In addition to the above, Risk Management framework covers under the Legal Risk Management 
and Operational Risk Management the Shari’a Compliance Risks. 

Both Internal Audit Programmes and Internal Control Reviews (ICR) have not reported any 
violation on Shari’a compliance of the Bank and as per its Shari’a and Fatwa Supervisory Board.

Basel III Pillar III disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Shari’a controls 

In terms of the Bank’s policies and procedures, the Shari’a Supervisory Department audits 
the Bank's various departments twice a year, based on their adherence to the Shari’a controls 
in respect of the Bank's products. The report of the Shari’a audit is taken up by the Bank's 
Management for corrective action. 

Any profits, contrary to the principles of Shari’a law, which is realized either due to negligence 
or ignorance, are set aside and not included in the Bank’s profit. Similarly, expenses incurred 
or profits accrued on account of transactions under contracts entered into with customers 
before the Bank’s conversion to an  Islamic bank and where the customer has not consented to 
covert such contracts to Islamic Shari’a, are segregated and transferred to  a special ‘Charities 
Account’. The net proceeds of this account are spent towards charitable works under the 
supervision and approval of the Shari’a Board. 

During the period ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Bank’s Shari’a 
department did not find any Shari’a violation in respect of contracts and transactions that were 
studied and audited.

The Bank uses the ‘Companies and Institutions Zakat Computation Guidebook’ published by 
Zakat House for computing Zakat on the Bank's shares.

Sixth: Remuneration disclosures

The Bank has construed specific policies to cover remuneration practices that guide its 
remuneration based on performance and risk. For this purpose the Bank has set up a dedicated 
Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee (BNRC) to independently assess and monitor 
remuneration levels across the bank. The BNRC consists of 4 non-executive board members.

The remuneration policy provides the basis of determining remuneration to the Bank’s 
employees, managers and senior executives based on their responsibilities, authority level 
and performance.  Remuneration is determined based on the policy’s guidelines which include 
performance rewards applicable to the Bank as a whole.  The material risk takers determined 
by the Bank are defined as CEO, Senior Executives of Commercial Banking, Retail Banking, 
Treasury, Investments, and International Banking.  

The remuneration processes are designed to reward employees based on evaluation of 
performance.  Specific employee role and responsibility related performance metrics are 
designed in the form of SMART objectives to continuously evaluate performance of executives 
and employees.  Performance is evaluated based on targets and their achievement measured 
on a transparent basis that is applied for determining rewards. 

The Bank takes into account the risk positions taken into books by senior executives working 
within the Business or income generating departments in determining remuneration where the 
future risks and crystallization of such risks are considered. Performance related rewards are 
subject to a comprehensive reward scheme.  

Basel III Pillar III disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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The Bank ensures that the performance of its employees, managers and Senior Executives are 
measured through a systematic performance management system with measurable metrics 
for performance rewards.  Rewards will vary based on the performance of all employees and 
executives which is linked to the overall performance of the Bank.

The performance incentive scheme applied by the Bank offers a competitive bonus payment 
scheme as a variable reward element to total pay depending on a three tier platform measuring 
Bank performance, Departmental Performance and Individual Performance. The Bank accrues 
on a monthly basis a deferred benefits scheme to cover for the End of Service Benefits.

As of 31 December 2017, total remuneration of Shari’a board members is KD 30 thousand (31 
December 2016: KD 30 thousand).

During 2017, 1 employee received KD 15 thousand (2016: 2 employees KD 50 thousand) as 
a sign-on awards in cash.

The three major categories for remuneration disclosure are as below;

Senior Management: this category includes employees in the position of Assistant General 
Manager and above and staff whose hiring are subject to approval of regulators.

Material Risk Takers: this category includes all employees whose activities and decisions have 
a material impact on the risk profile of the Bank.

Financial and Control Functions: this category includes all head of departments and head of 
units in Risk Management, Financial Control & Planning, Anti-Money Laundering, Internal Audit 
and Compliance functions.

Basel III Pillar III disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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The following table represents the fixed and variable remuneration.

2017
KD 000’s

Senior Management Material Risk Takers

Remuneration type Unrestricted Deferred Unrestricted Deferred

Fixed remuneration
- Cash-based  1,459 - 889 -
- Other  - - - -

Variable remuneration
- Cash-based  400 98 -* 57
- Other  - - - -

* Material Risk Takers are identified as Senior Management  

2016
KD 000’s

Senior Management Material Risk Takers

Remuneration type Unrestricted Deferred Unrestricted Deferred

Fixed remuneration
- Cash-based  1,298 - 692 -
- Other  - - - -

Variable remuneration
- Cash-based  250 113 -* 67
- Other  - - - -

* Material Risk Takers are identified as Senior Management  

2017
KD 000’s

Employees categories  Number of
employees Total remuneration

Senior Management 23 1,957
 Material Risk Takers 10 946

Financial and Control Functions 15 532

2016
KD 000’s

Employees categories  Number of
employees Total remuneration

Senior Management 26 1,661
 Material Risk Takers 13 759

Financial and Control Functions 14 471

Basel III Pillar III disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Seventh: Deposits accounts disclosures

Depositors’ accounts represent Current account, Margin Account, Call account, Savings 
account, Mudaraba and Wakala. 

The ranges of the invested ratios on behalf of the depositors are described as follows:

2017 2016

Name of the deposit  Investment
percentage

 Investment
percentage

Call account 50% 50%

Savings account 60% 60%

Flexible Deposit 70% -

1 Month Arzaq Deposit 65% 65%

3 Month Arzaq Deposit 70% 70%

 6 Month Arzaq Deposit 75% 75%

 Continuous 1 Year Arzaq Deposit 90% 90%

Al-Boushra Deposit 100% 100%

Al-Jood Deposit 100% 100%

Basel III Pillar III disclosures
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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The Group’s financial leverage ratio comprises of Tier (1) capital (As defined in the instructions 
on capital of Islamic banks Standard) divided by total exposures which consists of:

1. On-balance sheet exposures

2. Exposures of hedging contracts compliant with Islamic Shari’a Standards.

3. off-balance sheet exposures

At 31 December 2017, the financial leverage ratio is 10.92% (31 December 2016: 10.73%) 
compared to the ratio required by regulatory authorities of 3%, Tier (1) Capital of KD 251,615 
thousand (31 December 2016: KD 242,817 thousand) and total exposures is KD 2,305,212 
thousand (31 December 2016: KD 2,263,621 thousand). 

Summary comparison of accounting assets vs leverage ratio exposure measure:

KD 000’s

S. No. Item  31 Dec
2017

 31 Dec
2016

1. Total consolidated assets as per published financial statements 1,956,089 1,892,767

2.
 Adjustment for investments in banking, financial, insurance or
 commercial entities that are consolidated for accounting purposes but
outside the scope of regulatory consolidation

- -

3.
 Adjustment for fiduciary assets recognized on the balance sheet
 pursuant to the operative accounting framework but excluded from the
leverage ratio exposure measure

- -

4. Adjustments for derivative financial instruments - -

5.
 Adjustment for off-balance sheet items (ie conversion to credit
equivalent amounts of off-balance sheet exposures)

349,123 370,854

6. Other adjustments - -

7. Leverage ratio exposure 2,305,212 2,263,621

Financial Leverage Ratio
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Leverage ratio common disclosure template: 

KD 000’s

S. No. Item  31 Dec
2017

 31 Dec
2016

On-balance sheet exposures

1.
 On-balance sheet items (excluding Shari’a compliant hedging
contracts, but including collateral)

1,956,089 1,892,767

2. (Asset amounts deducted in determining Basel III Tier 1 capital) - -

3.
 Total on-balance sheet exposures (excluding Shari’a compliant
hedging contracts) (sum of lines 1 and 2)

1,956,089 1,892,767

Exposures of hedging contracts compliant with Islamic Shari’a Standards - -

4.
 Replacement cost associated with all Shari’a compliant hedging
contracts (i.e. net of eligible cash variation margin)

- -

5.
 Add-on amounts for potential future exposures ” PFE” associated with
all Shari’a compliant hedging contracts

- -

6.
 Gross-up for the collateral of Shari’a compliant hedging contracts
 provided where deducted from the balance sheet assets pursuant to
the Bank’s accounting policy

- -

7.
 (Deductions of receivables assets for cash variation margin provided in
with all Shari’a compliant hedging contracts)

- -

8. (Bank’s exposures to exempted Central counter parties “CCP”) - -

9.
 Total exposures of Shari’a compliant hedging contracts (sum of lines 4
to 8)

- -

Other off-balance sheet exposures

10.
 Off-balance sheet exposure (before any adjustment for credit
conversion factors)

  493,781 495,967

11. (Adjustments for conversion to credit equivalent amounts)  (144,658) (125,113)

12. Off-balance sheet items (sum of lines 10 and 11)   349,123 370,854

Capital and total exposures

13. Tier 1 capital   251,615 242,817

14. Total exposures (sum of lines 3, 9, 12)   2,305,212 2,263,621

Financial leverage ratio

15. Financial leverage ratio (13/14) 10.92% 10.73%

Financial Leverage Ratio
For the year ended 31 December 2017
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Central Bank of Kuwait had adopted at its meeting convened on 23/12/2014 the Liquidity 
Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) for local Islamic banks, to promote resilience of banks liquidity risk 
management by ensuring that they have sufficient High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA) to survive 
a significant stress scenario lasting for one month. At minimum, such stock of liquid assets 
should enable the bank to survive until 30 days of the stress scenario. Liquidity Coverage 
Standard (as a percentage) is calculated as follows:

(Stock of Islamic Shari'a Compliant HQLA)

((Net Cash Outflows over the Next 30 Calendar Days))

Governance of Liquidity Risk Management and Funding.
The banks liquidity management is guided by its Assets Liability Management (ALM) Policy 
which is reviewed annually and approved by the Board of Directors. The ALM Policy specifies 
the main goals, roles and responsibilities and related processes for managing liquidity risk. 
Specifically, the Policy outlines approaches for identifying, measuring and monitoring of 
liquidity risk parameters in line with regulatory and internal limits. ALCO and the Board Risk 
Management Committee (BRMC) oversees the liquidity risk management functions. ALCO 
reviews periodically the liquidity conditions and recommends in terms of immediate targets of 
liquidity mix and maturity profiles /mismatches.  BRMC periodically reviews the adherence to 
the internal / regulatory liquidity ratios and limits established. 

Liquidity risk is measured primarily using the residual maturity approach and bank manages its 
gaps within the limits. In addition to prudent liquidity ratios, the bank also monitors periodically 
multiple deposits and funding concentration limits established to ensure better diversification 
of funding. The Bank’s maturity profile and related maturity mismatches are also subjected to 
stress testing on a periodical basis. Liquidity gaps are monitored on a daily basis and again 
reviewed on a monthly basis by ALCO. To limit the liquidity risk, funding concentrations are 
constantly monitored, funding sources diversified and long term funds sourced.

Analysis of the results for the quarter ended 31.12.2017
As per CBK instructions banks should maintain LCR with effect from 1st January 2017 to end 
2017 at above 80%.  Bank has complied with this ratio on all days of the quarter.

The Bank maintained an average LCR (All Currencies) during the quarter at 166.15%. The HQLA 
comprised primarily “Level 1” assets which represent cash and reserve / excess balances with 
the Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK).  The cash-outflows were primarily driven by unsecured 
wholesale funding and inter-bank borrowings. The unsecured wholesale funding constituted 
68% of the total weighted cash-outflows.  Retail deposits (including deposits from small-sized 
business customers) contributed 20% of the total weighted cash-outflows.  Consistent HQLA 
in the form of CBK deposits was the main driver of a strong HQLA during the reporting period. 

The average LCR (All currencies) increased in the current quarter to 166.15% from 152.76% in 
the previous quarter mainly due to minor decrease in net cash outflow and marginal increase 
in HQLA.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio
For the quarter ended 31 December 2017
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The following table sets forth the average (simple) for the quarter ending on 31.12.2017 for all 
business days of the reporting period. 

KD 000’s

S.No Description

 Value Before
 Applying

 Flow Rates
(average) **

 Value After
 Applying

 Flow Rates
(Average) **

High-Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA)
1 Total HQLA (before adjustments) 346,254

Cash Outflows
2 Retail deposits and small business 364,460 60,779

3     *  Stable deposits - -

4     *  Less stable deposits 364,460 60,779

5
 Deposit, investment accounts and unsecured wholesale
funding excluding the deposits of small business customers:

332,073 206,416

6 *  Operational deposits - -

7 *  Non-operational deposits (other unsecured commitments) 332,073 206,416

8 Secured Funding -

9 Other cash outflows, including: 221,861 21,995

10 * Resulting from Shari’a compliant hedging contracts - -

11
 * Resulting from assets-backed Sukuk  and other structured
funding instruments

- -

12 * Binding credit and liquidity facilities 221,861 21,995

13 Other contingent funding obligations 312,309 15,615

14 Other contractual cash outflows obligations - -

15 Total Cash Outflows 304,805

Cash Inflows
16 Secured lending transactions - -

17  Inflows from the performing exposures (as per the 140,394 96,407

18 Other cash Inflows - -

19 Total Cash Inflows 140,394 96,407

LCR  Total Adjusted
Value

20 Total HQLA (after adjustments) 346,254

21 Net Cash Outflows 208,398

22 LCR 166.15%

** Simple Average for all business days of the reporting period.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio
For the quarter ended 31 December 2017






